Copyright

by

Evandro R. Winkelmann

2014

The Dissertation Committee for Evandro Reinoldo Winkelmann certifies that this is the approved version of the following dissertation:

USING THE SINGLE-CYCLE FLAVIVIRUS PARTICLE REPLIVAX TO STUDY FLAVIVIRUS REPLICATION AND IMMUNE RESPONSE

Committee:

Gregg N. Milligan, Ph.D., Supervisor

A. Paige Adams, D.V.M., Ph.D.

Nigel Bourne, Ph.D.

Donald H. Bouyer, Ph.D.

Peter W. Mason, Ph.D.

David W. Niesel, Ph.D.

Dean, Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences

USING THE SINGLE-CYCLE FLAVIVIRUS PARTICLE REPLIVAX TO STUDY FLAVIVIRUS REPLICATION AND IMMUNE RESPONSE

by

Evandro Reinoldo Winkelmann, D.V.M., M.Sc.

Dissertation

Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of The University of Texas Medical Branch in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

The University of Texas Medical Branch May, 2014

Dedication

To my wife Sandra who always has given me strength, support and love. To my family and friend who have encouraged me to pursue my dreams.

Acknowledgements

There are numerous individuals who in a way or another contributed for the completion of my dissertation. To all of them, I am very grateful for their support, incentive and for believe in my potential. I am grateful to UTMB for providing an excellent environment of research and education, as well funding opportunities through McLaughlin and SCVD fellowships. To all faculty members, researchers, post-docs, staffs and fellow graduate students who were part of my education and research.

I am very thankful to my committee members, Drs. Paige Adams, Nigel Bourne, Donald Bouyer and Peter Mason, for all the scientific and professional insights during the development of my project, as well the advices given to me regarding my career.

To the Mason lab which was my first "home" here at UTMB. I am very grateful to Peter for his leadership and to all members of his lab for sharing experiences that were extremely valuable for my graduate work. To Nigel who also helped me before and during my graduate training. To the entire MMNP 3rd floor personal for providing a friendly environment in all these years.

To my mentor Gregg Milligan, for his guidance and support during my training, and to past and current members of his lab who helped me, in special Jingya and Summer for the exhausting lab hours spent together during my experiments. To all my friends, especially my Brazilian friends who make me feel close to home. To all my family, especially my Mom and Dad that besides being far from here, always were supportive and worried about my education. Last but not least, to my wife Sandra for sharing this passage in our life always with incentive, strength and care. I think I won't have achieved my objectives without her support.

USING THE SINGLE-CYCLE FLAVIVIRUS PARTICLE REPLIVAX TO STUDY FLAVIVIRUS REPLICATION AND IMMUNE RESPONSE

Publication No._____

Evandro Reinoldo Winkelmann, Ph.D. The University of Texas Medical Branch, 2014

Supervisor: Gregg N. Milligan

RepliVAX is a novel single-cycle flavivirus (SCFV) vaccine platform, which contains a deletion in the capsid (C) gene of West Nile virus (WNV) that prevents the formation of infectious particles, unless the C gene is trans-complemented by a WNV C-expressing cell line. RepliVAX immunization results in a single round of infection, where the replication of genome leads to the production of subviral particles (SVP) and NS1 antigens that are highly immunogenic and induce an antiviral immune response without causing disease. The overall goal of this dissertation was to understand the interaction of RepliVAX with target cells, innate immune cells, and adaptive immune cells. The first studies investigated the properties of adaptive mutations acquired during the development of RepliVAX D2, which is a chimeric SCFV vaccine containing the dengue virus 2 (DENV2) prM/E genes in place of the corresponding WNV genes. It was demonstrated that mutations in the DENV prM/E region increased the specific infectivity of the chimeric virus particles. Also, it was shown that mutations in the WNV NS2A/NS3

region independently improved the encapsidation of virions without altering genome replication, indicating a functional interaction of structural and nonstructural flavivirus proteins to optimize the particle assembly/release of SCFV particles.

As RepliVAX mimics the infection of the wild type virus, inducing innate and adaptive immune responses, RepliVAX WN was utilized as a tool to further investigate different aspects of WNV immunity. The role of cellular innate immunity examined by macrophage depletion studies demonstrated that macrophages limit the initial dissemination of SCFV particles from the site of inoculation. Additionally, macrophages were not essential for activation of adaptive immune response, since equivalent CD8⁺ T cell response were found in depleted and non-depleted mice. This function was probably provided by dendritic cells (DC) and two subsets of DC were identified that stimulated WNV-specific T cell response. Finally, the role of type I interferon (IFN) was evaluated during SCFV immunization. It was shown that type I IFN response controls the early viral gene expression and consequently viral antigen production. However, the type I IFN did not affect the magnitude of the adaptive immune response, but did modulate effector cytokine production.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Figures	xiii
List of Abbreviations	xvii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
Family <i>Flaviviridae</i>	1
Genus Flavivirus	2
Genome organization	4
The flavivirus virion	5
Flavivirus proteins	6
Structural proteins	6
Nonstructural proteins	8
Flavivirus replication life cycle	12
West Nile virus	16
WNV classification	
WNV transmission	19
WNV pathogenesis	22
Animal models for WNV disease	25
Immune responses to WNV infection	27
Recognition of WNV by the host innate immune system	27
Type I IFN response	31
Cellular innate immunity against WNV	
Adaptive immune response against WNV	
Humoral response	
T lymphocyte response	

WNV vaccines	41
CHAPTER 2: Analyses of mutations selected by passaging a chimeric single-cycle flavivirus vaccine candidate identifies mutations that alter infectivity and reveal an interaction between the structural proteins and the nonstructura glycoprotein NS1	; 1 1 45
Introduction	45
Materials and methods	48
Cells	48
Plasmid construction	49
Production of packaging cell lines	50
Production of viral replicon particles (VRPs) and RepliVAX derivatives	50
VRP and RepliVAX titrations	51
VRP and RepliVAX growth curves	51
Specific infectivity studies	52
Western blot analyses of NS1	53
VRP focus-formation assay	54
Luciferase assay	54
Statistical analyses	55
Results	55
Mutations in DENV prM/E increase growth and alter specific infectivity	55
NS2A and NS3 mutations previously selected in DENV2/WNV chimeras improve VRP growth when packaged in DENV2 envelopes	58
NS2A ^{S9F} mutation alters the production of a higher molecular weight form of NS1	61
Mutation of the ribosome slip site in NS2A enhances packaging of WN replicons in DENV2 coats and eliminates production of NS1'	62

Discussion	.67
CHAPTER 3: Subcapsular sinus macrophages limit dissemination of West Nile virus particles after inoculation but are not essential for the development of West Nile virus-specific T cell responses	.72
Introduction	70
Introduction	12
Materials and methods	75
Mice	.75
Cells	75
Production of RepliVAX WN and related WNV-SCFV particles	76
Depletion of macrophages by injection of clodronate liposomes	76
In vivo imaging	77
Interferon and cytokine detection	78
Enzyme-linked immunospot assay (ELISPOT)	78
Intracellular cytokine staining	79
Antigen presentation by DC subsets isolated from RepliVAX WN infected mice	.79
In vitro studies using bone marrow-derived DC (BM-DC) and BM- macrophages (BM-MØ)	.80
Infection of BM-DC and BM-MØ and co-culture with CD8 ⁺ T cells	81
Statistical analyses	81
Results	.81
SCS macrophages limit SCFV dissemination and SCFV gene expression	81
Higher serum IFN-α level in macrophage-depleted mice	88
SCS macrophages are not required to initiate a WNV-specific CD8 ⁺ T-cell response	.91
Influence of TLR3- and MyD88-dependent signaling pathways in effective DC APC function for initiation of WNV-specific T cell response	.96

Discussion	98
CHAPTER 4: Intrinsic adjuvanting of a novel single-cycle flavivirus vaccine in the absence of type I IFN receptor signaling	e 103
Introduction	103
Materials and methods	104
Viruses, SCFVs, and WNV Antigen (Ag)	104
Mice	105
Immunization of mice with RepliVAX WN	105
WNV-specific Ab detection	105
Interferon and cytokine detection	106
RT-PCR analyses	106
Enzyme-linked immunospot assay (ELISPOT)	107
In vivo cytotoxic T lymphocyte assay	107
Intracellular cytokine staining	108
In vivo imaging (IVIS)	108
Statistical analyses	109
Results	109
Type I IFN and cytokine responses to RepliVAX WN	109
Type I IFN responses limit SCFV gene expression	112
Type I IFN receptor signaling influences development of adaptive immunity to RepliVAX WN	114
Cell-mediated immune responses to RepliVAX WN in the absence of type I IFN receptor signaling	116
Discussion	122
CHAPTER 5: Conclusions and Future Directions	129
Adaptive mutations in RepliVAX D2	130
Macrophages and dendritic cells in WNV infection	133
Type I IFN response during SCFV immunization	136

References	
Vito	177
v Ita	

List of Figures

Figure 1.1:	Classification of flaviviruses	3
Figure 1.2:	Flavivirus protein expression and processing	5
Figure 1.3:	Flavivirus virion structure	6
Figure 1.4:	Flavivirus life cycle	14
Figure 1.5:	Incidence of WNV disease in the United States from 1999 to 2012	17
Figure 1.6:	WNV disease cases in the United States from 1999 to 2012	18
Figure 1.7:	Transmission cycle of WNV	20
Figure 1.8:	Innate immune response to WNV	31
Figure 2.1:	Representation of semi-quantitative PCR (sqPCR) method used for specific infectivity studies	53
Figure 2.2:	Schematic representation of the packaging cell constructs	56
Figure 2.3:	Specific infectivities of VRPs created by packaging a WNV-derived replicon (pWNR C-hFLuc2A NS1-5-encoding FLUC)	57
Figure 2.4:	NS2A ^{S9F} and NS3 ^{R516K} mutations do not significantly improve the growth of RepliVAX derivatives carrying the WNV prM/E genes	59
Figure 2.5:	Schematic representation of derivatives of WNV replicons carrying mutations in NS2A and NS3	60

Figure 2.6:	NS2A ^{S9F} and NS3 ^{R516K} improve growth of WNV VRPs when	
	transpackaged in DENV coats	61
Figure 2.7:	Effect of NS2A ^{S9F} mutation on synthesis of NS1'	62
Figure 2.8:	Introduction of silent mutations	62
Figure 2.9:	Demonstration that ablation of ribosomal frame-shifting in NS2A enhances trans-encapsidation of WNV replicons and eliminates production of NS1'	63
Figure 2.10:	Specific infectivities and E protein expression	65
Figure 2.11:	Comparison of foci sizes of VRPs harboring the WT replicon genome, or genomes encoding the NS2A ^{F9F} , NS2A ^{F9F} NS3 ^{R516K} or NS3 ^{R516K} mutations on BHK(VEErep/WNVC*-E/Pac) cells expressing the WNV C-prM-E proteins	66
Figure 2.12:	Replication of VRPs harboring the WT replicon genome, or genomes encoding the NS2A ^{F9F} , NS2A ^{F9F} NS3 ^{R516K} or NS3 ^{R516K} mutations on BHK cells.	67
Figure 3.1:	Schematic representation of the single-cycle flavivirus (SCFV) genomes	76
Figure 3.2:	Macrophage depletion after subcutaneous FP injection of CCL	83
Figure 3.3:	Role of macrophages in limiting the dissemination of SCFV	85
Figure 3.4:	Magnitude of SCFV gene expression in vivo in SCS macrophage- depleted and control-treated B6 mice	87

Figure 3.5:	Serum levels of IFN- α in SCS macrophage-depleted and control-
	treated B6 mice
Figure 3.6:	Serum levels of selected cytokines and chemokines in SCS
	macrophage-depleted and control-treated B6 mice
Figure 3.7:	SCS macrophages present at the regional site of infection are not
	required to promote the development of WNV-specific $CD8^+$ T cell
	response
Figure 3.8:	Ability of macrophages and dendritic cells to stimulate CD8 ⁺ T cell
	proliferation
Figure 3.9:	Cytokine production by WNV-specific CD8 ⁺ T lymphocytes is not
	affected by depletion of SCS macrophages
Figure 3.10:	Percentage of CD8 ⁺ T cell proliferation upon stimulation with BM-
C	derived DCs infected with gB/OVA RepliVAX WN97
Figure 3.11.	Expression of activation/maturation and co-stimulatory markers in
1 iguie 5.11.	BM-DCs
D ' 41	
Figure 4.1:	IF N- α and chemokine responses to ReplivAX WN immunization
Figure 4.2:	Relative cytokine expression in draining LN following RepliVAX
	WN immunization113
Figure 4.3:	Magnitude of SCFV gene expression in vivo in B6 and IFNAR ^{-/-}
	mice inoculated with FLUC-SCFV114

Figure 4.4:	Effect of type I IFN receptor signaling on WNV-specific Ab
	responses following immunization with RepliVAX WN116
Figure 4.5:	Type I IFN receptor signaling is not required for the intrinsic
	adjuvanting of T cell responses against RepliVAX WN118
Figure 4.6:	Cytokine production by WNV NS4B-specific CD8 ⁺ T cells
	following RepliVAX immunization of B6 and IFNAR ^{-/-} mice121
Figure 4.7:	CD8^+ and CD4^+ memory T cell response in B6 and $\text{IFNAR}^{-/-}$ mice 8
	weeks following RepliVAX WN immunization122

List of Abbreviations

aa	Amino acid
AAALAC	Association for assessment and accreditation of laboratory animal
	care
Ab	Antibody
ALFV	Alfuy virus
AnchC	Anchor of C
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
APC	Antigen-presenting cell
APO-1	Apoptosis antigen 1
ASC	Apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing CARD
AUG	Methionine (start codon)
B6	C57BL/6J (mice strain)
BBB	Blood-brain barrier
BDV	Border disease virus
BHK	Baby hamster kidney (cell line)
BiP	Binding immunoglobulin protein
BM-DC	Bone marrow-derived dendritic cell
BM-MØ	Bone marrow-derived macrophage
BVDV	Bovine viral diarrhea virus
С	Capsid (flavivirus-encoded protein)
C-terminal	Carboxy-terminus, carboxy-terminal
CARD	Caspase activation and recruitment domain
CARDIF	CARD adapter inducing interferon-β
CCL	Clodronate-containing liposomes
CCL	Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand
CCR	C-C chemokine receptor
CD	Cluster of differentiation, cluster of designation
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
CMC	Carboxymethyl cellulose
CNS	Central nervous system
CPCV	Cacipacore virus
Cryo-EM	Cryo-electron microscopy
CFSE	Carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester
CSFV	Classical swine fever vírus
CTL	Cytotoxic T Lympocyte
CTLA4	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen 4
CXCL	Chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand
DAMP	Danger-associated molecular pattern
DC	Dendritic cell
DC-SIGN	Dendritic cell-specific intercellular adhesion molecule-3-grabbing
	non-integrin

DC-SIGNR	Dendritic cell-specific intercellular adhesion molecule-3-grabbing
DENV	Dengue virus
DHF	Dengue hemorrhagic fever
DMFM	Dulbecco's modified Fagle's medium
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DR	Death recentor
dsRNA	Double-stranded RNA
F	Envelope (flavivirus-encoded protein)
F	Glutamic acid (amino acid)
eIF	Fukarvotic initiation factor
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
ELISPOT	Enzyme-linked immunospot assay
ER	Endonlamatic reticulum
F	Phenylalanine (amino acid)
Fas	Fas cell surface death receptor
FasL	Fas ligand
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FcvR	Fragment crystallizable gamma receptor
FLUC	Firefly luciferase
FP	Footpad
G	Glycine (amino acid)
GAG	Glycosaminoglycans
gB	Glycoprotein B (herpesvirus-encoded protein)
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor
GRP78	Glucose-regulated protein 78
GTP	Guanosine triphosphate
HBSS	Hank's balanced salt solution
HCV	Hepatatis C virus
HEL	Helicase
HEPES	4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid
Нрі	Hours post infection
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
HS	Heparan sulfate
i.p.	Intraperitoneal
i.v.	Intravenous
IFIT	Interferon-induced protein with tetratricopeptide repeats
IFITM	Interferon-induced transmembrane protein
IFN	Interferon
IFNAR	IFN-alpha/beta receptor
IFN-α	IFN-alpha
IFN-β	IFN-beta
IFN-γ	IFN-gamma
IgG	Immunoglobulin G
IgM	Immunoglobulin M
IHC	Immunohistochemistry

IL	Interleukin
ingLN	Inguinal lymph node
INV	Inactivated vaccine
IPS-1	Interferon promoter stimulator-1
IRES	Internal ribosome entry site
IRF	Interferon regulatory factor
ISG	Interferon-stimulated gene
ISGF	Interferon-stimulated gene factor
ISRE	Interferon-stimulated response element
IU	Infectious units
IVIS	In vivo imaging system
JAK	Janus kinase
JE	Japanese encephalitis
JEV	Japanese encephalitis virus
Κ	Lysine (amino acid)
kDa	Kilodaltons
kg	kilogram
KÕ	Knockout
KOUV	Koutango virus
KUNV	Kunjin virus
LAG3	Lymphocyte-activation gene 3
LAV	Live-attenuated vaccine
LGP2	Laboratory of genetics and physiology 2 (RLR family)
LN	Lymph node
М	Membrane (flavivirus-encoded protein)
MAVS	Mitochondrial antiviral-signaling protein
MCP-1	Monocyte chemotactic protein-1
MDA5	Melanoma differentiation-associated protein 5
mDC	Myeloid dendritic cell
MEM	Minimal essential medium
mg	Milligram
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
M-CFS	Macrophage colony-stimulating factor
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
ml	milliliters
MOI	Multiplicity of infection
mRNA	Messenger RNA
MTase	Methyltransferase
MVEV	Murray Valley encephalitis virus
MvD88	Myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88
N-terminal	Amino-terminus, amino-terminal
NBCS	New born calf serum
NC	Nucleocapsid
NCR	Noncoding region
NF-κB	Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
NGC	New Guinea-C

NHP	Non-human primates
NK	Natural killer
NLR	NOD-like receptors
nm	Nanometers
NO	Nitric oxide
NOD	Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain
NS	Nonstructural (flavivirus-encoded protein)
NTPase	Nucleoside triphosphatase
OAS	2'5'-oligoadenylate synthetase
OD	Optical density
ORF	Open reading frame
OVA	Ovalbumin
PAMP	Pathogen-associated molecular pattern
PBSL	Phosphate buffered saline-loaded liposomes
PD-1	Programmed death 1
pDC	Plasmacytoid dendritic cell
PFU	Plaque-forming units
pН	Potential of hydrogen
PKR	Protein kinase
pLN	Popliteal lymph node
PMN	Polymorphonuclear leukocyte
prM	Precursor to M (flavivirus-encoded protein)
PROT	Protease
PRR	Pattern recognition receptor
R	Arginine (amino acid)
RANTES	Regulated on activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted
RBC	Red blood cell
RdRp	RNA-dependent RNA polymerase
RF	Replicative form
RI	Replicative intermediate
RIG-I	Retinoic acid-inducible gene I
RLR	RIG-I-like receptor
RLU	Relative luciferase units
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RNAi	RNA interference
ROI	Region of interest
RPMI	Roswell Park Memorial Institute medium
RSAD2	Radical S-adenosyl methionine domain containing 2 (Viperin)
RTPase	RNA triphosphatase
S	Serine (amino acid)
S.C.	Subcutaneous
SCFV	Single-cycle flavivirus
SCS	Subcapsular sinus
SHA	Slowly sedimenting hemagglutinin
SLEV	St. Louis encephalitis virus
sqPCR	semiquantitative polymerase chain reaction
-	

ssRNA	Single-stranded RNA
STAT	Signal transducer and activator of transcription
SVP	Subviral particles
Т	Threonine (amino acid)
TBE	Tick-borne encephalitis
TBEV	Tick-borne encephalitis virus
TCR	T cell receptor
TGN	Trans-Golgi network
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
TRAIL	Tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand
trC	Truncated capsid
trE	Truncated envelope
TRIF	Toll/IL1 receptor domain-containing adaptor inducing IFN
TYK2	Tyrosine kinase 2
USA	United States of America
USUV	Usutu virus
UTMB	University of Texas Medical Branch
UTR	Untranslated region
V	Valine (amino acid)
VEErep	Venezuelan equine encephalitis virus replicon
VISA	Virus-induced signaling adapter
VRP	Viral replicon particles
VSV	Vesicular stomatitis virus
WHO	World Health Organization
WNE	West Nile encephalitis
WNF	West Nile fever
WNND	West Nile neurological disease
WNV	West Nile virus
WT	Wild type
YAOV	Yaounde virus
YF	Yellow fever
YFV	Yellow fever virus

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Family Flaviviridae

The family *Flaviviridae* is segregated into three genera: *Flavivirus*, *Pestivirus*, and Hepacivirus. There are over 70 viruses classified into this family, and additionally two more unclassified viruses, GB-A and GB-C, which share similarities with hepatitis C virus (HCV) but are genetically distinct (Lindenbach et al., 2007). Viruses belonging to this family are responsible for important human and animal diseases. Within the genus *Flavivirus* are several viruses such as dengue virus (DENV), Japanese encephalitis virus (JEV), yellow fever virus (YFV) and West Nile virus (WNV) that are responsible for a broad range of clinical manifestations in humans, including encephalitis and hemorrhagic fevers. Most of these viruses are transmitted by arthropod vectors such as mosquitoes and ticks (Lindenbach et al., 2007). In the second genus, the Pestivirus, are included viruses that infect cattle, sheep, goats, pigs and also other wild species such as giraffes (Peterhans and Schweizer, 2010). There are three viruses in this genus: the classical swine fever virus (CSFV), border disease virus (BDV) and bovine viral diarrhea virus (BVDV). In most of the cases they cause unapparent rather than more severe disease, although the economic loss can be significant due to decreased productivity and commercial restrictions. The diseases are usually characterized by a transient infection where the animals completely eliminate the virus after a few weeks of the infection or in special cases a persistent infection can occur where the host will carry and continuously transmit the virus. The persistent infection is an important transmission source that keeps the virus being spread among animals as a result of close contact (Houe, 1999; Lindenbach et al., 2007). In the third genus, the *Hepacivirus*, the hepatitis C virus (HCV) is the prototype member of this genus, which now also includes the GB virus B. HCV is hepatotropic and

usually causes persistent infections characterized by acute to chronic hepatitis and cirrhosis. HCV has also been linked to the development of hepatocellular carcinoma (Saito, et al., 1990; Lindenbach et al., 2007). The transmission typically occurs through blood transfusion and unsafe use of therapeutic or illegal drugs injection. Although the tools for HCV detection have been improved, it still a major public health concern, with a prevalence of 2.2% worldwide, which correspond to more than 170 million people infected with the virus (Lemon et al., 2007).

Members of the family *Flaviviridae* share many characteristics such as morphology, genome organization and replication. The virions are spherical, with a size of approximately 40-60 nm in diameter and contain a single-stranded, positive-sense RNA genome encoding a long single open reading frame (ORF). As typical for RNA viruses, genome replication occurs in the cytoplasm of the infected cell where new particles are assembled and released to the extracellular compartment. Despite shared similarities among members of *Flaviviridae* family, they are distinct in several aspects of biological properties and epidemiological characteristics (Lindenbach et al., 2007).

GENUS FLAVIVIRUS

The genus *Flavivirus* (from Latin "flavus" which means "yellow" in reference for the jaundice caused by the YFV) contains the largest number of viruses within the *Flaviviridae* family. Differently from the *Hepacivirus* and *Pestivirus* genera, most of the flaviviruses are associated with an arthropod vector, which is responsible for the transmission of the virus, and for this reason are also referred as arboviruses, which includes viruses from other families as well. Based on serological cross-reactivity, they are classified into different antigenic complexes, although some of the flaviviruses members, including the prototype virus, YFV, are not grouped in any of the complexes (Calisher et al., 1989). Also, based on molecular phylogenetics, they are subdivided into clusters, clades and species (Kuno et al., 1998; Lindenbach et al., 2007) (Fig. 1.1).



Figure 1.1. Classification of flaviviruses. Representation of the relationships of selected flaviviruses showing the phylogenetical (clades and clusters) and serological (serocomplexes) classification. (Reprinted with permission from Mukhopadhyay et al., 2005. A structural perspective of the flavivirus life cycle. Nat Rev Microbiol, 3:13-22).

Flaviviruses are spread all over the world except Antarctica, and they potentially affect more than a half of the world's population. DENV infections alone are estimated at 50-100 million cases annually and up to 3 billion people living in tropical and subtropical areas are at risk for DENV infection (Halstead 2007; WHO 2012). Yellow fever also has a great impact, and although a vaccine is available, it is estimated 200,000 cases and 30,000 deaths occur per year especially in tropical areas of Latin America and Africa (WHO, 2013). Other diseases, such as Japanese encephalitis (estimated 60,000-70,000 cases annually in endemic areas of Southern Asia and Western Pacific) (Campbell et al., 2011) and West Nile encephalitis (discussed later in this chapter) also represent important diseases caused by flaviviruses and demonstrate the importance and need to study different aspects of these pathogens with the objective to elucidate the mechanisms of their life cycle and survival against natural defenses of their host.

Genome organization

Flaviviruses contain a single-stranded, positive sense RNA genome of approximately 11 kb in length. As positive polarity, the viral genome is infectious by itself (Peleg, 1969), serving as mRNA for the translation of the encoded viral proteins. Unlike the pestiviruses and hepaciviruses, which contain an internal ribosome entry site (IRES), flaviviruses contain a 5' methylated cap (m⁷GpppAmpN₂) involved in the initiation of the translation process (Wengler et al., 1978; Cleaves and Dubin, 1979). Another peculiarity of this genome, which diverges from cellular mRNAs, is the absence of polyadenylated tail at the 3' end (Wengler et al., 1978).

The flavivirus genome encodes a single ORF flanked by 5'- and 3'-noncoding regions (NCR). The NCRs originate RNA secondary structures that have as major function the translation and replication of the genome (Cahour et al., 1995; Deas et al., 2005; Holden et al., 2006). The ORF encodes three structural proteins followed by seven nonstructural (NS) proteins (Rice et al., 1985) that are translated as a single polyprotein and cleaved co- and post-translationally by host signal peptidases, virus-encoded serine protease or unknown enzyme (Fig. 1.2). The structural proteins (capsid, C; membrane, M, which is expressed as the precursor to M, prM; and envelope, E) constitute the virion and are necessary for packaging the viral RNA. The NS proteins (NS1, NS2A, NS3, NS4A, NS4B and NS5) are mainly involved in genome replication and translation process, although some of them are also involved in modulation of the host immune response (Lindenbach et al., 2007).



Figure 1.2: Flavivirus protein expression and processing. The genome containing the structural and nonstructural genes is translated as a single polyprotein. After translation, the polyprotein is cleaved by host signal peptidases (♦), virus-encoded serine protease (↓), unknown enzyme (?) or furin (▼) in the indicated protein junctions. (Reprinted with permission from Lindenbach and Rice, 2003. Molecular biology of flaviviruses. Adv Virus Res, 59:23-61).

The flavivirus virion

The flavivirus particles are small, approximately 50 nm in diameter (mature particles), spherical in shape and contain an electron-dense core (nucleocapsid) surrounded by a lipid envelope (Murphy, 1980) where the M and E proteins are inserted (Fig. 1.3). The core is composed of the C protein, which is associated with the viral RNA genome. The structural models derived from cryoelectron microscopy images indicate that there are 90 E protein dimers that lie parallel to the lipid bilayer in a herringbone pattern giving a smooth outer surface appearance with icosahedral symmetry (Rey et al., 1995; Kuhn et al., 2002). The M protein is arranged within the E dimers, near to the fusogenic domain. The C protein surrounding the RNA genome is present below the lipid bilayer and it has a less organized pattern (Kuhn et al., 2002). Flavivirus-infected cells also release smaller (approximately 14 nm), noninfectious particles containing the M and E protein, but lacking the nucleocapsid containing the viral genome (Smith et al., 1970). These particles were initially termed as slowly sedimenting hemagglutinin (SHA) because their property to agglutinate red blood cells, and more recently described as

subviral particles (SVP), which can be obtained by recombinant expression of prM and E proteins by themselves (Schalich et al., 1996; Konishi et al., 2001; Lorenz et al., 2003).



Figure 1.3: Flavivirus virion structure. Cryo-electron microscopy (cryo-EM) of WNV. (A) Surface shaded view showing a smooth surface of the virion containing an icosahedral symmetry (one unit represented by the triangle). (B) Cross section of the virion showing the concentric layers of density. (C) Structure showing the arrangement of E protein dimers on the virus surface. (D) Electron density maps between DENV (positive density in black) and WNV (negative density in white). Three sets of E protein dimers are highlighted in blue. (From Mukhopadhyay et al., 2003. Structure of West Nile virus. Science, 302:248. Reprinted with permission from AAAS).

Flavivirus Proteins

Structural proteins

The first three proteins, encoded by the 5' proximal 1/3 of the viral genome, correspond to the structural proteins C, pM/M and E. The C protein has a highly basic nature, which facilitates the association of the RNA genome. Multiple copies of C surround a single copy of the viral genome to form the nucleocapsid (NC) (Kuhn et al., 2002). The positive charged amino acids are clustered at both ends of the protein

(Khromykh and Westaway, 1996) and have a short internal hydrophobic region that is believed to be responsible for the association with the viral envelope (Markoff et al., 1997; Ma et al., 2004). The translated C protein also contains a carboxy (C)-terminal hydrophobic anchor (anchC) that is cleaved by the viral serine protease NS2B/NS3 (described later) to generate the mature form of the C protein with a molecular size of approximately 11 kilodaltons (kDa) (Lobigs, 1993; Amberg et al., 1994; Yamshchikov and Compans, 1994). AnchC function as a signal peptide for translocation of prM into the endoplasmatic reticulum (ER).

The second protein coded by the viral genome, with a size of approximately 26 kDa, is the prM glycoprotein. Upon translocation of prM into the ER, the C-terminal hydrophobic domain of C (anchC) is cleaved by the host signal peptidase. This cleavage only occurs after protein C been cleaved off the anchC at the cytosolic side of the ER membrane by the viral serine protease and these consecutive events of C and prM cleavage have been proposed to be a prerequisite for the initiation of virion assembly (Yamshchikov and Compans, 1994; Stocks and Lobigs, 1998; Amberg and Rice, 1999; Lobigs and Lee, 2004). At the amino terminal portion of prM there are one to three Nlinked glycosylation sites and a sequence of six cysteines linked by disulfide bridges (Nowak et al., 1989; Chambers et al., 1990a). The prM protein is rapidly folded and acts as a chaperone for the correct folding of E protein (Konishi and Mason, 1993; Lorenz et al., 2002). prM also protects the E protein by inhibiting premature fusion of the newly generated virions with cellular membranes before releasing from the infected cell (Guirakhoo et al., 1992; Yu et al., 2008a). During the maturation of the particles, which occurs through the trans-Golgi network (TGN), the pr peptide is cleaved from prM by furin (a host encoded protease) (Stadler et al., 1997) and M remains as a transmembrane protein. Prevention of furin cleavage achieved for instance by the presence of protease inhibitors or acidotropic reagents results in the production of immature particles with lower infectivity (Stadler et al., 1997).

The third structural protein translated by flaviviruses is the E glycoprotein. This 53 kDa protein is the major constituent of the virion surface and is involved in the binding and fusion with membranes of the target cells. E protein interacts with the ER membrane by two transmembrane segments. There are 12 conserved cysteines that form disulfide bonds (Nowak and Wengler, 1987) and depending on the flaviviruses and their strains the presence of N-glycosylations sites can occur (Winkler et al., 1987). Although the exact role of these glycosylated sites is not determined, studies have demonstrated their association with the cell tropism and virulence of the strains (Shirato et al., 2004; Beasley et al., 2005). Cleavage of the N-terminal portion of E protein also is mediated by the host signal peptidase at the ER lumen (Nowak et al., 1989).

The crystal structure of the E protein revealed the presence of three domains. Domain I (DI) is the central domain; DII is the dimerization domain, which contains the fusion peptide; and DIII, which is an immunoglobulin-like domain believed to be the receptor-binding region to the target cell (Rey et al., 1995; Modis et al., 2003; Zhang et al., 2004). After protein synthesis and processing, E protein undergoes conformational changes that are pH dependent, starting as trimeric prM/E heterodimers in the ER and ending as E protein dimers after furin cleavage of pr peptide in the TGN and subsequent release to the extracellular milieu (Perera and Kuhn et al., 2008).

Nonstructural proteins

The flavivirus NS proteins are not only involved in the genome replication and polyprotein processing, but also have distinct functions on cellular processes and immune modulation. The first NS protein, NS1, has a molecular weight of approximately 46 kDa and was originally described as a soluble complement fixing antigen present in the serum and brain extracts of DENV-infected mice (Brandt et al., 1970a; Brandt et al., 1970b). Upon translocation to the ER, NS1 is cleaved from E by the host signal peptidase (cited above) and at the NS1/2A junction by an unknown ER-resident host cell protease (Falgout and Markoff, 1995). Two or three N-linked glycosylation sites can be added to

the protein, which also contains 12 cysteines linked by disulfide bonds that are important for correct folding and functionality of NS1 (Mason et al., 1987; Leblois and Young, 1993; Blitvich et al., 2001; Wallis et al., 2004). After synthesis, the NS1 monomer which has hydrophilic characteristics, dimerizes and acquires hydrophobic properties, being found associated with cellular membranes (Winkler et al., 1988; Winkler et al., 1989). NS1 also can be found in vesicular compartments either intracellularly or at the cell surface or can be secreted from the infected cell (Smith and Wright, 1985; Westaway and Goodman, 1987; Winkler et al., 1988; Mason, 1989; Gutsche et al., 2011).

The exact functions of the distinct oligomeric forms of the NS1 protein are still not completely elucidated. The intracellular NS1 has been implicated as a critical cofactor for viral genome replication as it is co-localized with the double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) and additional components at the site of RNA replication (Mackenzie et al., 1996; Westaway et al., 1997; Khromykh et al., 2000). The NS1 protein associated with the cell surface as well as the secreted form can induce the production of a high concentration of circulating antibodies, especially in an anamnestic response. Several studies have associated both the protein and the anti-NS1 antibodies with either protection or potentially increased pathogenesis (Schlesinger et al., 1987; Henchal et al., 1988; Falgout et al., 1990; Avirutnan et al., 2006; Sun et al., 2007) that is mediated by interaction with distinct target cells or inhibition/activation of the production of host proteins. Although more detailed studies are necessary to determine the exact role of NS1 in disease pathogenesis, it has been considered a potential candidate for the development of new generation of vaccines for different flaviviruses (Krishna et al., 2009; Miller, 2010).

The next protein coded by the flavivirus genome is the NS2A. NS2A is a small hydrophobic protein of approximately 22 kDa. The protein is generated by cleavage of the amino terminal portion by an unknown ER-resident protease (Falgout and Markoff, 1995) and cleaved from NS2B by the serine protease at the cytoplasm. Several functions have been attributed to NS2A protein. It has a role in RNA replication, demonstrated by its co-localization with dsRNA, NS3 and NS5 present in the replication complex (Mackenzie et al., 1998), and particle assembly, demonstrated by mutational studies showing decreased production of infectious particles (Kummerer and Rice, 2002; Leung et al., 2008). NS2A has been shown to be involved in switching the process of replication and packaging of the RNA genome (Khromykh et al., 2001a). NS2A contributes to the production of a larger form of NS1 (NS1') (Mason, 1989) through a ribosomal frameshifting present in the amino-terminal portion of NS2A of encephalitic flaviviruses (Firth and Atkins, 2009; Melian et al., 2010). In addition, NS2A plays a role in the regulation of the host innate immune response such as type I interferon (IFN) inhibition (Munoz-Jordan et al., 2003; Liu et al., 2005; Liu et al., 2006) and dsRNA-activated protein kinase (PKR) blockage (Tu et al., 2012).

The next protein, NS2B, is also small (14 kDa) and interacts with the NS3 protein to function as a cofactor for the NS2B-NS3 serine protease (Chambers et al., 1991; Falgout et al., 1991; Arias et al., 1993). NS2B is cleaved from the polyprotein in both ends by the serine protease. It contains hydrophobic regions that are membraneassociated (Clum et al., 1997) and a 40-amino acid central hydrophilic domain that is associated with the serine protease activity (Erbel et al., 2006).

NS3 is a large (70 kDa) multifunctional protein involved in the cleavage of the polyprotein and RNA replication. The one-third amino-terminal region of NS3 contains the catalytic domain, which in association with NS2B forms the NS2B-NS3 serine protease complex (Bazan and Fletterick, 1989; Gorbalenya et al., 1989a; Chambers et al., 1990b) responsible for the cleavage of NS2A/2B, NS2B/3, NS3A/4A, NS4B/5 junctions, and additional sites within NS2A, NS4A and NS3 proteins (Fig. 1.2) (Lin et al., 1993; Amberg et al., 1994; Nestorowicz et al., 1994; Yamshchikov and Compans, 1994). The carboxy-terminal region of NS3 contains a RNA helicase domain (Gorbalenya et al., 1989b) with nucleoside triphosphatase (NTPase) function to properly unwind RNA

secondary structures and RNA duplexes during viral replication and synthesis of complementary RNA genome (Wengler and Wengler, 1991; Warrener et al., 1993; Li et al., 1999; Matusan et al., 2001). Additionally, this C-terminal region also has a RNA triphosphatase (RTPase) activity that is believed to be responsible for the dephosphorylation of the 5' end of the genome prior to cap addition (Wengler and Wengler, 1993). Besides the enzymatic activities, NS3 is necessary for efficient RNA packaging and plays a role in virus assembly (Liu et al., 2002; Pijlman et al., 2006; Patkar and Kuhn, 2008). NS3 also has been linked to the induction of apoptosis as demonstrated by studies using Langat, DENV-2 and WNV (Prikhod'ko et al., 2002; Shafee and AbuBakar, 2003; Ramanathan et al., 2006), and although caspases-8 have been implicated in this process, further studies are necessary to determine the role of NS3 in apoptosis induction.

NS4A and NS4B are small hydrophobic proteins with molecular weight of 16 and 27 kDa, respectively. NS4A colocalization with the replication complex suggests a role in RNA replication (Mackenzie et al., 1998). The C-terminal region of NS4A contains a signal peptide (2k) necessary for the translocation of NS4B to the ER lumen. This peptide is cleaved by the serine protease in the cytoplasm, allowing the subsequent cleavage of NS4B into the ER (Preugschat and Strauss, 1991; Lin et al., 1993). NS4B also is involved in RNA replication, as demonstrated by its interaction with NS3 and dsRNA in the replication complex (Westaway et al., 2002; Miller et al., 2006). Both NS4A and NS4B have been implicated in innate immune evasion mechanisms by suppressing type I IFN production or interfering in the signaling pathway (Munoz-Jordan et al., 2003; Munoz-Jordan et al., 2005; Evans and Seeger, 2007).

The final protein coded by the flavivirus genome is NS5. NS5 is a large (105 kDa) multifunctional protein with RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp) function that is important for RNA synthesis and methyltransferase (MTase) activity responsible for cap addition of the viral genome (Lindenbach et al., 2007). The MTase domain is located at

the N-terminal region and has the ability to link guanosine triphosphate (GTP) and promote biochemical methylation reactions during RNA cap formation (Egloff et al., 2002). The RdRp domain is located at the C terminal region and shares sequence homology with other positive-strand RNA viruses (Rice et al., 1985; Koonin and Dolja, 1993). The polymerase activity of this portion has been demonstrated by several studies (Tan et al., 1996; Ackermann and Padmanabhan, 2001; Guyatt et al, 2001) and mutations in NS5 confirmed its role in virus replication, where polymerase activity could be restored when NS5 was supplied in trans (Khromykh et al., 1998). Although NS5 is associated with NS3 (Kapoor et al., 1995; Johansson et al., 2001) and the 3'UTR of the viral RNA (Chen et al., 1997a), the presence of NS5 at the sites of viral synthesis, which is a requirement for RdRP function, still has to be demonstrated. Free forms of NS5 also have been found in the cytoplasm and in the nucleus, especially when phosphorylated (Buckley et al., 1992; Kapoor et al., 1995), providing evidence of additional interactions with host factors. Besides the enzymatic functions, NS5 is linked to the disruption of the IFN signaling, such as blocking of IFN-alpha/beta (IFN- α/β) and IFN-gamma (IFN- γ) receptors and phosphorylation of Janus kinases, and cytokine production (Best et al., 2005; Medin et al., 2005; Lin et al., 2006; Werme et al., 2008; Laurent-Rolle et al., 2010).

Flavivirus Replication Life Cycle

Flaviviruses can infect a wide range of mammalian, avian and insect cells. The entire replicative life cycle is summarized in Fig. 1.4. The first step of the viral infection is binding and entry into the target cells. Depending on the cell type and host species, flaviviruses use specific and non-specific receptors to attach and enter the cell (Lindenbach et al., 2007). The cellular receptors involved in this process are not completely characterized, but different surface molecules have been identified for different flaviviruses. A C-type lectin DC-SIGN (Dendritic cell-specific ICAM3-grabbing non-integrin), also known as CD209, has been identified in DC as an

attachment factor for DENV infection, showing DC-SIGN interaction with the viral E glycoprotein (Navarro-Sanchez et al., 2003; Tassaneetrithep et al., 2003). WNV also binds to a related lectin (DC-SIGNR or CD209L) with higher affinity (Davis et al., 2006a). DC-SIGN is expressed by DC and macrophage subpopulations (Soilleux et al., 2002), while DC-SIGNR is present on microvascular endothelial cells of different tissues such as lymph nodes and liver sinusoids (Bashirova et al., 2001; Pohlmann et al., 2001). Because flaviviruses can infect a wide range of cells, they probably use more than one receptor to attach to the cell. Other molecules also have been implicated in the flavivirus attachment process, such as the $\alpha_{\rm v}\beta_3$ integrin, the binding immunoglobulin protein (BiP) also known as glucose-regulated protein 78 (GRP78) and the CD14 or related molecules (Mukhopadhyay et al., 2005). Cells expressing immunoglobulin Fc receptors have been shown to be more permissive to infection when exposed to opsonized viral particles with immunoglobulins at sub-neutralizing concentration (Peiris and Porterfield, 1979). Additionally, highly sulfated glycosaminoglycans (GAG) such as heparan sulfate (HS) have been shown to be an important attachment factor for several flaviviruses (Chen et al., 1997b; Kroschewski et al., 2003; Thepparit et al., 2004).

Following the attachment of the virus particle presumably by E protein interaction with the cell surface, flaviviruses are internalized through clathrin-mediated endocytosis and transported to the endosome (Chu and Ng, 2004; van der Schaar et al., 2007; van der Schaar et al., 2008). The low pH of the endosome promotes conformational changes of E protein from homodimers to formation of trimers, resulting in fusion with the endosomal membrane and subsequent uncoating and release of the viral genome into the cytoplasm (Allison et al., 1995; Stiasny et al., 1996; Stiasny et al., 2001). Since the RNA genome is infectious, once it is released into the cytoplasm RNA translation can promptly start. Flaviviruses use the host cell machinery to translate their proteins primarily in a cap-dependent mechanism, which consists of ribosomal scanning and recognition of the AUG (methionine) start codon (Lindenbach et al., 2007). As described above, the translation of

the single ORF encoded by flaviviruses produces a large polyprotein that is localized to the ER membrane and cleaved to generate the structural and NS proteins necessary for virus replication and assembly of new particles.



Figure 1.4. Flavivirus life cycle. Flaviviruses enter the cell by receptor-mediated endocytosis. The low pH of endosomes promotes fusion and release of the RNA genome into the cytoplasm of the infected cell. Viral proteins are translated and processed by viral and cellular proteases. Newly synthesized viral genome is packaged into immature particles in the ER and transported through the secretory pathway. Mature infectious particles are released from the cell by exocytosis. (Reprinted with permission from Mukhopadhyay et al., 2005. A structural perspective of the flavivirus life cycle. Nat Rev Microbiol 3:13-22).

Replication of the RNA genome is localized into virus-induced membrane structures and requires the formation of a replication complex, which includes the viral RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (NS5) and accessory NS proteins, the viral RNA and possibly other host factors (Mackenzie, 2005; Miller and Krijnse-Locker, 2008). Initially,
a full-length negative-sense RNA is generated, which is subsequently used as a template for the synthesis of additional positive-sense RNA genome copies in a semiconservative and asymmetric manner (Chu and Westaway, 1985). During replication, three forms of viral RNA have been described, including the single-stranded positive-sense viral RNA, a double-stranded replicative form (RF) and a replicative intermediate (RI) containing RNA duplexes and nascent positive-sense RNA strands (Cleaves et al., 1981; Chu and Westaway, 1985).

The nascent genomic RNA interacts with the C protein to form the nucleocapsid. Nucleocapsids contain a single copy of the viral RNA associated with multiple copies of C protein. Immature particles are assembled when nucleocapsids bud into the ER lumen, acquiring a lipid envelope that contains the prM and E proteins (Wengler and Wengler, 1989). In a similar process, SVP lacking the viral nucleocapsid are also assembled and undertake the same modification as the immature viral particles. These immature, noninfectious particles contain heterodimers of prM and E that form trimeric spikes projected vertically on the virus surface (Zhang et al., 2003a,b; Li et al., 2008). As these particles are transported though the secretory pathway, they are exposed to low-pH environment, which triggers major conformational changes and E proteins assume a conformation similar to the mature virus (Yu et al., 2008a; Yu et al., 2009). In this conformation at low pH, the prM protein becomes accessible to furin cleavage (Li et al., 2008; Yu, et al., 2008a), which is abundant in the TGN (Molloy et al., 1994). After furin cleavage, E proteins form homodimers that are organized flat on the virus surface resulting in mature infectious particles (Rey et al., 1995; Kuhn et al., 2002). The cleaved pr peptides remain in complex with E protein over the fusion loop (Guirakhoo et al., 1992) inhibiting virusmembrane interaction to protect E protein from premature fusion with cell membranes in the secretory pathway until the release of the mature infectious particles to the extracellular milieu by exocytosis (Li et al., 2008; Yu et al., 2008a; Yu et al., 2009; Zheng et al., 2010).

West Nile virus

West Nile virus (WNV) is a neurotropic, mosquito-borne flavivirus that can cause disease in humans and animals including birds, horses and other vertebrate species. WNV has a global distribution and is endemic in several regions of the world. It was originally isolated from a patient with symptomatology of a febrile illness in the West Nile district of Northern Uganda in 1937 (Smithburn et al., 1940); however, the disease in humans started only to be characterized in more detail during outbreaks in the Mediterranean area in the early 1950s (Melnick et al., 1951; Bernkopf et al., 1953; Taylor et al., 1956; Murgue et al., 2001). In the following years, sporadic outbreaks occurred in Africa, the Middle East, southern Europe, southwestern Asia and Australia [Kunjin virus (KUNV)] (McIntosh et al., 1964; Panthier, 1968) and were primarily associated with mild febrile symptoms, which decreased the interest in WNV as an important agent causing human disease. This scenario changed around 1996, when large outbreaks associated with more severe and fatal neurologic disease started to occur in different locations such as Romania, Morocco, Tunisia, Italy, Russia, Israel and Greece (Hubalek and Halouzka, 1999; Platonov et al., 2001). In 1999 the virus was first detected in North America, associated with severe cases of human encephalitis in the area of New York City (Nash et al., 2001).

It remains unclear how WNV was introduced into North America, but the source of the virus was probably from the Middle East, as the genomic sequence of WNV isolates from the initial outbreak had a great homology with isolates from WNV cases in Israel and the patterns of disease were similar in both locations (Giladi et al., 2001). In the following years, the virus continued to spread throughout the USA, reaching all the mainland states (Fig. 1.5). From 1999 through 2012, 37,088 cases of human WNV disease were reported in the USA, resulting in 1,549 deaths. The largest epidemics happened in 2002-2003 and more recently in 2012, with nearly 300 human deaths registered in each of those years (Fig. 1.6) (Hayes and Gubler, 2006; CDC, 2013a). In Canada, WNV disease has been reported since 2002 (Drebot et al., 2003) and evidence of WNV circulation has been found in several countries of Latin America (Deardorff et al., 2006; Komar and Clark, 2006; Pupo et al., 2006; Beatty et al., 2007; Bosch et al., 2007; Diaz et al., 2008), although human disease is not normally seen in these areas.



Figure 1.5. Incidence of WNV disease in the United States from 1999 to 2012. Data represent the number of human neuroinvasive disease cases (e.g., meningitis, encephalitis, or acute flaccid paralysis) reported by state and local health departments to CDC's ArboNET surveillance system. (Figure courtesy of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention).



Figure 1.6. WNV disease cases in the United States from 1999 to 2012. Total number of neuroinvasive and non-neuroinvasive cases reported by state and local health departments to CDC's ArboNET surveillance system. (Source: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention).

WNV classification

Based on serologic reactivity, WNV is classified into the Japanese encephalitis virus complex, which includes JEV, Koutango virus (KOUV), Murray Valley encephalitis virus (MVEV), Alfuy virus (ALFV), St. Louis encephalitis virus (SLEV), Usutu virus (USUV), Yaounde virus (YAOV), and Cacipacore virus (CPCV) (Lindenbach et al., 2007). WNV is also classified according to nucleotide sequence data. Phylogenetic analyses of distinct WNV isolates collected since its first isolation from different parts of the world have subdivided them into two major lineages. The lineage I contains a diverse set of viruses isolated from Africa, India, Europe, the Middle East, Australia (KUNV), and from the Americas, which association with severe disease and mortality are common. Lineage II viruses, including the original isolate from 1937, are mostly present in Africa and are normally linked to asymptomatic or mild WNV disease (Lanciotti et al., 1999; Murgue et al., 2002).

In recent years, with the generation of large amounts of sequencing data, further division of WNV in additional lineages, clades and clusters has been proposed. According to this new classification, WNV are divided into five lineages. Viruses from

lineage I are separated into two clades. Clade 1a, containing the isolates from Africa, Europe, the Middle East and from the Americas; and 1b consisting of isolates from Australia (KUNV subtype) (May et al., 2011). Lineage II is still represented mostly by the African isolates, including recent isolates from Hungary (Erdelyi et al. 2007), Greece (Papa et al., 2011), Italy (Bagnarelli et al., 2011) and Russia (Platonov et al., 2008). Lineage III is composed by a single isolate from Czech Republic/Austria (Bakonyi et al., 2005) and lineage IV contains isolates from Russia. Lineage V contains the isolates from India, previously classified into the lineage I (Bondre et al., 2007).

The diversity of WNV, not only genetically, but also according to the geospatial distribution has caught the attention of researchers all over the world. Complex factors may be involved in the evolution of WNV. As an example, the isolate introduced into the USA in 1999 (classified as East Coast genotype) has been displaced by a novel dominant genotype in 2002 (North American genotype) (Davis et al., 2005). Subsequently, another genotype (Southwestern genotype) also has been identified in 2003 (McMullen et al., 2011) and it seems that they are still co-circulating in recent years. Several amino acids substitutions found in these isolates, combined with climate and/or ecological conditions may have facilitated the adaptation of WNV in the host/vector environment and can be one of the reasons for differences in the severity/number of cases observed in the United States and other locations over the years.

WNV transmission

The transmission of WNV is maintained in an enzootic cycle involving primarily mosquitoes and birds. Infected birds can develop a high viremia facilitating the transmission of the virus during mosquito feeding. WNV also can be transmitted to humans, equines and other vertebrates; however, they usually do not develop a high level of viremia, and cannot maintain the transmission of the virus to other biting mosquitoes and therefore are considered dead-end hosts (Fig.1.7).



Figure 1.7. Transmission cycle of WNV. WNV is primarily maintained in nature by the transmission between the mosquito vector and bird reservoirs (amplifying hosts). Humans and other animal species also can become infected, but due low transient viremia, are considered dead-end hosts. (Source: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, accessed through http://en.wikipedia.org).

Different mosquito species are involved in the transmission of WNV; however, the efficiency of WNV transmission is not equivalent among the different species (Moudy et al., 2007). *Culex* spp. mosquitoes represent the main vectors for WNV (Nir et al., 1968; Kilpatrick et al., 2008). In the United States, *Culex pipens, Cx. tarsalis, Cx. quinquefasciatus, Cx. restuans*, and *Cx. nigripalpus* are mostly involved in WNV transmission (Petersen and Hayes, 2008), but the virus already has been isolated from 65 mosquitoes species including *Aedes, Anopheles* and *Culiseta* mosquitoes (CDC, 2013b).

Mosquitoes acquire WNV during the blood meal on a viremic infected host (birds). The virus initially infects the midgut epithelial cells and disseminates through the hemolymph to other mosquito tissues, including the salivary glands. Once WNV is in the salivary glands, it can be transmitted to other vertebrate hosts through the secreted saliva (Girard et al., 2004). A study with *Cx. tarsalis* mosquitoes showed that the concentration

of WNV in the blood meal necessary to infect the mosquitoes was 10^{7.1} pfu/mL (Goddard et al., 2002). Viremia in humans reaches about 10^{3.2} pfu/mL, not enough to infect mosquitoes during the blood meal (Hayes et al., 2005a). The time from when the mosquitoes get infected until the virus reaches the salivary glands, known as extrinsic incubation period, is between 8 to 14 days and will depend on several factors including climate temperature, virus strain and mosquito species. Mosquitoes have defense mechanisms that can restrict WNV infection and dissemination. The midgut epithelium provides a physical and immune barrier by producing antimicrobial peptides (Tzou et al., 2000) and a peritrophic matrix (chitin, glycoproteins and proteoglycans) (Shao et al., 2001). WNV also triggers a RNA interference (RNAi) mechanism and innate immune signaling including Toll, immune deficiency (IMD) and Janus kinase-signal transducer and activator of transcription (JAK/STAT) pathways that restrict virus infection (Arjona et al., 2011).

Following the extrinsic incubation period, the enzootic cycle of WNV is continued by transmission of the virus from mosquito vectors to the vertebrate reservoir hosts. Birds are considered the amplifying hosts for WNV and can propagate the virus locally or at long distances by migratory birds (Malkinson and Banet, 2002; Peterson et al., 2003; Rappole et al., 2006; Jourdain et al., 2007). In the USA the virus has been detected in over 300 bird species, including corvids (crows, jays, magpies), grackles, house finches and house sparrows (CDC, 2013c). While birds infected with WNV usually survive the infection and acquire a long-lasting immunity (Komar et al., 2001), some species are more vulnerable and develop the disease and die. Members of the family *Corvidae* are particularly susceptible and in fact play an important role in the surveillance program to detect WNV in dead birds (Eidson et al., 2001).

WNV also has been identified in different mammals including squirrels, chipmunks, cats, rabbits, skunks and bats (van der Meulen et al., 2005; Gubler, 2007; Platt et al., 2007; Platt et al., 2008), reptiles (alligators) (Klenk et al., 2004) and amphibians (frogs) (Kostiukov et al., 1985), but their role in WNV transmission still have to be further investigated.

The non-vectored transmission of WNV also has been described. In humans, blood transfusion, organ transplant and transplacental infection of the fetus have been reported as routes of WNV transmission (Iwamoto et al., 2003; Pealer et al., 2003; O'Leary et al., 2006). Transmission from the mother to the baby by breast milk has been documented, but it seems to be rare (Hinckley et al., 2007). Percutaneous or conjunctival exposure is a potential route of WNV transmission especially in laboratory personal, who handle the virus or infected specimens (Nir et al., 1965; CDC, 2002; Fonseca et al., 2005).

WNV pathogenesis

WNV infection can result in either asymptomatic (no symptoms) or symptomatic disease. The incubation period of WNV is between 2 and 14 days (Petersen and Marfin, 2002). Several factors can influence the outcome of WNV infection, including the virus strain, infectious dose, route of inoculation and host immune condition, genetic susceptibility and age (Eldadah et al., 1967; Gubler et al., 2007; Diamond, 2009a; Lim et al., 2009). Serologic studies suggest that most of WNV human infections (~80%) result in no or very mild clinical manifestations. Approximately 20% of infected individuals

develop West Nile fever (WNF), which is characterized by flu-like symptoms including fever, headache, myalgias, malaise and lymphadenopathy (Watson et al., 2004; Hayes et al., 2005b). A more severe illness, the WN neurological disease (WNND), can occur in less than 1% of the infections, and is manifested by different presentations including meningitis, encephalitis and acute flaccid paralysis (Tyler, 2004; Sejvar and Marfin, 2006). WNND results in approximately 10% mortality, but elevated rates are seen in immunosuppressed or elderly individuals (Murray et al., 2006). Long-term sequelae can occur in more than 50% of individuals convalescing from severe WNND (Klee et al., 2004; Sejvar et al., 2006). There are no specific treatment options for WNV infection, and humans are limited to supportive therapy (Kramer et al., 2007), although immunoglobulin (Shimoni et al., 2001) and IFN- α treatment (Kalil et al., 2005) have been used in some severe cases.

The pathogenesis of WNV infection in humans is not completely understood and most of the information about the development of the disease has been obtained by experimental infection of animal models, mostly rodents. After the mosquito bite, it is believed that initial viral replication occurs at the site of inoculation. It has been shown WNV infects keratinocytes (Lim et al., 2011) and skin-resident DC including dermal DC and Langerhans cells (DC) (Byrne et al., 2001). Following infection, DC migrate to draining lymph nodes and the virus reaches the bloodstream (primary viremia) resulting in the infection of several organs and tissues, including spleen and kidneys. A second round of replication occurs, where epithelium cells and macrophages are considered potential targets of the virus (Rios et al., 2006). The invasion of WNV into the central nervous system (CNS) is believed to be correlated with the level and duration of

secondary viremia. The exact mechanism by which WNV crosses the blood-brain barrier (BBB) is unknown, but several theories have been proposed to explain WNV neuroinvasiveness. Hematogenous spread may be involved, where the increase of proinflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) may facilitate the process by promoting changes in endothelial cell permeability (Wang et al., 2004). Other mechanisms include infection or passive transport through the endothelium or choroid plexus epithelial cells (Kramer-Hammerle et al., 2005), infection of olfactory neurons and consequent dissemination to the olfactory bulb (Monath et al., 1983), traffic of infected immune cells to the CNS ("Trojan horse" mechanism) (Garcia-Tapia et al., 2006) and direct axonal retrograde transport of particles that have infected peripheral neurons (Johnson, 1998; Hunsperger and Roehrig, 2006). In humans, the most frequent regions of the brain where the WNV is detected are in the cerebral cortex, thalamus, brainstem, basal ganglia, cerebellum and spinal cord and less frequently in the olfactory bulb and hippocampus (Armah et al., 2007). In rodents, the tropism of WNV seems to be similar as in humans, since the virus is detected in the same regions of the brain (Eldadah and Nathanson, 1967; Xiao et al., 2001; Shrestha et al., 2003). The pathological findings in the CNS can be the result of direct viral replication in neurons and glial cells or consequence of the host immune response against the infected cells (Shieh et al., 2000; Sampson and Armbrustmacher, 2001). Most of the damage is caused by loss of neuronal cells, necrosis or neuronophagia. A diffuse inflammation is often seen in the thalamus, medulla and other parts of the brain stem. Microglial nodules with predominance of histiocytes and lymphocytes (CD8⁺ and in less extend CD4⁺ T-lymphocytes) are

described, especially at the proximal spinal cord. Perivascular inflammation with the presence of B-lymphocytes also is a common characteristic (Gyure, 2009).

The dynamics of WNV infection show that viremia is present from about 2 days before until day 4 after the onset of disease; however after the first day, the chances for virus isolation are greatly decreased, probably due to clearance of the virus by macrophages or neutralization by IgM antibodies (Campbell et al., 2002). On the other hand, viremia in immunocompromised patients has been reported to last for several weeks after the WNV inoculation (Brenner et al., 2005). In peripheral tissues most of the WNV is cleared by the end of the first two weeks of infection, although as referred above, persistent infection can occur in debilitated patients.

Animal models for WNV disease

As mentioned above, most of the mechanisms of WNV dissemination and pathogenesis have been obtained through studies using animal models. In particular, rodent models of infection (mice and hamsters) are largely used because these animals develop neurological disease similar to humans and generate both innate and adaptive immune responses. They are easy to handle and also much less expensive compared to other models such as non-human primates. Another advantage of rodent models, and especially mice, is the availability of different reagents such as cell markers (monoclonal antibodies) that make possible the study of specific cell types and targets for WNV infection. The existence of several transgenic mouse strains containing targeted deficiencies (knockout mice) also allowed the elucidation of the role of different molecules and signaling pathways involved in the control of WNV infection (see discussion in the next section).

25

Mice are usually inoculated with WNV by intraperitoneal (i.p.), intravenous (i.v.) or subcutaneous (s.c.) delivery routes. The s.c. inoculation in the footpad is the route that most resembles the natural infection by the mosquito bite, although several components of the mosquito saliva are not present (Scheneider et al., 2006). The i.p. and i.v. inoculation also reproduces the WNV disease; however the rate of virus dissemination seems to be faster than s.c. inoculation, possible due to specific and nonspecific virushost interaction that occurs in the skin and lymph nodes and are bypassed during i.p. and i.v. inoculations (Kramer and Bernard, 2001; Suthar et al., 2013a). After peripheral s.c. inoculation, virus can be detected in the serum within 24 to 48 hours of infection, with subsequent isolation from peripheral organs such as spleen, kidney and heart. In the CNS, WNV can be detected by day 4 (Kramer and Bernard, 2001; Diamond et al., 2003a). In contrast, WNV can be detected in the brain of mice inoculated via s.c. or i.v. routes as early as 2 days post inoculation, and these animals developed the neurological disease earlier than the s.c. inoculated animals (Kramer and Bernard, 2001). Independent of the inoculation route, after CNS infection the animals develop clinical symptoms characterized by weakness, ataxia and hind limb paralysis. Mortality is typically observed starting at days 9 to 10 post inoculation and is associated with high loads of virus in the CNS (Kramer and Bernard, 2001; Shrestha et al., 2003). Although most of mice succumb to the infection (>90%), surviving animals develop high levels of neutralizing antibodies and are protected from a secondary WNV infection.

The course of infection in hamsters is similar to that observed in mice, although the development of disease is to some extent delayed, reflecting more what happens in humans. The mortality rate is lower than the rate usually observed in mice, where about 50% of hamsters succumb to the infection (Xiao et al., 2001; Morrey et al., 2004).

Non-human primates (NHP) also have been utilized as a model of WNV infection. Upon parenteral WNV inoculation, NHP usually develop viremia, but not WNV disease, and comparable to the majority of human infections, most of the cases are presented as a subclinical infection (Pogodina et al., 1983; Ratterree et al., 2003; Ratterree et al., 2004). Hence, due the similarity with humans, NHP are especially considered a potential model for vaccine testing.

IMMUNE RESPONSES TO WNV INFECTION

The immune responses to flaviviral infections have been a subject of research for several years and a considerable number of studies have brought new insights into the elucidation of type of cells, molecules and signaling pathways involved in WNV immunity. It has been shown that both innate and adaptive immune responses play a role in WNV infection. Innate immunity is composed of antigen nonspecific defense mechanisms and is initiated early after the pathogen invasion, while the adaptive immune response is antigen specific and is developed later in the course of infection. However, during WNV infection the contribution of both branches of the immune response are essential for the restriction of spread of the virus and viral clearance from infected cells and/or tissues.

Recognition of WNV by the host innate immune system

During an infection, invading microorganisms can generate conserved molecules known as pathogen-associated molecular pattern (PAMP) ligands (Medzhitov and Janeway, 2002) that are recognized by innate immune cells through the association with multiple cellular pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) (Kumar et al., 2001). PRR expression mostly occurs in cells that first encounter the pathogen, including monocytes, neutrophils, macrophages, dendritic cells and epithelial cells, but also can be present in cells of the adaptive immune system (Schroder and Tschopp, 2010). PRRs stimulate the immune response by triggering downstream signaling pathways that most often induce a pro-inflammatory response mediated by the production of cytokines, chemokines and antiviral molecules including type I IFN (Daffis et al., 2009; Kawai and Akira, 2010). Several types of PRRs have been identified and characterized, including Toll-like receptors (TLRs), RIG-I-like receptors (RLRs), NOD-like receptors (NLRs) and DNA receptors (cytosolic sensors for DNA) (Kumar et al., 2001). These PPRs can recognize extracellular and intracellular pathogens through the detection of pathogen molecules such as conserved proteins, lipids, carbohydrates and nucleic acids (Medzhitov, 2007; Kawai and Akira, 2010; Takeuchi and Akira, 2010).

The TLRs are the most characterized receptors and considered the major sensors of invading microorganisms. They are also implicated in the activation of adaptive immune responses including antibody, CD4⁺ T cell and CD8⁺ T cell responses (Iwasaki and Medzhitov, 2004). In humans there are 10 identified members of the TLR family and in mice, 12 TLRs have been documented. TLRs are either expressed on the cell surface or in intracellular organelles (Iwasaki and Medzhitov, 2004). TLR1, TLR2, TLR4, TLR5, TLR6 and TLR11 are responsible for sensing extracellular pathogens, especially PAMPs originated from bacteria, fungi and protozoa. On the other hand, the endosomal TLR3, TLR7, TLR8 and TLR9 are responsible in detecting nucleic acids PAMPs mainly from viruses and bacteria (Medzhitov, 2007; Kawai and Akira, 2010; Takeuchi and Akira, 2010).

The detection of WNV by TLRs occurs in the endosomal compartment and is mediated by recognition of single-strand RNA (ssRNA) and double-strand RNA (dsRNA) through TLR7 and TLR3, respectively (TLR-dependent pathway) (Daffis et al., 2009; Diamond, 2009b). Following recognition of viral RNA, TLR3 and TLR7 recruit the adaptor protein molecules, TRIF (Toll/IL1 receptor domain-containing adaptor inducing IFN) and MyD88 (Myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88), respectively, to initiate a signaling cascade involving activation of several transcription factors including IRF (Interferon regulatory factor)-3, IRF-7 and NF- κ B (nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells) that drive the production of type I IFN and pro-inflammatory cytokines (Barton and Medzhitov, 2003).

Another type of PRR involved in WNV recognition is the RLR family. RLRs constitute a TLR-independent pathway and contain three members: retinoic acid-inducible gene 1 (RIG-I), Melanoma Differentiation-Associated protein 5 (MDA5), which recognize ssRNA and dsRNA, respectively (Yoneyama and Fujita, 2008; Schlee et al., 2009; Loo and Gale, 2011; Berke and Modis, 2012) and LGP2, which is less known, but probably involved in the regulation of viral RNA recognition by RIG-I and MDA5 (Yoneyama et al., 2005; Loo and Gale, 2011). RIG-I and MDA5 are cytosolic RNA helicases, for which signaling is mediated by interaction with the mitochondrial-associated IFN promoter stimulator-1 (IPS-1) (also known as MAVS, CARDIF or VISA). The outcome of this interaction leads to the activation of IRF3/7 and NF-κB and

consequent production of cytokines similar to the TLR-dependent pathways (Wilkins and Gale, 2010).

A third family of PRRs is the nucleotide-binding, oligomerization domain (NOD)-like receptors (NLR). NLRs not only recognize PAMPs, but also host-derived danger signals (DAMPs – danger-associated molecular patterns) originated from necrotic or injured cells (Kumar et al., 2011). There are several members included in this family and they are further divided into three distinct subfamilies: NODs, NLRPs and IPAF (Kumar et al., 2011). WNV recognition by NLRs involves the adaptor protein ASC (Apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing CARD) (Kumar et al., 2013), which mediates the interaction between the PRR and caspase 1 in a multiprotein complex named inflammasome (Martinon et al., 2002). As a consequence of this interaction, caspase cleavage of its inactive form results in the maturation and production of inflammatory cytokines, including IL-1 β and IL-18 or can initiate a process of cell death (Kumar et al., 2011; Kumar et al., 2013). A summary of PRRs and signaling pathways involved in WNV recognition is represented in Fig.1.8.



Figure 1.8. Innate immune response to WNV. Schematic representation of PRRs and signaling pathways involved in the cellular recognition of WNV. (Reprinted with permission from Fredericksen, 2013. The neuroimmune response to West Nile virus. J Neurovirol [Epub ahead of print]).

Type I IFN response

Upon recognition of viral infection, cells produce type I IFNs (IFN- α and IFN- β) inducing an antiviral state that is achieved by the expression of several genes with antiviral properties (Der et al., 1998). The activation of the IFN promoter leads to production of type I IFN, which is secreted from the infected cell and binds to the IFN- α/β receptor (IFNAR) on the cell surface to amplify the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines through an autocrine or paracrine manner. The binding of IFN to the IFNAR activates the Janus activated kinase (JAK)-signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) signaling pathway. Activation of tyrosine kinase 2 (TYK2) and JAK1, which are associated with the cytoplasmic tail of the IFNAR results in phosphorylation of STAT1 and STAT2 and formation of STAT1-STAT2-IRF-9 complexes (known as interferonstimulated gene [ISG] factor 3 [ISGF3]). ISGF3 complexes are translocated into the nucleus and target IFN-stimulated response elements (ISREs) present in the promoters of hundreds ISGs (Stark et al., 1998; Li et al., 2007), some of them associated with antiviral properties against flaviviruses (Diamond, 2009b).

Among the ISGs with broad antiviral properties are the dsRNA-dependent protein kinase (PKR), 2'-5'-oligoadenylate synthetase (OAS) and RNase L, which have been shown to confer cell resistance to WNV (Samuel et al., 2006; Scherbik et al., 2006; Gilfoy and Mason, 2007). The inactive form of PKR is activated by dsRNA produced during the viral infection and induces the phosphorylation of the eukaryotic initiation factor 2α (eIF- 2α), preventing the translation of viral and cellular RNAs (Chong et al., 1992; Meurs et al., 1992). Similar to PKR, OAS is activated by dsRNA and binds to RNase L, which in turn limits viral infection by cleavage of viral RNAs (Zhou et al., 1997; Malathi et al., 2007).

Other ISGs also have been shown to interfere with WNV infection. Viperin (RSAD2) is believed to inhibit viral infection by modulating lipid biosynthesis, as demonstrated by *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments (Szretter et al., 2011). Genes of the IFN-induced protein with tetratricopeptide repeats (IFIT) family, including IFIT-1 (ISG56), IFIT-2 (ISG54) and IFIT-3 (ISG60), were also shown to interfere with WNV infection, possibly by ablation of protein translation through eIF3 interaction (Terenzi et al., 2006; Wacher et al., 2007). IFN-induced transmembrane protein (IFITM), including IFITM-2 and IFITM-3, have been shown to inhibit the process of WNV entry into target cells (Brass et al., 2009; Jiang et al., 2010; Cho et al., 2013). ISG20, which has an

exonuclease function, also has been investigated as an inhibitor of WNV infection (Jiang et al., 2010; Zhou et al., 2011). The identification and characterization of these ISGs and additional genes with antiviral properties, especially genes that can inhibit a broad spectrum of viruses, is important for the development of novel strategies to control not only WNV, but also several other viral infections.

Cellular innate immunity against WNV

Cellular innate immunity has an important role for the control of WNV infection. Among the cells involved in the innate immune response are macrophages, DCs, neutrophils, natural killer (NK) and gamma-delta ($\gamma\delta$) T cells.

Macrophages were the first identified antigen-presenting cells (APC) (Ziegler and Unanue, 1981) and several studies demonstrate that they play an important role in controlling WNV infection. Despite macrophages being a cell target for WNV replication (Rios et al., 2006), different mechanisms have been proposed to explain the protective function of macrophages on flavivirus infection. Macrophages can potentially inhibit WNV through direct clearance of the virus, promotion of antigen presentation and production of cytokines and chemokines (Kulkarni et al., 1991; Ben-Nathan et al., 1996; Purtha et al., 2008), as demonstrated by macrophage depletion experiments where the absence of macrophages promoted an increased viremia and dissemination of non-virulent WNV strains to the brain of infected mice, resulting in higher mortality. Macrophages also have the ability to produce nitric oxide (NO) intermediates, which can inhibit a variety of viral infections. Although the direct role of NO in WNV inhibition has not yet been completely proven, there is evidence demonstrating its role in the control of other flaviviruses such as JEV and TBEV (Kreil and Eibl, 1996; Lin et al., 1997).

DCs also are targets for WNV infection, but their protective role in WNV infection is less understood. There are distinct DC subsets, which differ in the expression of surface makers and functionality. Plasmacytoid DCs (pDC) are found circulating in the blood stream and in peripheral lymphoid organs. pDCs are not promptly infected with WNV and their ability to present antigen to T cells is very low. On the other hand, pDCs produce high amounts of type I IFN and other pro-inflammatory cytokines, emphasizing their role in immune protection against viral pathogens (Wang et al., 2006a; Swiecki et al., 2010). Another type of DC is the myeloid DC (mDC). mDCs are composed by resident and migratory DC subsets, which have a higher capacity to present antigens, rapidly activating B and T cell responses (Steinbrink et al., 2009). As mDCs are more susceptible to WNV infection, it is believed that they also contribute to viral spread from the site of infection to lymphoid tissues (Byrne et al., 2001).

Neutrophils, also referred as polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMNs), are innate cells that are quickly recruited to the site of inflammation, promoting interaction and activation of other APCs (Nathan, 2006). In WNV infection, it is believed that neutrophils have a dual function, allowing viral dissemination at initial stages and controlling the virus as the infection progresses (Bai et al., 2010). This is supported by experiments showing that depletion of neutrophils prior to WNV infection resulted in lower viremia and less mortality, while depletion of neutrophils after WNV inoculation resulted in higher viremia and increased mortality, suggesting that neutrophils are initially reservoirs for virus replication and only at later time do they play a protective role, helping in the clearance of the virus (Bai et al., 2010).

NK cells are innate immune cells that quickly respond to viral infections. NK cells can potentially control WNV by recognizing and eliminating infected cells through the release of perforin and granzymes or signaling by IFN- γ secretion (Vivier et al., 2008). Although studies demonstrated NK cell activation in the spleen of WNV-infected mice (Vargin and Semenov, 1986) and WNV inhibition in cell culture (Zhang et al., 2010), the protective role of NK cells during WNV infection still has to be investigated. *In vivo* studies assessing NK cell function by NK depletion using anti-NK antibody treatment or transgenic mice deficient in circulating NK cells showed no significant difference between control and antibody-treated mice or WT and knockout strains in relation to signs of disease and mortality rates (Shrestha et al., 2006a). The divergent role of NK cells may be influenced by WNV evasion strategies or organ-specific factors, as recently shown in a study where NK cells were able to control infection in the liver, but not in the spleen of WNV-infected mice (Suthar et al., 2013a).

 $\gamma\delta$ T cells have effector functions that have been shown to play an important role in protection against WNV infection. $\gamma\delta$ T cells lack MHC restriction, not requiring conventional antigen processing to respond against the infection (Steele et al., 2000). The protective function of $\gamma\delta$ T cells is attributed to secretion of cytokines, including IFN- γ , TNF- α and IL-17 (Ferrick et al., 2000; O'Brien et al., 2009), cytolytic activity (Wang et al., 2003a) and development of memory T cells (Wang et al., 2006b). Experiments in mice lacking $\gamma\delta$ T cells demonstrated a higher viremia and increased dissemination of the virus in the brain of WNV-infected mice (Wang et al., 2003a; Shrestha et al., 2006b). Memory T cell responses are also affected in mice lacking $\gamma\delta$ T cells, possibly due to an indirect mechanism involving activation of DC to promote the priming of T cells (Fang et al., 2010).

Adaptive immune response against WNV

The role of the adaptive immune response in WNV pathogenesis has been a subject of study for several years. It is known that B cells, CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T lymphocytes are important for the control of WNV infection. The induction of the adaptive immune response is triggered by different signals including cytokines and antigen, and receptor binding interactions mainly provided from the initial innate immune response, resulting in the specialization of lymphocytes with particular effector functions against the invading pathogen. Hence, the adaptive immune response is linked to the non-specific innate immune response, and once activated it causes clonal expansion of the immune cells that are specific for an antigen or pathogen, which in turn exert their function in attempt to control and eliminate the infection.

Humoral response

The humoral immune response is composed of antibodies produced by B cells and has been demonstrated to be essential for controlling WNV infection and dissemination. The WNV-specific IgM antibody response starts to rise by day 4 of infection and it has been demonstrated that it can give partial protection to naïve mice challenged with WNV (Diamond et al., 2003a). IgG class antibodies start to be detected by day 8, with an increased activity by day 12 of infection (Diamond et al., 2003a).

The importance of antibodies in the protection against WNV has been demonstrated in different mouse models. Passive transfer of immune sera to naïve mice has been shown to be effective in the protection against lethal WNV challenge (Diamond et al., 2003a). In the same study, using congenic mice deficient in functional B cells, it was demonstrated a significant increased viral dissemination to the CNS, even at low infectious doses of the virus, resulting in much higher mortality compared to the WT mouse strain. Further studies, using mice deficient in B and T cells reinforced the importance of antibodies in control WNV dissemination, but demonstrated that antibody alone is not sufficient to completely eliminate the infection, since passive transfer of immune serum prevented WNV disease in the first few weeks of infection, however the mice succumbed to infection after decrease of antibody titer (Engle and Diamond, 2003). Among the immunoglobulin (Ig) classes, it has been demonstrated that IgM may contain the initial WNV dissemination by direct neutralization of the virus, especially at peripheral tissues, decreasing viremia and stimulating IgG production or T cell responses that will eventually control the viral infection (Ochsenbein et al., 1999; Ochsenbein and Zinkernagel, 2000; Diamond et al., 2003b). IgG has a higher neutralization potential and its biological activity is mediated by direct receptor binding to promote virus neutralization, by Fc gamma receptors (FcyR)-mediated viral clearance, antibodydependent cytotoxicity or complement activation resulting in virus or infected-cell lysis (Diamond et al., 2003b). On the other hand, since IgG arises in the primary WNV infection after neuroinvasion, the role of IgG in early infection still has to be further investigated.

Most of the antigenic epitopes recognized by neutralizing antibodies are located in the viral E glycoprotein, which has three structural domains (DI, DII and DIII – see flavivirus proteins) and is involved in viral attachment, internalization and viral assembly. Different studies have shown neutralizing antibody binding specific to all three E protein domains,

although the most potent inhibitory antibodies are associated with the lateral ridge of DIII (Beasley and Barrett, 2002; Oliphant et al., 2005; Sanchez et al., 2005). Antibodies recognizing prM (Kaufman et al., 1989; Pincus et al., 1992; Vazquez et al., 2002) and other non-structural proteins also have been demonstrated for several flaviviruses. Anti-NS1 response has been shown to be protective against WNV infection (Chung et al., 2006; 2007). Antibodies against NS3 and NS5 also are produced during WNV infection, however their importance in WNV protection still unclear (Valdes et al., 2000; Wong et al., 2003).

T lymphocyte response

T cell responses have been demonstrated to be important for the elimination of WNV-infected cells, diminishing the incidence of neuroinvasive disease as demonstrated for both human patients (Katz and Bianco, 2003) and mouse models of disease (Wang et al., 2003a,b; Shrestha and Diamond, 2004; Wang et al., 2006c). While the humoral response has been implicated in viral clearance in the periphery, the T-cell response is believed to be more important for elimination of the virus within the CNS (King et al., 2007). WNV-specific CD8⁺ T cells quickly proliferate in response to the viral infection and are attracted to different tissues including the CNS, where they exert effector functions to control replication and eliminate the infection through the production of cytokines including IFN- γ , or direct killing of infected cells through secretion of perforin and signaling through Fas (known as CD95 or APO-1)-Fas ligand, or tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL)-dependent pathways (Licon Luna et al., 2002; Cho and Diamond, 2012).

The protective role of CD8⁺ T cells, particularly against highly neuropathogenic strains of WNV, has been demonstrated in several rodent models using different systems. of mice or hamsters with immunesuppressive Treatment drugs such as cyclophosphamide, exposure to sub-lethal X-irradiation, induction of stress factors or depletion of T lymphocytes have been demonstrated to increase mortality of animals exposed to WNV (Camenga et al., 1974; Ben-Nathan and Feuerstein 1990; Mateo et al., Studies using perforin knockout (perforin^{-/-}) mice 2006; Elftman et al., 2007). demonstrated higher virus load in the CNS and increased mortality following WNV infection (Shrestha et al., 2006a), reflecting the effector function of CD8⁺ T cells (and also NK cells) which release perform and granzyme to eliminate virus-infected cells (Shresta et al., 1998). FasL-/- mice also were more susceptible to WNV (Shrestha and Diamond, 2007). The TRAIL signaling, which is another effector mechanism used by CD8⁺ T cells to kill infected cells has been implicated in the elimination of WNVinfected neurons through the interaction of TRAIL and the death receptor DR5, leading to cell apoptosis (Shrestha et al., 2012). Studies also demonstrate that the viral load within the CNS of mice lacking CD8⁺ T cells are higher when compared to immunocompetent mice and these deficient mice are more susceptible to a WNV lethal infection (Shrestha et al., 2006a). Other mouse studies also showed that mortality rate and survival time can be improved by adoptive transfer of WNV-specific $CD8^+$ T cells, demonstrating the protective role of this subset of cells (Wang et al., 2006c; Brien et al., 2007a). It is further demonstrated that this protection is not IFN-y-dependent, since adoptive transfer of WNV-specific CD8⁺ T cells from IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ mice also had similar effects on reducing mortality and increasing survival of mice infected with WNV (Wang et al., 2006c).

While CD8⁺ T cells have been shown to have a protective role in WNV infection, there is also some evidence demonstrating the potential for immunopathogenic effects that can be caused by this cell subset. Although these effects have to be further investigated, most of them are dependent on different factors such as the mouse strain, the virus isolate, infectious dose and route of virus inoculation (King et al., 2007). For example, IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ mice infected with the Sarafend strain, a lineage II WNV, have a higher survival rate when compared to infection of the WT mouse strain (King and Kesson, 2003). The protective and immunopathologic effect of CD8⁺ T cells also have been demonstrated in CD8-deficient mice using different infectious doses. When mice were infected with 10³ plaque-forming units (PFU) (Sarafend strain), the knockout strain showed increased mortality compared to the WT strain. On the other hand, when mice were infected with a higher dose (10⁸ PFU), CD8-deficient mice presented an increased survival (Wang et al., 2003b), suggesting that CD8⁺ T cells can have both protective and immunopathologic roles in WNV infection.

The role of CD4⁺ T cells, another subset of T lymphocytes, has been much less explored. It has been shown CD4-deficient mice exhibited a protracted WNV dissemination in the CNS, and uniform mortality of mice, demonstrating a protective role of CD4⁺ T cells in WNV infection (Sitati and Diamond, 2006). WNV-specific IgM and IgG levels were considerably reduced in the knockout mouse strain, suggesting the antibody response is dependent on CD4⁺ T cells. Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that CD4⁺ T cells are necessary to maintain the functionality of WNV-specific CD8⁺ T cells in peripheral tissues and in the CNS (Sitati and Diamond, 2006). Besides their role as helper cells, CD4⁺ T lymphocytes also have been shown to contain a direct antiviral activity, acting in the control of WNV infection independent of B and CD8⁺ T cell responses (Brien et al., 2008).

Undoubtedly, the immune response to WNV is complex, with multiple factors playing a role in the disease pathogenesis. In terms of adaptive immune response, a general fact is that the humoral response has an important role to limit dissemination of WNV and clearance from peripheral tissues, while T cell responses, comprising CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T lymphocytes are more critical to contain and eliminate the virus from the CNS, diminishing the occurrence of persistent infections.

WNV VACCINES

Currently, there is no licensed WNV vaccine for humans to prevent WNV disease. However, several WNV vaccine candidates are under development, and some of them are in early phases of clinical trials (reviewed in Beasley, 2011; Brandler and Tangy, 2013).

Veterinary vaccines are available for use in horses and other animals. Following WNV introduction into the USA, an inactivated WNV vaccine became quickly available for use in animals (Ng et al., 2003). Nowadays, there are two inactivated whole WNV vaccines (West Nile Innovator® and Vetera®) and another recombinant canarypox-vectored vaccine that expresses prM/E of WNV (Recombiteck®) commercially available for animal use (Ng et al., 2003; Karaca et al., 2005; El Garch et al., 2008). Another chimeric vaccine expressing WNV prM/E on the YFV 17D human vaccine platform (Prevenile®) and a DNA vaccine (West Nile Innovator DNA®) were licensed, but their use has been discontinued (Brandler and Tangy, 2013).

The research on the development of a human vaccine has been focused on several types of vaccines, including inactivated (INV), live-attenuated (LAV), virus-vectored, chimeric LAV, non-replicating single-cycle, DNA and subunit vaccines. Inactivated vaccines have been demonstrated to induce neutralizing antibodies and protect mice from lethal challenge with WNV (Lim et al., 2008; Pinto et al., 2013). However due to the biosafety requirements to produce and inactivate the vaccine, the costs are estimated to be too high for commercial use (Ng et al., 2003). Live-attenuated vaccines containing mutations in different structural and non-structural proteins genes have been shown to be highly attenuated in mice, inducing a strong immune response even at low doses (Yamshchikov et al., 2004; Wicker et al., 2006; Yu et al., 2008b; Whiteman et al., 2010) with potential to become WNV vaccine candidates. Virus-vectored vaccines examples include vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) vector expressing E protein of WNV and lentiviral vector or measles vaccine expressing a soluble form of WNV E protein (Despres et al., 2005; Iglesias et al., 2006; Coutant et al., 2008; Iyer et al., 2009), which also induce a strong immune response and show protection against lethal challenge with WNV. Chimeric LAV are among the most promising vaccine candidates and were developed based on the ability to swap structural genes among flavivirus members, attenuating the virus without losing the replication capacity. This platform includes candidates expressing the WNV prM/E on the flavivirus backbones of YFV 17D, DENV2 or DENV4 vaccines and has been demonstrated to produce a robust B and T cell response in different animal models (Huang et al., 2005; Monath et al., 2006; Pletnev et al., 2006; Appaiahgari and Vrati, 2010). Non-replicating single-cycle vaccines, such as RepliVAX WN (which is the main subject of this dissertation), contain a C-deleted WNV

genome that allows the initiation of viral replication with the production of SVP containing prM/E, but without production of infectious virus, rendering only a single round of replication on the target cell (Mason et al., 2006). Studies demonstrated that a single dose of this vaccine candidate was able to induce significant protection against WNV lethal challenge and stimulate both humoral and cellular immune response in the animal models tested (Widman et al., 2008a; 2009; 2010; Nelson et al., 2010). Another platform suitable for WNV immunization is the DNA vaccines. Different approaches have been utilized for the development of DNA vaccines candidates. DNA constructs expressing partial WNV proteins such as prM/E or DIII of E (Davis et al., 2001; Ishikawa et al., 2007; Ramanathan et al., 2009), the entire WNV genome (Hall et al., 2003) or Cdeleted WNV (Seregin et al., 2006) have been described. Although the manufacturing of DNA vaccines is simple, their efficacy still needs to be improved. Another group of WNV vaccine candidates includes recombinant subunit vaccines. WNV antigens derived from prM/E, DIII or truncated form of E protein and peptides containing B-cell epitopes have been used for immunization, inducing neutralizing antibodies and protecting mice and hamsters against lethal WNV challenge (Wang et al., 2001; Ledizet et al., 2005; Chu et al., 2007; Bonafe et al., 2009; Gershoni-Yahalom et al., 2010; Zhu et al., 2012).

Among human vaccines under development, a few candidates already have been tested in phase I and II of clinical trials. Examples are chimeric vaccines expressing WNV prM/E on flavivirus backbones of YFV 17D (ChimeriVax-WN02) or DENV4 (Chimeric WN/DENV4-3' delta30) (Monath et al., 2006; Guy et al., 2010; Smith et al., 2011; Dayan et al., 2012; De Filette et al., 2012), a recombinant DNA vaccine encoding WNV prM/E (VRC₃₀₃) (Martin et al., 2007; Ledgerwood et al., 2011) and a subunit vaccine that expresses soluble WNV E protein (WN-80E) (Lieberman et al., 2007; 2009; Watts et al., 2007; Jarvi et al., 2013). Although the immunogenicity and safety of these vaccines have been assessed during the clinical trials, the protective efficacy measurement is difficult because the majority of WNV cases are asymptomatic and the incidence of the disease is variable in most of the regions where the WNV is present (Suthar et al., 2013b). The licensure of human vaccines also has been held by cost effectiveness issues, where the cost of vaccination might be much higher than clinical case treatment *per se*, not justifying the use of a vaccine (Zohrabian et al., 2006). In addition, elderly and immunocompromised individuals are more likely to have WNV disease (Murray et al., 2006) and may require differential immunization strategies. While these issues may complicate the licensure of human vaccines, promising vaccine platforms with low production cost, better understanding of immunologic factors involved in WNV protection and good animal models that could prove the effectiveness of vaccines favor the possibility of a human WNV in the near future.

The studies presented in this dissertation focus on the characterization of RepliVAX WN as a vaccine vector to prevent WN and potentially other flaviviral diseases. The mechanism of RepliVAX platform optimization is explored to show how this vaccine can be improved, resulting in better yield and possibly efficacy. Further, several aspects of vaccine interaction with the immune system are investigated, revealing key elements involved in the induction of innate and adaptive immune responses to WNV. The knowledge obtained from these studies are of extreme importance to better understand flavivirus replication and induction of immune response, which are useful information for the development of similar or improved vaccine platforms.

CHAPTER 2: Analyses of mutations selected by passaging a chimeric single-cycle flavivirus vaccine candidate identifies mutations that alter infectivity and reveal an interaction between the structural proteins and the nonstructural glycoprotein NS1¹

INTRODUCTION

The family *Flaviviridae* contains important arthropod-borne viruses responsible for significant diseases in humans such as dengue hemorrhagic fever (DHF), West Nile encephalitis (WNE), yellow fever (YF), Japanese encephalitis (JE) and tick-borne encephalitis (TBE) (Lindenbach et al., 2007). Flaviviruses have a worldwide distribution, threatening over 50% of the world's population. DENV infection is one of the leading causes of flavivirus disease, with an estimated 50-100 million cases annually and up to 3 billion people live in areas where DENV is found (Halstead, 2007; WHO, 2012). WNV was introduced in the United States in 1999 and since then it became the primary cause of viral encephalitis in North America (Davis et al., 2006b; Gyure 2009). The global number of cases is not available, but the United States alone registered over 37,000 cases of WNV disease since 1999, resulting in over 1,500 fatalities (CDC, 2013a). Licensed

¹This chapter was previously published in Virology. This journal allows including information without copyright as long as it is properly cited. The citation for the article is: Winkelmann ER, Widman DG, Suzuki R, Mason PW (2011). Analyses of mutations selected by passaging a chimeric flavivirus identify mutations that alter infectivity and reveal an interaction between the structural proteins and the nonstructural glycoprotein NS1.Virology 421(2):96-104.

vaccines are available for a number of flavivirus diseases, including YF, JE and TBE, although their use in some cases is restricted for specific regions of the world. On the other hand, there are no licensed vaccines to prevent DENV and WNV infections in humans.

Flaviviruses are enveloped, single-stranded, positive-sense RNA viruses. The viral genome contains a single ORF encoding three structural proteins (C, prM/M and E) and seven nonstructural proteins (NS1, NS2A, NS2B, NS3, NS4A, NS4B and NS5) (Lindenbach et al., 2007). An interesting characteristic of flaviviruses is that the structural proteins are not necessary for viral replication (Khromykh and Westaway, 1997; Khromykh et al., 2001b) and the use of strategies utilizing recombinant genomes containing deletions of genes coding for structural proteins, especially for the C protein, have been the base for the production of new, rationally designed flavivirus LAV (reviewed in Widman et al., 2008b). The use of reverse genetics also allows the generation of chimeric vaccines, as exemplified by the use of the YFV 17D vaccine strain backbone where the genes coding the prM and E were replaced by the same genes of heterologous flaviviruses (Chambers et al., 1999).

In 2006, a novel vaccine platform consisting of single-cycle flaviviruses (SCFV) was developed, showing they can be used as safe and effective vaccines (Mason et al., 2006). This single-cycle technology has been used to produce a series of vaccine candidates (named RepliVAX), that encode genomes harboring a truncated C (trC) gene that prevents the RepliVAX genome from being packaged into infectious particles unless the C gene is supplied in trans (Mason et al., 2006; Ishikawa et al., 2008; Widman et al., 2008a; Suzuki et al., 2009). RepliVAX can infect normal cells in vaccinated animals,

however, and these infected cells release prM/E-containing sub-viral particles (SVPs) and NS1 that induce effective antiviral immune responses. RepliVAX cannot spread or cause disease in animals, thus making it a safe LAV.

The most recent addition to the RepliVAX family is a chimeric RepliVAX that expresses the prM/E genes of DENV2 in place of the WNV structural genes, and this vaccine (RepliVAX D2) was able to control DENV2 disease in a mouse model for DENV2 infection (Suzuki et al., 2009). During the development of RepliVAX D2, it was discovered that the initial construct grew poorly in C-expressing cells, but that growth could be improved by extensive blind passage (facilitated by introduction of larger fragments of the C gene and passaging of packaging cells along with the single-cycle virus). Analyses of these blind-passaged variants demonstrated that their improved growth characteristics were associated with the acquisition of specific mutations in the coding regions for prM, E, NS2A and NS3. In the case of the mutations in prM and E, reverse genetics was used to show that a pair of mutations in M (amino acid 9: G->R and amino acid 13: E->V; referred to by convention as M^{R9G,V13E}) and a single mutation in E (E^{K120T}; numbering convention as shown for M) both operated individually to increase yield of RepliVAX D2 in culture, but the combination of the M and E mutations worked together to produce the greatest enhancement in viral growth (Suzuki et al., 2009). Further, it was shown that the mutations in the NS2A (NS2A^{S9F}) and the NS3 genes of the WNV backbone (NS3^{R516K}) enhanced growth of a re-engineered RepliVAX D2, but did not appear to have an effect on genome replication per se, since they were unable to enhance replication of WNV replicons that did not contain DENV genes (Suzuki et al., 2009).

In the studies presented here, it is shown that the mutations identified in the growth-adapted chimeric RepliVAX D2 constructs in the DENV2 prM and E region improve specific infectivity of flavivirus particles in a manner similar to that of a previously characterized heparan sulfate (HS)-binding mutation at a nearby position in E (E^{K126E}) (Lee et al., 2006). In addition, it is demonstrated that the mutation in the WNV NS2A (which acts in concert with the WNV NS3 mutation) eliminates the production of an altered form of NS1 (NS1') that arises from ribosome slippage at a site found in WNV, but not DENV (Firth and Atkins, 2009; Melian et al., 2010). Finally, it is shown that the elimination of the production of NS1' by introduction of a synonymous mutation in this ribosomal slippage site improved encapsidation of particles without altering the amplification and translation of the genome, indicating a functional interaction between NS1/NS1' and the structural proteins of flaviviruses during encapsidation.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cells

BHK cells were maintained at 37°C in minimal essential medium (MEM, Cellgro, Mediatech, Manassas, VA) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Gemini, Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA) and antibiotics. Vero cells were maintained at 37°C in MEM containing 6% FBS (Hyclone, Thermo Scientific, Logan, UT) and antibiotics. BHK(VEErep/Pac-Ubi-C*) expressing the WNV C protein (Widman et al., 2008a), BHK(VEErep/WNVC*-E/Pac) cells expressing the WNV C-prM-E proteins (Fayzulin et al., 2006), BHK(VEErep/WNC*-JEVprM-E/Pac) cells expressing the WNV C and JEV prM-E (Ishikawa et al., 2008), BHK(VEErep/WNVC*-DENV2prM/E/Pac) cells

expressing the WNV C and the DENV2 NGC (low passage) prM/E (generated as described below), BHK(VEErep/WNVC*-DENV2prM/E^{K126E}/Pac) cells expressing the WNV C and a HS-binding E derived from a high-passage DENV2 NGC (generated as described below), and BHK(VEErep/WNVC*-DENV2prM^{R9G,V13E}/E^{K120T}/Pac) cells expressing the WNV C and the DENV2 prM/E mutations selected in RepliVAX D2 (generated as described below) were propagated at 37°C in Dulbecco's MEM (Cellgro) supplemented with 10% FBS (Gemini) and 10 ug/ml puromycin (Cellgro) as previously described (Fayzulin et al., 2006).

Plasmid construction

The plasmid pWNR C-hFLuc2A NS1-5 encoding a WNV replicon expressing a humanized form of the firefly luciferase (FLUC) reporter gene has been previously described (Gilfoy et al., 2009). This was used to construct the various mutant WNV replicon plasmids with specific mutations in NS2A (pWNR C-hFLuc2A NS1-5 NS2A^{S9F}), NS3 (pWNR C-hFLuc2A CNS1-5 NS3^{R516K}), NS2A and NS3 (pWNR C-hFLuc2A NS1-5 NS2A^{S9F}/NS3^{R516K}), as well as a silent mutation in NS2A (pWNR C-hFLuc2A NS1-5 NS2A^{S9F}) using standard techniques (Higuchi et al., 1988).

The plasmid encoding the RepliVAX WN replicon [pRepliVAX WN (Widman et al., 2008a); previously referred to as pRepliVAX WN.2 SP] was modified using standard techniques to produce a series of mutant RepliVAX WN plasmids with specific mutations in NS2A (pRepliVAX WN NS2A^{S9F}), NS3 (pRepliVAX WN NS3^{R516K}), and NS2A and NS3 (pRepliVAX WN NS2A^{S9F}/NS3^{R516K}) using standard techniques (Higuchi et al., 1988).

Plasmid pVEErep/WNVC*-E/Pac which encodes a Venezuelan equine encephalitis virus replicon (VEErep) capable of persisting in cells in the presence of puromycin and expressing the WNV structural proteins (C-prM-E) needed to package subgenomic replicons (Fayzulin et al., 2006) was used to construct a series of plasmids DENV2 NGC (Fonseca, 1994) encoding а low-passage prM/E cassette (pVEErep/WNVC*-DENV2prM/E/Pac), a high-passage DENV2 NGC (Fonseca, 1994) prM/E cassette (pVEErep/WNVC*-DENV2prM/E^{K126E}/Pac), or the prM/E cassette found in cell-adapted RepliVAX D2 (Suzuki et al., 2009) (pVEErep/WNVC*-DENV2prM^{R9G,V13E}/E^{K120T}/Pac).

Production of packaging cell lines

Cell lines harboring replicons from the VEErep plasmids were created by a slight modification of the previously described procedures (Fayzulin et al., 2006). Briefly, the plasmid DNAs were linearized by using the MluI restriction enzyme, and the resulting template DNAs were *in vitro*-transcribed using MegaScript SP6 synthesis kit (Ambion) in the presence of 7mG(ppp)G cap analogue (New England Biolabs). The yield and integrity of transcripts were determined by using non-denaturing gel electrophoresis, aliquots of transcription reactions were transfected into BHK cells using Lipofectin (Invitrogen), VEErep-harboring cell lines were selected in the presence of puromycin, and clones displaying high-level expression of these replicons were isolated and propagated using standard techniques.

Production of viral replicon particles (VRPs) and RepliVAX derivatives

WNV replicon RNAs encoding the FLUC gene (WNR C-hFLuc2A NS1-5 and derivatives) or the WNV prM/E cassette (RepliVAX WN and derivatives) were generated
by using MegaScript T7 synthesis kit (Ambion) and 7mG(ppp)G cap analogue (New England Biolabs) from SwaI-linearized templates created from the relevant plasmid DNAs using standard methods. Following analysis for yield and integrity as described above, aliquots of transcription reactions were electroporated into packaging cell lines (expressing C, prM, and E constructs in the case of the FLUC-expressing replicon constructs or C only in the case of RepliVAX constructs) and then collected as previously described (Fayzulin et al., 2006).

VRP and RepliVAX titrations

VRPs and RepliVAX WN derivatives were titrated on Vero cells as previously described (Fayzulin et al., 2006). Briefly, cell monolayers were infected with serial dilutions of the samples and incubated for 24-30 hrs at 37°C. Cells were fixed in acetone/methanol and subjected to IHC staining using flavivirus-specific antibodies. Immunopositive cells were counted and used to calculate the titers which were reported as infectious units per milliliter (IU/ml).

VRP and RepliVAX growth curves

To compare growth properties of the various WNV replicons in cell lines encoding various prM/E packaging constructs, VRPs derived from electroporations were used to infect these BHK packaging cells at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 0.05 for 2 hrs; the monolayers were then washed 3 times (5 min each) with MEM supplemented with 1% FBS, 10mM HEPES, and antibiotics, and the cultures were placed at 37°C. Media were removed and replaced with fresh media at the indicated time points and stored at -80°C for subsequent titration as described above. Growth curves from RepliVAX WN and derivatives were prepared by infecting BHK(VEErep/Pac-Ubi-C*) cells at an MOI of 0.01 using the same procedure as described above.

Specific infectivity studies

Genome copy numbers and infectivity of VRPs produced by electroporation (see above) were determined based on semiquantitative PCR (sqPCR) and Vero cell titration data. Briefly, VRP preparations were diluted to give titers of 1,000 IU/ml, and one portion was titered on Vero cells as described above, while RNA was isolated from a second portion using the QIAamp Viral RNA kit (QIAGEN) following the manufacturer's protocol. The viral RNA concentration in this sample was determined by using a sqPCR assay in which serial 2-fold dilutions of RNA from each sample were used for reverse transcription (RT) carried out with an ImProm II RT kit (Promega) with random hexamers followed by amplification of a 100 bp PCR product using previously described WNV NS5-specific primers (Bourne et al., 2007). The PCR conditions included an initial cycle of 5 min at 95°C, 30 cycles of 30 sec at 95°C, 30 sec at 53°C and 30 sec at 72°C, followed by 5 min at 72°C. Following amplification, the PCR products were resolved by electrophoresis on 2% agarose gels containing 200ng/ml of ethidium bromide, and images of the gels were acquired with a CCD camera using a FluorChem 8900 Chemiluminescence Gel Imager (Alpha Innotech) and band intensities were quantified by using ImageJ software (available at http://rsbweb.nih.gov/ij/). The intensities of these bands were compared to a standard curve generated with known numbers of genome copies of in vitro synthesized RNA from WNR C-hFLuc2A NS1-5 (ranging from 2,000 to 200,000 copies), and the resulting standard curve (generated by

using GraphPad Prism 4 software) was used to calculate the genome copies in each test sample (Fig.2.1). The specific infectivities of each preparation were then calculated by dividing this genome copy number per IU in the same sample volume, giving genome copies/IU of each VRP.



Figure 2.1. Representation of semi-quantitative PCR (sqPCR) method used for specific infectivity studies. The measurement of the band intensity (integrated density) of the PCR product derived from *in vitro* synthesized RNA of a WNR C-hFLuc2A NS1-5 containing known numbers of genome copies was used to generate a standard curve (left panel). This standard curve was used to calculate the genome copies/IU in the specific infectivity studies by comparing the band intensities (linear regression) from each sample tested (right panel).

Western blot analyses of NS1

VRPs containing different derivatives of WNR C-hFLuc2A NS1-5 were inoculated onto BHK cell monolayers at an MOI of 5 and incubated at 37°C with serumfree medium (OptiPro SFM, Gibco) supplemented with 10mM HEPES and antibiotics. At 24 hrs after infection, culture fluids were collected and cell lysates were prepared using lysis buffer (0.1% Triton X-100, 300 mM NaCl, 50 mM Tris-HCl; pH 7.6) containing a protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche). Samples were resolved on 4-12% gradient Bis-Tris polyacrylamide gels (Invitrogen) and transferred to polyvinylidine diofluoride membranes, which were then incubated with a 1:5,000 dilution of a mouse anti-NS1 antibody from hydridoma JE-6H4 (Kitai et al., 2007). Following washing, the membranes were incubated with a 1:10,000 dilution of peroxidase-conjugated anti-mouse IgG (KPL), and the bound peroxidase was visualized by using ECL Plus System (GE healthcare).

VRP focus-formation assay

To compare focus morphology, monolayers of BHK(VEErep/WNVC*-E/Pac) cells expressing the WNV C-prM-E proteins were infected with serial dilutions of VRPs harboring the WT replicon genome, or genomes encoding the NS2A^{F9F}, NS2A^{F9F}NS3^{R516K} or NS3^{R516K} mutations. Following absorption for 2 h, the cells were overlaid with medium containing 0.8% carboxymethyl cellulose (CMC) (Sigma, Saint Louis, MO) supplemented with 1% FBS, 10mM HEPES and antibiotics and incubated at 37°C for 48 h. To visualize foci, the cells were fixed with 50% acetone-50% methanol solution followed by incubation with a 1:5,000 dilution of a mouse anti-NS1 antibody from hybridoma JE-6H4 (Kitai et al., 2007), peroxidase conjugated anti-mouse IgG (KPL, Gaithersburg, MD) and VIP substrate (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA). The number of cells forming individualized foci were counted and used to compare focus size.

Luciferase assay

BHK monolayers prepared in 96-well black-wall plates were infected with dilutions of VRPs harboring the WT replicon genome, or genomes encoding the NS2A^{F9F}, NS2A^{F9F}, NS3^{R516K} or NS3^{R516K} mutations and incubated at 37°C. At 24 hrs post

54

infection (hpi), an equal volume of 25% Steady-Glo Luciferase Assay System reagent (Promega) diluted in lysis buffer was added to the cells and incubated for 5 min on rocker to allow cell lysis. The luminescence was measured on a Microplate Luminometer (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). A parallel plate infected with the same dilutions of VRPs was harvested at 24 hpi and used to determine the number of VRP-infected cells determined by immunostaining (as described above). The luciferase activity was normalized by the number of VRP-infected cells and expressed as relative luciferase units (RLU) per infected cell.

Statistical analyses

GraphPad Prism (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA) was used to analyze data. One-way or two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with the Bonferroni post-test were used where appropriate. P values less than 0.05 were considered to indicate statistical significance.

RESULTS

Mutations in DENV prM/E increase growth and alter specific infectivity

To determine how growth-enhancing mutations in the DENV2 prM/E coding region of single-cycle chimeric flaviviruses expressing the prM/E genes of DENV2 and the NS genes of WNV function (Suzuki et al., 2009), a series of packaging cell lines (see Fig.2.2) that encoded the low passage DENV2 New Guinea C (NGC) prM/E sequences [BHK(VEErep/WNVC*-DENV2prM/E/Pac)] (used for the generation of the first RepliVAX D2) as well as a cell line [BHK(VEErep/WNVC*-DENV2prM^{R9G,V13E}/E^{K120T}/Pac)] that encoded the DENV2 prM/E sequences selected

when RepliVAX D2 was adapted to grow in cells expressing the C gene (Suzuki et al., 2009), along with cell lines carrying packaging constructs expressing the WNV prM/E [BHK(VEErep/WNVC*-E/Pac)], the JEV prM/E [BHK(VEErep/WNVC*-JEVprM/E/Pac)], and a cell line [BHK(pVEErep/WNVC*-DENV2prM/E^{K126E}/Pac] expressing an E protein from a high-passage NGC strain of DENV that contains a DENV2 E mutation (E^{K126E}) previously associated with HS binding (Lee et al., 2006) (see Fig.2.2) were used to produce VRPs containing a WNV replicon (C-hFLuc2A-NS1-5, see Fig.2.5).



Figure 2.2. Schematic representation of the packaging cell constructs. All constructs contained a form of the WNV C protein (C*) engineered to contain synonymous mutations in the start of the genome to prevent generation of homologous recombinants with the replicons, as well as complete prM/E cassettes from the indicated viruses (see Methods); "aa" indicates the position of the affected codon within the individual protein-coding regions.

When these VRPs, which contained identical WNV-derived replicons transpackaged in the different coats provided by their packaging cell lines (Fig.2.2), were tested side-by-side for their specific infectivities in Vero cells (genome copies per IU; see Methods), it was demonstrated that the VRPs packaged in WNV or JEV prM/E proteins exhibited significantly better specific infectivities (500 to 2,000 genome copies per IU)

than particles packaged in any of the DENV2 coats (50,000 to 200,000 genome copies per IU; Fig.2.3). Among the DENV2-packaged VRPs, the VRPs coated with the prM/E proteins of a low-passage NGC strain [from BHK(VEErep/WNVC*-DENV2prM/E/Pac)] displayed the poorest infectivity (over 200,000 genome equivalents per IU), and the particles packaged in coats containing the previously identified HS-binding mutation at position 126 (Lee et al., 2006) [BHK(pVEErep/WNVC*-DENV2prM/E^{K126E}/Pac] displayed a slightly better specific infectivity. Interestingly, the VRPs packaged in the cell lines encoding the DENV2 prM/E genes selected in RepliVAX D2 passaging studies (Suzuki et al., 2009) [BHK(VEErep/WNVC*-DENV2prM^{R9G,V13E}/E^{K120T}/Pac)] displayed a significantly better specific infectivity than the particles packaged in the WT DENV2-packaged VRPs, which contained the same low-passage DENV2 genes used to initiate the passaging studies performed with RepliVAX D2 (Suzuki et al., 2009) (Fig.2.3).



Figure 2.3. Specific infectivities of VRPs created by packaging a WNV-derived replicon (pWNR C-hFLuc2A NS1-5-encoding FLUC). Data displayed indicate the particle number (determined by genome quantification using sqPCR) divided by the measured infectivity on Vero cells (see Methods). Error bars indicate the standard deviation between specific infectivity determinations established from two measurements of RNA concentration from the linear range of the sqPCR standard curve. "*" denotes significance as measured by one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-test (p<0.05).

Taken together, these data demonstrate that the previously reported low-specific infectivity of DENV particles (van der Schaar et al., 2007) is due to the properties of the virion surface proteins and that changes in specific infectivity in cell culture can be facilitated by addition of positively charged residues in M and E that presumably function by facilitating productive binding of negatively charged GAGs such as HS that are ubiquitously expressed on cells in culture and aid in infection as previously demonstrated for DENV2 (Lee et al., 2006). However, the possibility cannot be ruled out that the mutations in prM/E could also have a role in the maturation of the structural proteins needed for flavivirus morphogenesis, especially in light of recent work showing that extracellular DENV particles contain a mixture of mature (lacking prM) and immature particles (Junjhon et al., 2010) which likely contribute to their poor specific infectivity.

NS2A and NS3 mutations previously selected in DENV2/WNV chimeras improve VRP growth when packaged in DENV2 envelopes

During propagation of a derivative of RepliVAX D2 containing the prM/E mutations described above (Suzuki et al., 2009), two mutations were selected in the WNV nonstructural protein-encoding regions that improved the growth of these chimeric viruses. To help learn how these mutations exerted their effects, they were introduced into RepliVAX WN (as single or double mutations; Fig.2.4A), and tested for effect on the growth of this non-chimeric single-cycle virus in a WNV C-expressing cell line [BHK(VEErep/Pac-Ubi-C*)]. Fig.2.4B shows growth curves for the WT and mutated RepliVAX WN that were created by averaging values from 3 independent experiments. These growth curves demonstrate that the mutations selected in the context of the

chimeric RepliVAX D2 were unable to produce a detectable improvement in growth of the non-chimeric RepliVAX WN.



Figure 2.4. NS2A^{S9F} and NS3^{R516K} mutations do not significantly improve the growth of RepliVAX derivatives carrying the WNV prM/E genes. (A) Schematic representation of derivatives of RepliVAX WN carrying mutations in NS2A and NS3; "aa" indicates the position of the affected codon within the individual protein-coding regions. (B) Growth curves of the RepliVAX WN constructs shown in Fig.2.4A on BHK(VEErep/Pac-Ubi-C*) which express the WNV C protein. Cells were infected at an MOI of 0.01, and media were harvested, and titered at the indicated time points as described in the Methods. The first time point (0 hpi) indicates the initial dose used to infect the cells. Values represent averages of three individual experiments. Error bars indicate standard deviation.

To further evaluate the interactions between WNV NS2A and NS3 mutations and the DENV2 prM/E cassettes, NS2A^{S9F} and NS3^{R516K} were introduced as single- or double-mutations into a WNV replicon encoding a FLUC reporter gene (Fig.2.5).

- C	hFLuc/FMDV 2A	NS1	NS2A	NS2B	NS3		NS4A	NS4B	NS5
		NS2A NS3 9 516 UUU AAG			2 3 3 3	k regio (aa)	n)		
C-hFLuc2A-NS1-5 NS2A ^{S9F}					? K 2U AAG 2 <u> </u>				
	C-hFLuc2A-NS1-5 NS3 ^{R516K}					AgG <u>R</u>	;		
С	-hFLuc2A-NS1-5 N	IS2A ^{S9F} NS3	R516K	0c0 <u>S</u>		AgG <u>R</u>			

Figure 2.5. Schematic representation of derivatives of WNV replicons carrying mutations in NS2A and NS3. "aa" indicates the position of the affected codon within the individual protein-coding regions.

Comparison of the ability of VRPs containing these replicons to grow in a subset of the packaging cells described in Fig. 2.2 demonstrated that each of the non-structural protein mutations enhanced growth in all three of the DENV2 packaging cell lines (Fig.2.6A,B,C). In addition, the two mutations displayed an additive/synergistic effect on transpackaging within DENV2 envelopes (Fig.2.6A,B,C). However, neither of these mutations (independently or together) produced a detectable improvement in the growth of this WNV-derived replicon when replicons carrying these mutations were propagated in packaging cells expressing the WNV envelope protein cassette (Fig.2.6D).



Figure 2.6. NS2A^{S9F} and NS3^{R516K} improve growth of WNV VRPs when transpackaged in DENV coats. Growth curves of VRPs harboring the genomes shown in Fig.2.5 on BHK cell lines encoding the indicated packaging constructs. Cell monolayers were infected at an MOI of 0.05 with the indicated VRPs, and media were harvested and titered at the indicated time points as described in the Methods. The first time point (0 hpi) indicates the initial dose used to infect the cells. Values represent averages of two individual experiments. Error bars indicate standard deviation.

NS2A^{S9F} mutation alters the production of a higher molecular weight form of NS1

The recent observation that the NS2A gene of encephalitic flaviviruses contains a frame-shift motif (Firth and Atkins, 2009) that permits the production of an altered form of NS1 [known as NS1'; (Melian et al., 2010)] identified over 20 years ago in cells infected with JEV (Mason, 1989) encouraged the further examination of the NS2A^{S9F} mutation. Interestingly, this mutation disrupts the canonical UUUU portion of the ribosome slip site that produces NS1' (CCCUUUU-> CCCUUcU; Fig.2.7A). To confirm that this mutation prevented the synthesis of NS1', Western blot analyses were conducted and clearly demonstrated that this mutation results in the loss of NS1' (Fig.2.7B).



Figure 2.7. Effect of NS2A^{S9F} **mutation on synthesis of NS1'.** (A) Alignment of RNA and amino acid sequences at the NS1/NS2A junction region of WNV showing the ribosomal frame-shift site (underlined) and its disruption by the NS2A^{S9F} mutation. (B) Western blot showing that cells infected with replicons encoding the NS2A^{S9F} mutation fail to produce NS1'. Cells infected with particles encoding C-hFLuc2A-NS1-5 replicon (labeled NS1-5 WT) and its derivatives (see Fig.2.5; labeled in this panel by mutation only) were lysed, blotted, and immunostained as described in the Methods.

Mutation of the ribosome slip site in NS2A enhances packaging of WN replicons in

DENV2 coats and eliminates production of NS1'

To demonstrate that the growth enhancing properties of the NS2A^{S9F} mutation resulted through the abrogation of NS1' production, two silent mutations (CCCUUUU->CCCcUUc) were engineered in this region of NS2A (producing a construct designated NS2A^{F9F}) that disrupted the ribosome slip site (Fig.2.8).

	<-NS1/NS2A->																
	CAA	GUG	AAU	GCU	UAU	AAU	GCU	GAU	AUG	AUU	GA <u>C</u>	CCU	UUU	CAG	UUG	GGC	CUU
WI WINV INST-INSZA	Q	v	N	A	Y	N	A	D	м	I	D	P	F	Q	L	G	L
WNV NS1-NS2A ^{F9F}	CAA Q	gug V	AAU N	GCU A	UAU Y	AAU N	GCU A	GAU D	AUG M	AUU I	GA <u>C</u> D	CCc P	UUc F	CAG Q	UUG L	GGC G	CUU L

Figure 2.8. Introduction of silent mutations. Alignment of RNA and amino acid sequences at the NS1/NS2A junction region of WNV showing the ribosomal frame-shift site (underlined) and its disruption by silent mutations.

WNV replicons bearing this mutation alone, or in the presence of the NS3 mutation, displayed a significant enhancement of growth compared to the WT replicon genome when they were grown in cell lines providing DENV2 coats (Fig.2.9A,B,C).



Figure 2.9. Demonstration that ablation of ribosomal frame-shifting in NS2A enhances trans-encapsidation of WNV replicons and eliminates production of NS1'. (A-D) Growth curves of VRPs harboring the WT replicon genomes, or genomes encoding the NS2A^{F9F} or NS2A^{F9F}NS3^{R516K} mutations on BHK cell lines encoding the indicated packaging constructs. Cell monolayers were infected at an MOI of 0.05 with the indicated VRPs, and media were harvested and titered at the indicated time points as described in the Methods. The first time point (0 hpi) indicates the initial dose used to infect the cells. Values represent averages of two individual experiments. Error bars indicate standard deviation and "*" denotes significance as measured by two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-test (p<0.05) for 24-96hr timepoints (A, B) and 48-72hr timepoints (C). The same test showed significant differences in Figure 2.9D; in this case: "*" denotes significance (p<0.05) for C-hFLuc2A-NS1-5 vs C-hFLuc2A-NS1-5NS2A^{F9F}NS3^{R516K}; "**" denotes significance (p<0.05) for C-hFLuc2A-NS1-5 NS2A^{F9F} vs ChFLuc2A-NS1-5NS2A^{F9F}NS3^{R516K}; and "***" denotes significance (p<0.05) for C-hFLuc2A-NS1-5 vs C-hFLuc2A-NS1-5 NS2A^{F9F} at indicated timepoints. (E) Western blot showing that cells infected with VRPs containing the NS2A^{F9F} mutation fail to produce NS1'. Cells infected with particles encoding C-hFLuc2A-NS1-5 replicons containing NS3^{R516K}, NS2A^{F9F}, or NS2A^{F9F}NS3R^{516K} mutations were lysed, blotted and immunostained as described in the Methods.

Furthermore, Fig.2.9D shows that the NS2A^{F9F} mutation, alone, or in concert with the NS3^{R516K} mutation produced significant improvement in packaging in a WNV coat at several time points. As expected from the intentional disruption of the slippage site, cells infected with replicons expressing the NS2A^{F9F} mutation alone, or in the presence of the NS3^{R516K} mutation did not produce any detectable NS1' (Fig.2.9E).

To understand the interaction between the NS2A^{F9F} and NS3^{R516K} mutations and DENV coats, the specific infectivity of C-hFLuc2A-NS1-5 and C-hFLuc2A-NS1-5 NS2A^{F9F} NS3^{R516K} VRPs produced in the WNVC*-DENV2prM^{R9G,V13E}/E^{K120T} and the WNVC*-E cell lines harvested from the 72 hpi time point in the study shown in Fig.2.9C and D was further investigated. These studies showed improved infectivity for the DENV-packaged VRPs that carried the NS2A frame-shift and NS3 mutations relative to the WT genomes, but no difference in the infectivity of the WNV-packaged genomes containing these mutations (Fig.2.10A,B), suggesting that the C-hFLuc2A-NS1-5 NS2A^{F9F} NS3^{R516K} were more efficiently assembled into infectious DENV particles. Furthermore, Western blot analyses of the E protein content of these same VRP preparations showed a similar level of incorporation of WNV E into VRPs produced with either mutant or WT NS genes, but a more efficient incorporation of the DENV E into particles carrying the mutant NS genes, consistent with the hypothesis that the NS2A frame-shift and NS3 mutations produced higher infectious yields by increasing efficiency of assembly of infectious particles with DENV coats.

A. WNVC*-DENV2pr/MR9G, V13E/ EK120T B. WNVC*-E



Figure 2.10. Specific infectivities and E protein expression. Specific infectivity of VRPs containing a WNV-derived replicon (pWNR C-hFLuc2A NS1-5 encoding FLUC) harboring the WT genome or a genome containing the NS2A^{F9F}NS3^{R516K} mutations, packaged on a BHK cell line expressing the DENV2 prM/E sequences selected during adaptation of RepliVAX D2 (WNVC*-DENV2prM^{R9G,V13E}/E^{K120T}) or on a BHK cell line encoding the WNV prM/E sequences (WNVC*-E) were determined using the VRPs collected at the 72 hpi time point from the experiments shown in Fig.2.9C and Fig.2.9D. (A and B) Specific infectivity values determined by using sqPCR. Error bars indicate the standard deviation between specific infectivity determinations established from four measurements of RNA concentration from the linear range of the sqPCR standard curve (see Fig.2.1 and methods). "*" denotes significance as measured by Student t-test (p<0.05). (C and D) Specific infectivity evaluations using protein content. Western blot showing E protein concentration in the VRPs harvested from the indicated BHK packaging cell lines infected with replicons encoding the WT genome or genomes containing the NS2A^{F9F}NS3^{R516K} mutations. These samples were diluted to have the same infectious titer (IU/ml) and then 2.5-fold dilutions were prepared and resolved on 4-12% gradient Bis-Tris polyacrylamide gels as described in the methods, and the E protein was detected by a flavivirus group-specific monoclonal antibody D1-4G2 incubated at 1:1,000 dilution. In panel C, VRPs containing the same infectious titer (IU/ml), were concentrated by ultracentrifugation through a 20% sucrose cushion at 38,000 rpm in a Beckman SW41 Ti rotor for 2 h at 4°C and resuspended overnight at 4°C in 75 uL TN buffer (10mM Tris, 100mM NaCl, pH 7.6) containing a protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche) to achieve sufficient titer for the analyses. Following resuspension, these concentrated samples were used to make the 2.5-fold dilutions as described above. The last lanes in panels C and D were prepared from an undiluted supernatant sample harvested from mock-infected cells in the same experiment.

To further evaluate the role of these mutations in virion packaging in WNV coats, an additional, more sensitive assay was utilized, which consisted of calculating the size of infectious foci formed by VRPs carrying WT and mutant replicons on BHK(VEErep/WNVC*-E/Pac) cells. Fig.2.11 shows the results of these assays, which support the data in Fig.2.9D, by showing that all three VRPs tested in these assays tended to produce larger foci on cells expressing the WNV structural proteins.



Figure 2.11. Comparison of foci sizes of VRPs harboring the WT replicon genome, or genomes encoding the NS2A^{F9F}, NS2A^{F9F}NS3^{R516K} or NS3^{R516K} mutations on BHK(VEErep/WNVC*-E/Pac) cells expressing the WNV C-prM-E proteins. Cell monolayers were infected with serial dilutions of the VRPs, overlaid with semisolid medium, fixed, and immunostained with anti-NS1 antibody 48 hours after incubation at 37°C as described in the Methods. The graph represents the counts of cells from 10 individual foci per VRP tested. The line represents the average of the 10 foci values for each group and "*" denotes significance as measured by one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-test (p<0.001).</p>

NS1 is required for flavivirus genome replication, and mutations in NS1 have been shown to alter genome replication in cells in culture (Muylaert et al., 1996; 1997). To determine if the effect of NS1' abrogation was producing the enhanced growth/spread phenotype in packaging cell lines, WT BHK cells were infected with VRPs harboring various replicons and used the short-lived FLUC reporter gene (Thompson et al., 1991) to quantify the levels of their genome replication and polyprotein translation. These studies, shown in Fig.2.12, showed that neither the NS2A^{F9F}, NS3^{R516K}, nor the combined NS2A^{F9F}/NS3^{R516K} mutations significantly altered the levels of replicon amplification at 24 hpi.



Figure 2.12. Replication of VRPs harboring the WT replicon genome, or genomes encoding the NS2A^{F9F}, NS2A^{F9F}NS3^{R516K} or NS3^{R516K} mutations on BHK cells. Cells were cultured in 96-well plates, infected with VRPs and incubated for 24 hrs, when the relative luciferase units (RLU) were measured and then standardized to the number of VRP-infected cells obtained by immunostaining wells infected in a parallel plate (see Methods). Data for each sample are averages of triplicate values with error bars showing standard deviations

DISCUSSION

Flaviviruses display a broad host- and cell-specificity which suggests that these viruses can use a variety of cell surface receptors. Multiple molecules have been identified that can serve as receptors, but the most clearly documented example of a cell-surface component that can be utilized as a receptor is the GAG, HS. Although the role of HS in natural infections by RNA viruses remains unclear, flaviviruses that are adapted to grow in cell culture or in specific animal models can acquire the ability to bind to HS through the acquisition of mutations on the E protein that produce positively charged patches that efficiently bind negatively charged GAGs (Lee and Lobigs, 2000; Mandl et al., 2000; Lee and Lobigs, 2002; Kroschewski et al., 2003; Lee et al., 2004; Lee et al.,

2006; Anez et al., 2009). In the current studies a transpackaging system was used to demonstrate that the DENV2 M/E protein mutations found in the previously reported cell-adapted dengue chimera (Suzuki et al., 2009) improve the specific infectivity of transpackaged particles, explaining the selection of these mutations during the adaptation of the dengue chimera to grow in cell culture. Furthermore, by comparing the specific infectivity of these preparations to those encoding envelopes of two encephalitic flaviviruses, the poorer specific infectivity of particles encapsidated in DENV envelope proteins was clearly demonstrated, which is consistent with work documenting the poor specific infectivity of DENV2 virions (van der Schaar et al., 2007). Interaction among the proteins of positive-strand RNA viruses is one of the hallmarks of these viruses. Among the flaviviviruses, numerous examples of such interactions exist within the structural proteins or within the well-defined non-structural protein complexes. Analyses of viable chimeras created from different species within the Flavivirus genus have revealed additional interactions. Several of these have documented interactions between components known to be involved in genome replication and the structural components of the virion. Among these, there has been a documented interaction of NS1 with the viral replicase via an interaction with NS4A (Lindenbach and Rice, 1999). In a previous report it was demonstrated that adaptation of a DENV/WNV single-cycle chimeric flavivirus to grow to higher titers in a specifically designed packaging cell line resulted in the selection of mutations in NS2A and NS3. Here, it is definitively demonstrated that these mutations exert their growth-enhancing effect by interaction with the structural proteins, and that this growth enhancing effect is more pronounced in the context of DENV2 structural proteins. These data explain how these adaptations arose in response

to the unnatural chimerization. In the case of the mutation in NS3, the mechanism by which this mutation was exerting its phenotype was not completely defined, but the ability of this mutation which lies within the helicase domain of NS3 to improve packaging of the viral genome supports previous evidence showing that changes in the helicase domain can alter encapsidation (Patkar and Kuhn, 2008).

In the case of the NS2A mutation, which was found at codon 9 of the NS2A gene, it was clearly demonstrated that this mutation functions through alteration of a recently documented ribosomal frame shift that produces an altered form of the NS1 protein (NS1') that is a characteristic of members of the JEV/WNV serocomplex of the flavivirus genus (Mason, 1989; Firth and Atkins, 2009; Melian et al., 2010). This interesting effect was evaluated by trans-complementation of genomes carrying the cell-adapted, nonsynonymous mutation in NS2A which ablated the ribosome slippage site. These studies showed that this non-synonymous change increased transpackaging by prM/E proteins, and simultaneously eliminated the production of NS1'. The specific role of the frame shift in these phenotypes was confirmed by studies which demonstrated that synonymous mutations in this frame-shift site produced the same VRP growth-enhancing phenotype and ablation of NS1' production found in the non-synonymous mutation selected in previous blind-passaging studies. Careful analyses of replicons harboring this mutation document that its effect on genome packaging, which was additive with the NS3 mutation, could be observed when packaging was evaluated in cells providing WNV or DENV2 prM/E coats. However, the growth-enhancing phenotype was more dramatic with the DENV2 prM/E coats, consistent with the hypothesis that these lower-specific infectivity coats provided a more significant selective pressure, allowing these mutations

to arise in the chimeric background used for the initial passaging studies. The selection of these mutations is also consistent with preliminary studies showing that the combination of the NS2A frame-shift and NS3 point mutations into a replicon improve VRP yield from DENV E-producing cell lines by improving the specific infectivity of the resulting particles. Since the NS1 gene has been shown to serve a critical function in flavivirus genome replication, additional studies were conducted here to determine if ablation of NS1' by alteration of the slippage site could influence genome replication. These studies showed that abrogation of NS1' had no effect on genome replication, indicating that the mechanism by which NS1' alters particle packaging is due to an effect on virion assembly/release.

The data presented here demonstrating that the NS1' protein alters genome packaging expands the activities ascribed to the multifunctional NS1 protein. Although the precise mechanism of how the larger form of the NS1 protein interferes with transpackaging of genomes into infectious particles has not been determined here, these findings are consistent with other reports showing the slow egress of NS1 through the ER of infected mammalian cells (Mason, 1989), the regulation of its localization to several compartments (Youn et al., 2010), the documented role of NS1 in genome replication (Muylaert et al., 1996; 1997), and interactions with NS4A (Lindenbach and Rice, 1999), all of which indicate that NS1 likely serves as a bridge between RNA synthesis and structural protein assembly. The finding that the extended form of NS1 has an inhibitory effect on virion packaging *in vitro* support this role. However, by themselves, these results are somewhat surprising. The fact that the effect on packaging was less pronounced in the presence of high-specific infectivity encephalitic flavivirus prM/E proteins is consistent with the fact that NS1' has not been observed in other flaviviruses (see above). Interestingly, work by Khromykh and co-workers showed that abrogation of NS1' in a low-virulence isolate of WNV (Kunjin virus) reduced neurovirulence in mice (Melian et al., 2010). Although these studies did not document an effect of NS1' ablation on viral growth, they clearly showed an interesting effect of the NS1' protein in vivo but were unable to demonstrate any effect of the frame-shift ablation on growth of a mutant Kunjin virus in vitro in mammalian or insect cells (Melian et al., 2010). The inability to observe differences in growth of Kunjin viruses with or without the frame-shift mutation is consistent with our studies showing that productive growth of a single-cycle WNV (namely RepliVAX WN) in a complementing cell line was not improved by the introduction of this frame-shift mutation. Finally, although the influence of the frame shift on Kunjin virus neurovirulence may not provide an evolutionary advantage per se, the association of the frame-shift slippage site with the encephalitic flaviviruses likely reflects a selective biological advantage, which could be related to acquisition of additional functions by the larger form of NS1.

CHAPTER 3: Subcapsular sinus macrophages limit dissemination of West Nile virus particles after inoculation but are not essential for the development of West Nile virus-specific T cell responses ¹

INTRODUCTION

Innate immunity to West Nile virus is initiated following recognition by the pattern recognition receptors TLR3 (Wang et al., 2004), TLR7 (Welte et al., 2009), RIG-I, or MDA5 (Fredericksen et al., 2008). Innate immune responses play an essential role in controlling the early stages of viral infection. Beyond the interferon (IFN)-induced cell-intrinsic responses that limit initial viral replication, innate immune cells such as neutrophils and $\gamma\delta$ T cells are known to play a role in host protection by controlling virus infection through direct lysis of virus-infected cells or by production of cytokines (Wang et al., 2003a; Bai et al., 2010). The role of natural killer (NK) cells in WNV infection is not completely understood. NK cell activating receptor NKp44 interacts directly with WNV envelope protein resulting in NK cell activation, production of IFN- γ and expression of cell-lytic properties (Hershkovitz et al., 2009). Although not required for modulating WNV infection in the spleen, a role for NK cells in controlling WNV infection in the liver after WNV infection (Suthar et al., 2013a). Macrophage

¹This chapter was previously published in Virology. This journal allows including information without copyright as long as it is properly cited. The citation for the article is: Winkelmann ER, Widman DG, Xia J, Johnson AJ, van Rooijen N, Mason PW, Bourne N, Milligan GN (2014). Subcapsular sinus macrophages limit dissemination of West Nile virus particles after inoculation but are not essential for the development of West Nile virus-specific T cell responses. Virology 450-451:278-289.

populations are present at peripheral sites as well as in draining LN and therefore may also play a direct role in limiting infection or dissemination of virus through the lymphatics during the initial stages of infection. Additionally, macrophages may play a role in activation or shaping of the adaptive immune response through presentation of viral antigen to antigen-specific cells and the secretion of proinflammatory cytokines/chemokines at the site of infection and in the draining lymph nodes. However, the role of macrophages in limiting virus dissemination and induction of WNV-specific T cell responses is not completely understood. Dendritic cells (DCs) represent a particular family of antigen-presenting cells (APCs) that efficiently link the innate detection of pathogens to the induction of adaptive immune responses. Immature DCs are present throughout the body, especially in regions vulnerable to pathogen invasion, such as the mucosa and skin (Lee and Iwasaki, 2007). Upon infection and consequent recognition of pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) especially by TLRs, DCs start to mature, producing proinflammatory cytokines, expressing costimulatory molecules, altering chemokine receptors and enhancing antigen presentation (Kawai and Akira, 2006; Takeuchi and Akira, 2008). The signals provided to DCs during the maturation process will govern the type of immune responses elicited (Le Bon and Tough, 2008). Different subsets of DCs have been identified in both human and mice (Shortman and Liu, 2002; Heath et al., 2004; Shortman and Naik, 2007), differing in their anatomical region and capability to induce specific immune response depending on the expression of different sets of TLRs (Iwasaki and Medzhitov, 2004).

Activation and development of the WNV-specific CD8⁺ T cell response is complex and involves the interaction of many cytokines and signaling pathways

73

including type I IFN (Pinto et al., 2011; Winkelmann et al., 2012), CD22 (Ma et al., 2013), MDA5 (Lazear et al., 2013), interferon regulatory factor-1 (Brien et al., 2011) and interferon promoter stimulator-1 (IPS-1) (Suthar et al., 2010). Early studies demonstrated that macrophages, B cells and DCs were capable of serving as antigen presenting cells for WNV-specific T cell responses (Kulkarni et al., 1991). However, more recent studies have demonstrated a dominant role for $CD8\alpha^+$ DC in activation of WNV-specific CD8⁺ T cell subsets *in vivo* (Hildner et al., 2008). Interestingly, subcapsular sinus (SCS) macrophages of regional lymph nodes have been shown to play a role in the development of the B cell response to vesicular stomatitis virus (Carrasco and Batista, 2007; Junt et al., 2007), in invariant NKT cell activation (Barral et al., 2010), and recently in antigen presentation and early activation of the acquired immune response (Martinez-Pomares and Gordon, 2012). While SCS macrophages are not required for a developing B cell response (Purtha et al., 2008), the role these cells play in development of CD8⁺ T cell responses to WNV is not fully known.

In the studies presented here, clodronate-liposome depletion of SCS macrophages from lymphoid tissue draining the site of inoculation with the single-cycle flavivirus (SCFV) particle was utilized to examine the role of these cells in controlling the initial infection and dissemination from the site of inoculation. Furthermore, the role of SCS macrophages and DCs as antigen-presenting cells in the initiation of the virus-specific CD8⁺ T cell response was examined. The present data demonstrate that depletion of SCS macrophages from the draining LN results in a diminished ability to confine the initial spread of virus at very early times post infection. Additionally, SCS macrophages are not required for activation of the cell-mediated arm of the adaptive immune response in the draining LN and provide evidence for the antigen-presenting function of specific dendritic cell (DC) subsets from RepliVAX WN-infected mice. These results further illuminate the role of SCS macrophages in protection against WNV during the early stages of infection.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Mice

Seven-week-old B6 mice were purchased from The Jackson Laboratories (Bar Harbor, ME). T cell receptor (TCR) transgenic OT-I mice (Falk et al., 1993) were bred onto a Thy1.1 background and maintained as a breeding colony at the AAALAC-approved Animal Resources Center at the University of Texas Medical Branch (UTMB). TLR3- and MyD88-deficient mice on a B6 background were obtained from Michael Diamond (Washington University, St. Louis, MO) and also maintained as a breeding colony at the UTMB facility. All animal work was approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee with oversight of staff veterinarians.

Cells

Vero cells were maintained in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) (Cellgro, Mediatech, Manassas, VA) containing 6% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (HyClone, Thermo Scientific, Logan, UT), 100 U/mL penicillin, 100 µg/mL streptomycin (GIBCO, Invitrogen, Grand Island, NY) and 20ug/mL Gentamicin (Cellgro). BHK(VEErep/Pac-Ubi-C*) expressing the WNV C protein (Widman et al., 2008a) and BHK(VEErep/WNVC*-E/Pac) cells expressing the WNV C-prM-E proteins (Fayzulin et al., 2006) were propagated in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS and 10 ug/ml puromycin (Cellgro) as previously described (Fayzulin et al., 2006).

Production of RepliVAX WN and related WNV-SCFV particles

RepliVAX WN and the gB/OVA-RepliVAX WN which encodes the epitopes recognized by OT-I and gBT-I CD8⁺ T cells (ovalbumin OVA₂₅₇₋₂₆₄ [SIINFEKL] and HSV gB₄₉₈₋₅₀₅ [SSIEFARL], respectively) (Hogquist et al., 1994; Mueller et al., 2002) inserted into the truncated capsid gene of WNV (Fig. 3.1) were produced in BHK (VEErep/Pac-Ubi-C*) cells as described previously (Widman et al., 2008a). FLUC-SCFV were produced in BHK (VEErep/C*-prM-E-Pac) cells as described previously (Gilfoy et al., 2009). Infectious titers (IU/ml) of RepliVAX WN and WNV SCFV particles were determined on Vero cells as previously described (Fayzulin et al., 2006).



Figure 3.1. Schematic representation of the single-cycle flavivirus (SCFV) genomes. RepliVAX WN genome (A) (Widman et al., 2008a) was used for the construction of gB/OVA-RepliVAX WN (B) containing the HSV gB₄₉₈₋₅₀₅ (SSIEFARL) and ovalbumin OVA₂₅₇₋₂₆₄ (SIINFEKL) peptides. (C) FLUC-SCFV genome, expressing a luciferase reporter gene (Gilfoy et al., 2009).

Depletion of macrophages by injection of clodronate liposomes

To deplete macrophages from the regional draining lymph nodes (LN) of B6 mice, 20ul of a suspension of clodronate-containing liposomes (CCL) containing 5mg/ml

clodronate (Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Mannheim, Germany) or control PBS-loaded liposomes (PBSL) was injected subcutaneously in each footpad (FP) 7 days before SCFV inoculation. CCL and control PBSL were prepared as previously described (van Rooijen and Sanders, 1994). To confirm the depletion, cells from spleen, popliteal LN (pLN) and inguinal LN (ingLN) were stained with fluorochrome-conjugated mAb anti-CD11c (PE) (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA), -F4/80 (APC) (AbD Serotec, Raleigh, NC), -CD11b (FITC) (BD Biosciences) or -MOMA-1 (CD169) (FITC) (AbD Serotec) and data were acquired on a BD LSRII Fortessa and analyzed using FlowJo software (Tree Star, Ashland, OR).

In vivo imaging

Mice were inoculated subcutaneously in both hind FP with FLUC-SCFV (Gilfoy et al., 2009) at a dose of 10⁷ IU/FP 7 days after CCL or PBSL treatment. Prior to inoculation, the posterior half of all animals were shaved to facilitate the acquisition of luciferase signal. Mice were imaged at 14, 24, 36 and 48 hours post-inoculation (hpi). At each time point, mice were injected intraperitoneally with a D-luciferin solution (Caliper LS, Hopkinton, MA) corresponding to the dose of 15 mg/kg body weight. After 20 min to allow D-luciferin distribution, mice were anesthetized with 90mg/kg ketamine and 8mg/kg xylazine, and real-time *in vivo* imaging was performed using a Xenogen IVIS 200 (Caliper LS) with exposure times ranging from 1 to 90 sec at medium binning. The images were analyzed using the Living Image 4.0 software (Caliper LS), where the total flux from each region of interest (ROI) was measured and reported as photons per second (photons/sec). The limit of detection of the luciferase signal was considered to be 10⁴ photons/sec of each ROI analyzed.

Interferon and Cytokine detection

Type I interferon (IFN) was quantified using commercial IFN-alpha (IFN- α) and IFN-beta (IFN- β) ELISA kits (PBL Biomedical Laboratories, Piscataway, NJ), following the manufacturer's protocol. The limit of detection for the assays was 12.5 pg/ml. Cytokine and chemokine levels in the sera of individual RepliVAX WN-inoculated mice were determined using a luminescence-based multiplex bead assay (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) from a panel of 23 cytokines following the manufacturer's protocols as performed previously (Winkelmann et al., 2012).

Enzyme-linked immunospot assay (ELISPOT)

ELISPOT assays were performed as previously described (Nelson et al., 2010) using microtiter filter plates (Millipore, Billerica, MA) coated with purified anti-mouse IFN-gamma (IFN- γ) monoclonal antibody (BD Pharmingen) and incubated at 4°C overnight. Serial dilutions of splenocytes and pooled pLN cells from individual CCL- and PBSL-treated mice were plated and stimulated with an immunogenic peptide representing the WNV-specific CD8⁺ T cell epitope (NS4B₂₄₈₈) (Brien et al., 2007b; Purtha et al., 2007). After 40h incubation, plates were developed with biotinylated anti-mouse IFN- γ (BD Pharmingen) and streptavidin-peroxidase (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) and the number of spots in each well, representing the number of IFN- γ secreting cells (SC), were quantified using an ImmunoSpot reader and analyzed with ImmunoSpot software (Cellular Technology Ltd, Cleveland, OH). The total number of IFN- γ secreting cells were calculated and expressed as IFN- γ SC per spleen or pLN.

Intracellular cytokine staining

Lymphocytes from spleens and pLN from CCL- or PBSL-treated mice were harvested on day 5 or 7 after RepliVAX WN vaccination and were re-stimulated with NS4B₂₄₈₈ peptide and stained for IFN- γ , interleukin-2 (IL-2), and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) as described previously (Winkelmann et al., 2012). Data were acquired on a BD LSRII Fortessa cytometer (BD Biosciences) and analyzed using FlowJo software (Tree Star). The total number of cells secreting IFN- γ , IFN- γ + TNF- α , or IFN- γ + TNF- α + IL-2 was derived by multiplying the % of cells secreting a particular cytokine combination by the total number of viable spleen or pLN cells.

Antigen presentation by DC subsets isolated from RepliVAX WN infected mice

Three days after intraperitoneal inoculation of B6 with $2x10^7$ IU of gB/OVA-RepliVAX WN, splenocytes were harvested and DC were enriched by depletion of B, T and NK cells using anti-CD19, -CD90.2, -CD49 (DX5) microbeads (Miltenyi Biotec, Auburn, CA), following the manufacturer's protocol. Enriched cells were then surfacestained with fluorochrome-conjugated mAb anti-CD8 α (APC), -CD11c (PE) and -CD11b (PE-Cy7) (BD Biosciences) and sorted into CD11b⁺ CD11c⁺ and CD8 α^+ CD11c⁺ subpopulations using a BD FACS Aria. Serial 2-fold dilutions of CD11c⁺ CD11b⁺ or CD11c⁺ CD8 α^+ DC subpopulations were co-cultured with 10⁵ naïve OT-I T cells selected by using the CD8⁺ T cell Isolation Kit II (Miltenyi Biotec) and labeled with 2 μ M of carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester (CFSE) (Molecular Probes, Invitrogen) in 96-well plates. After 72h, cells were surface-stained with fluorochrome-conjugated mAb anti-CD90.2 (PE) (BD biosciences), data were acquired on a BD LSRII Fortessa, and the proliferation of T cells measured as dilution of intracellular CFSE was determined by using FlowJo software (Tree Star).

In vitro studies using bone marrow-derived DC (BM-DC) and BM-macrophages (BM-MØ)

To generate BM-DC, femurs were aseptically collected, extraneous tissues were removed and then both ends of the bone were cut to expose the lumen. Marrow cells were flushed with 4 ml of Hank's Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS) (Sigma-Aldrich) containing 5% new born calf serum (NBCS) (GIBCO, Invitrogen) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin using a 26-gauge needle and pushed through a mesh screen to create a single-cell suspension. After washing the cells once with HBSS, red blood cells were removed using RBC lysis buffer (Sigma-Aldrich) and lymphocytes were washed 3 times with HBSS and resuspended at the concentration of 2×10^6 cells/ml in culture medium [RPMI-1640] (Cellgro) supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% penicillin/streptomycin and 1mM sodium pyruvate (Sigma-Aldrich)] containing 20ng/ml of recombinant mouse granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN) and 20ng/ml recombinant mouse IL-4 (BD Pharmingen). Cells were plated in 100 mm cell culture dishes in a total 10 ml per dish and incubated for 10 days. On day 3, an additional 10 ml of medium was added to each culture dish. On days six and eight, 10 ml of the medium was removed without discarding any cells and fresh medium was added to the culture dishes.

To generate BM-MØ, bone marrow cells were resuspended at $7x10^5$ cells/ml and plated in 100 mm non-treated culture dishes in 10 ml of culture medium containing 100ng/ml of recombinant mouse macrophage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF) (PeproTech, Rocky Hill, NJ) and incubated at 37° C, 5% CO₂ for 7 days. On day 3 an additional 5 ml of medium was added to each culture dish.

Infection of BM-DC and BM-MØ and co-culture with CD8⁺ T cells

BM-DC and BM-MØ were infected with gB/OVA-RepliVAX WN at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 100 for 2 hours at 37°C. Cells were washed 3 times with HBSS, resuspended in culture media and incubated for an additional 24 hours. Serial 2-fold dilutions of infected BM-DC or BM-MØ were co-cultured with 10⁵ naïve OT-I x Thy1.1⁺ CD8⁺ T cells as described above. After 72h, cells were surface-stained with fluorochrome-conjugated mAb anti-CD90.1 (PE) (BD Biosciences), data were acquired on a BD LSRII Fortessa, and the proliferation of T cells was measured as dilution of intracellular CFSE analyzed using FlowJo software (Tree Star).

Statistical analyses

GraphPad Prism (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA) was used to analyze data. Student's t test, one-way or two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with the Bonferroni post-test was used where appropriate. P values less than 0.05 were considered to indicate statistical significance.

RESULTS

SCS macrophages limit SCFV dissemination and SCFV gene expression

Tissue resident macrophages are present at sites of pathogen entry and play important roles in the innate immune response against many viral pathogens. To study the biological function of macrophages in the initial stages of a WNV infection, mice were depleted of macrophages at the site of infection and draining lymph nodes by subcutaneous inoculation of hind FP with CCL (Delemarre et al., 1990) prior to FP inoculation of SCFV (Fig 3.2A). To confirm CCL-mediated depletion from draining lymph nodes, cells from the pLN, ingLN and spleens were harvested 7 days after injection of CCL or PBSL into the hind FP and analyzed for expression of the macrophage surface markers, integrin α_M chain (CD11b) and F4/80, or the SCS macrophage-expressed protein CD169, by flow cytometry. Additionally, lymphoid cells were tested for depletion of DCs by staining for expression of the integrin α_X chain (CD11c). As expected, mice treated with CCL were depleted of CD169⁺ CD11c⁻ cells and, to a lesser extent, F4/80⁺ CD11b⁺ cell populations in the pLN, corresponding to SCS and medullary macrophages, respectively (Fig. 3.2B,C). CCL treatment did not deplete macrophages from the ingLN. Additionally, consistent with reports by others (Delemarre et al., 1990; Purtha et al., 2008), FP administration of CCL did not deplete macrophage populations from the spleen. As shown in Fig. 3.2D, treatment of mice with CCL did not result in significant reduction of DCs (CD11b⁺, CD11c⁺) from any of the lymphoid tissues tested.



Figure 3.2. Macrophage depletion after subcutaneous FP injection of CCL. Seven days post injection, cells from the spleen, pLN and ingLN were analyzed for the expression of CD11b, CD11c, F4/80 and MOMA-I (CD169) by flow cytometry. (A) Schematic showing lymphatic drainage from the footpad. The percentage of (B) CD169⁺ CD11c⁻ cells (SCS macrophages), (C) CD11b⁺ F4/80⁺ cells (medullary macrophages) or CD11b⁺, CD11c⁺ (dendritic cells) from CCL- or PBSL-treated mice are shown. Error bars indicate standard deviation (3 mice per group). P value determined by Student's t test.

Macrophages can function in protection through direct clearance of viral particles and evidence from depletion studies by others suggests that they are essential to control systemic WNV infection and limit infiltration of virus into the central nervous system (Ben-Nathan et al., 1996). However, it is not clear from these studies if macrophages play a role in control of the initial dissemination of virus from the site of inoculation or provide protection only at later stages of infection. Assessing control of dissemination of the initial wild type viral inoculum is complicated by the presence of continuous virus replication and new rounds of infection. Therefore, we visualized the initial dissemination of FLUC-SCFV from the FP in control-treated and macrophage-depleted mice using an in vivo imaging system (IVIS). Groups of B6 mice received PBSL or CCL, were inoculated in the hind FP with FLUC-SCFV, and imaged at intervals between 14 and 48 hpi. SCFV-encoded FLUC gene expression was quantified at the FP site of infection, draining LN and spleen. As shown in Fig. 3.3, luciferase bioluminescence was detected in the FP of all CCL- and PBSL- treated mice at 14 hpi, and by 24 hpi differential expression of FLUC was detected in the FP and lymphoid tissues of macrophage-depleted and control mice.



Figure 3.3. Role of macrophages in limiting the dissemination of SCFV. CCL- or PBSL-treated B6 mice were inoculated subcutaneously in both hind FP with 10⁷ IU of FLUC-SCFV on day 7 after liposome injection. Mice were imaged at 14, 24, 36 and 48 hpi. Representative images of mice at 14 hpi and 24 hpi.

The results of IVIS analysis of FLUC-SCFV dissemination to specific tissues are shown in graphic form in Fig. 3.4. Expression of FLUC-SCFV genes was readily detected in the hind FP of all FLUC-SCFV-infected mice. At 14 hpi, FLUC gene expression at this site was detected at similar levels in the CCL- and PBSL-treated groups. However, expression increased approximately 10-fold in the CCL-treated mice and was significantly higher than expression in PBSL-treated mice at all time points from 24-48 hpi (p<0.001, Fig. 3.4A). Lymphatic drainage of the hind FP of mice involves both the pLN and ingLN (Harrell et al., 2008). The luciferase bioluminescence detected in the pLN of CCL- and PBSL-treated mice was nearly equivalent at 14 hpi and was absent in both mouse groups by 36 hpi. Interestingly, at 24 hpi FLUC gene expression was detected in all PBSL-treated mice but in only 2 of 10 pLN in macrophage-depleted mice although at a significantly higher expression level (p<0.01) (Fig. 3.4B). In the ingLN, luciferase bioluminescence was detected in 5 of 8 in PBSL-treated mice at 14 hpi and expression decreased thereafter such that FLUC activity was detected at low levels in only 1 of 8 ingLN at 48 hpi. By contrast, FLUC gene expression was significantly higher at 14 hpi in the ingLN of CCL-treated group (p < 0.01), and remained higher at the 24, 36, and 48 hours time points (Fig. 3.4C). A greater frequency of CCL-treated mice expressed FLUC activity in the ingLN at both 36 and 48 hpi: 7 of 10 compared to 3 of 8 in PBSLtreated mice at 36 hpi and 6 of 10 compared to 1 of 8 in PBSL-treated mice at 48 hpi (Fig. 3.4C). Luciferase bioluminescence was not detected at any time point in the spleens of PBSL-treated mice although it was detected at high level in all CCL-treated mice at 14 hpi (p<0.001, Fig. 3.4D).


Figure 3.4. Magnitude of SCFV gene expression *in vivo* in SCS macrophage-depleted and control-treated B6 mice. Images were taken at the indicated time points and bioluminescence was observed using up to 90 seconds exposures at medium binning. The total flux emanating from each region of interest (ROI) was measured for the indicated tissues from each mouse group. Each point represents the measurement of one ROI (in the cases of FP and LN, two per animal) and the line represents the average of all site per group (macrophagedepleted, n=5; control group, n=4) above the limit of detection (LOD). **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, two-way ANOVA, Bonferroni post test.

Higher serum IFN-α level in macrophage-depleted mice

Type I IFN are produced by many cells types and have a critical function as an initial mechanism to prevent virus infection through their antiviral effects. To investigate the effects of macrophage depletion at the regional site of infection on systemic production of type I IFN, we measured the amount of IFN- α and IFN- β in the serum of mice at 24 hpi. Interestingly, the serum level of IFN- α was two-times higher in the macrophage-depleted group (p<0.0001) (Fig. 3.5). IFN- β was not detected in any treatment group. This result is consistent with our previous report showing that IFN- β is produced at low levels in mice inoculated with a single-cycle flavivirus (Bourne et al., 2007).



Figure 3.5. Serum levels of IFN- α in SCS macrophage-depleted and control-treated B6 mice. Sera were collected at 24 hpi from the mice described in Fig. 3.3 and the IFN- α concentration was determined by ELISA. A mock-infected CCL-treated mouse was included as an additional control. Each point represents the IFN- α levels of each mouse and the line represents the average per group of mice. ****p<0.0001, Student's t test.

Cytokines and chemokines were quantified in the sera of RepliVAX WNinoculated mice at 14, 24, 48, 72, 120, and 168 hpi. As shown in Fig. 3.6, serum levels of IL-1 β , IL-6, CCL2, CCL4, and CCL5 peaked at 14 hpi in both CCL- and PBSL-treated mice and declined precipitously thereafter. Serum levels of IL-12p70, and TNF- α remained at baseline levels until 72 hpi before rising through 168 hpi. Levels of IL-6 and CCL2 were significantly higher at 14 and 24 hpi in CCL-treated compared to PBSLtreated mice. However, for IL-1 β , IL-12p70, TNF- α , CCL4, and CCL5 the pattern and quantity of cytokines and chemokines produced following RepliVAX WN FP inoculation were not different between CCL- and PBSL-treated mice.



Figure 3.6. Serum levels of selected cytokines and chemokines in SCS macrophagedepleted and control-treated B6 mice. Mice were inoculated in the FP with 10^7 IU of RepliVAX WN and sera were collected at 14, 24, 48, 72, 120, and 168 hpi and assayed for the indicated cytokines and chemokines. The results represent the mean response of 3 mice/group (* p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001, Two-way ANOVA).

SCS macrophages are not required to initiate a WNV-specific CD8⁺ T-cell response

Beyond phagocytosis of viral particles and production of cytokines, macrophages can serve as potent APCs and may therefore play a critical role in presenting WNV antigen to and activating naive WNV-specific T cells in draining LN. To examine the requirement for SCS macrophages to initiate the WNV-specific CD8⁺ T cell response, mice were CCL- or PBSL-treated prior to inoculation with FLUC-SCFV. As shown in Figure 3.7, the number of IFN- γ -secreting cells specific for the immunodominant CD8⁺ T cell epitope of the NS4B protein, NS4B₂₄₈₈, was not different in the spleen or draining LN between PBSL-treated and CCL-treated mice.



Figure 3.7. SCS macrophages present at the regional site of infection are not required to promote the development of WNV-specific CD8⁺ T cell response. SCS macrophage-depleted and control B6 mice were inoculated with 10^7 IU of FLUC-SCFV at day 7 after liposome injection. The two pLN were pooled for individual animals (A) and spleens (B) were harvested at day 7 post infection and cells were used for quantification of the number of IFN- γ -secreting cells (IFN- γ SC) specific for the WNV NS4B₂₄₈₈ CD8⁺ T cell epitope by ELISPOT. Each point represents the number of IFN- γ SC from pooled LN of individual mice and the line represents the mean per group of mice. Data are representative of two independent experiments.

These data suggest that SCS macrophages are not required for development of the cell-mediated response. This result is not due to an inability of macrophages to present virus-derived epitopes as BM-MØ infected with gB/OVA-RepliVAX WN efficiently presented virus-expressed ovalbumin SIINFEKL epitope to naïve OVA-specific OT-I T cells resulting in T cell proliferation (Fig. 3.8A). These results suggest that other cells, such as DC most likely served as the APC in macrophage-depleted mice. Consistent with this notion, co-culture of naïve OT-I T cells and BM-DC infected with gB/OVA-RepliVAX WN also resulted in T cell replication (Fig. 3.8B). Additionally, DC isolated from the spleens of gB/OVA-RepliVAX WN-infected mice were also capable of presenting antigen to naïve OT-I T cells. Two major populations of spleen DC have been described: CD11b⁺ CD8a⁺ CD11c⁺ and CD11b⁺ CD8a⁻ CD11c⁺ (Anjuere et al., 1999). OVA-specific T cell proliferation was observed following culture with either CD11b⁺ CD8a⁻ CD11c⁺ (Fig. 3.8C) or CD11b⁻ CD8a⁺ CD11c⁺ (Fig. 3.8D) DC subsets isolated on day 3 post inoculation, consistent with the role of these cells as professional APC.



Figure 3.8. Ability of macrophages and dendritic cells to stimulate CD8⁺ T cell proliferation. Serial dilutions of BM-MØ (A) and BM-DC (B) infected with gB/OVA-RepliVAX WN at a MOI of 100 were co-cultured with constant numbers of naïve OT-1 CD8⁺ T cells for 72 hours (see material and methods). Bars represent proliferation of T cells measured by CFSE signal dilution. Error bars represent standard deviation of duplicates or triplicates from each dilution. (C) and (D) B6 mice were immunized with $2x10^7$ IU gB/OVA-RepliVAX WN. On day 3, cells from spleen were harvested and CD11b⁺ CD8a⁻ CD11c⁺ (C) and CD11b⁻ CD8a⁺ CD11c⁺ (D) DC subpopulations were sorted by flow cytometry and co-cultured with naïve CD8⁺ T cells from OT-I mice as described above (see also materials and methods). Bars represent proliferation of T cells measured by CFSE signal dilution and error bars represent standard deviation of two independent experiments.

Further, the possibility that SCS macrophages played a role in determining the quality of the CD8⁺ T cell response was examined by measuring the polyfunctionality of WNV-specific effector $CD8^+$ T cells in the ability to simultaneously produce IFN- γ . TNF-α, and IL-2. As shown in Fig. 3.9A, cytokines were produced as a result of stimulation of CD8⁺ T cells from RepliVAX WN-inoculated mice with the peptide representing the immunodominant epitope from the NS4B protein, but not following stimulation with an irrelevant peptide or medium only. Both the frequency and total number of CD8⁺ T cells producing IFN- γ only, IFN- γ + TNF- α , or IFN- γ + TNF- α + IL-2 were very similar between spleen cells (Fig. 3.9B,C, F, G) or pLN cells (Fig. 3.9D, E, H, I) from PBSL-treated and CCL-treated mice on both day 5 and day 7 post inoculation. The only exceptions were that significantly higher numbers of spleen cells producing IFN- γ + TNF- α were detected on day 5 and the frequency of pLN cells secreting only IFN- γ reached significance on day 5. The presence of these cytokine producing cells is likely responsible for the high serum concentration of TNF- α (Fig 3.5) and IFN- γ (data not shown) at 120 and 168 hpi. In total, these data indicate that depletion of SCS macrophages had little effect on the development of CD8⁺ T cell effector function in the draining LN following RepliVAX WN inoculation.



Figure 3.9. Cytokine production by WNV-specific CD8⁺ T lymphocytes is not affected by depletion of SCS macrophages. CCL- or PBSL treated B6 mice (n=6) were inoculated in the FP with 10⁷ IU RepliVAX WN. Lymphocytes from spleen and pLN were harvested on day 5 (n=2) or day 7 pi (n=4), stimulated and assayed for production of cytokines as described in methods. (A) Representative staining for IFN- γ and TNF- α in splenocytes stimulated with NS4B peptide, irrelevant peptide, or medium. The mean (± SD) frequency (B, D, F, H) or total cell number (C, E, G, I) of cytokine producing CD8⁺ T cells from the spleen or pLN (*p <0.05).

Influence of TLR3- and MyD88-dependent signaling pathways in effective DC APC function for initiation of WNV-specific T cell response

Since SCS macrophages were not required for development of WNV-specific cell-mediated response, the APC function of DC was further investigated. During WNV replication, double-stranded and single-stranded viral RNA are recognized in the endosome by TLR3 and TLR7, respectively. While TLR3 recruits the TRIF adaptor molecule, TLR7 utilizes the MyD88 molecule to stimulate the induction of type I IFN and inflammatory cytokines, and both of these signaling pathways are known to be involved in the development of B and T cell responses. Hence, to start to dissect the role of these two signaling pathways in WNV-specific immune response, the APC function of DCs derived from knockout mouse strains were compared with the WT strain. BM-DCs from B6, TLR3-deficient (TLR3^{-/-}) and MyD88-deficient (MyD88^{-/-}) mice were infected with gB/OVA-RepliVAX WN and tested for the capability of presenting antigen to naïve OT-I CD8⁺ T cells. As shown in Fig. 3.10, T-cell responses were induced by DC of all mouse strains. However, MyD88^{-/-} showed a significantly lower ability to stimulate Tcell proliferation at 1:16-1/64 dilutions of DCs, indicating a lower frequency of DCs with APC function.



Figure 3.10. Percentage of CD8⁺ T cell proliferation upon stimulation with BMderived DCs infected with gB/OVA RepliVAX WN. BM-DC were infected at MOI 100 and cultured for 24 hrs. Constant numbers of CD8⁺ T cells (labeled with CFSE) from naive OT-I transgenic mice were cocultured with different numbers (2-fold dilutions) of BM-DCs for 72 hrs (in duplicate). Flow cytometry was used to measure proliferation of T cells by CFSE signal dilution. Error bars represent standard deviation. **p<0.01. ***p<0.001.

The expression of activation/maturation and costimulatory markers in both naïve and infected BM-DCs was also analyzed. MyD88^{-/-} BM-DCs showed a poorer surface expression of MHC-II and CD80 molecules compared to WT or TLR3^{-/-} BM-DCs (Fig 3.11), indicating a lower maturation/activation phenotype compared to the B6 mice. Overall, these results suggest that these signaling pathways are not absolutely essential during antigen presentation for the development of the CD8⁺ T-cell response. However, DCs from MyD88^{-/-} mice demonstrated a lower ability to present antigen to naïve CD8⁺ T cells, indicating a deficiency in exert their APC function.



Figure 3.11. Expression of activation/maturation and co-stimulatory markers in BM-DCs. Naïve and gB/OVA RepliVAX WN-infected BM-DC were stained with fluorochrome-conjugated monoclonal antibodies and submitted to flow cytometry. The median fluorescence intensity (MFI) was measured from CD11c⁺CD11b⁺ cells. Error bars represent standard deviation. *p<0.05.

DISCUSSION

Tissue macrophages play a key role in maintaining homeostasis through phagocytosis and removal of pathogens and cellular debris and they represent one of the first immune cells to encounter virion particles following injection of arboviruses into a mammalian host. Macrophages can be productively infected with WNV (Kyle et al., 2007; Prestwood et al., 2012) although viral replication is controlled by downstream effects of type I IFN mediated in part by innate intrinsic protective mechanisms involving IRF-1, PKR, and RNase L (Samuel et al., 2006; Kong et al., 2008; Brien et al., 2011; Lazear et al., 2011). Because of the highly phagocytic nature of tissue macrophages, it is generally assumed that these cells play a role in limiting the initial spread of virus from the site of infection. This may occur through direct phagocytosis and destruction of virion particles or through elicitation of immune reactive molecules that initiate the infiltration and activation of a variety of innate host cells. This notion has been tested in several studies of flavivirus infection by assessing virus titers in peripheral and neuronal tissues following selective depletion of macrophages from the site of infection and from draining

LN. Depletion of macrophages prior to infection with WNV (Ben-Nathan et al., 1996; Purtha et al., 2008) resulted in periods of extended viremia with elevated levels of virus culminating in enhanced virus infiltration of the central nervous system and accelerated development of encephalitis. Similar findings were reported in a murine model of dengue virus infection (Fink et al., 2009). Macrophages are involved in the orchestration of early innate immune events as well as the activation and influence on the adaptive immune system and therefore these effects on flavivirus infection in macrophage-depleted animals may reflect loss of one or several critical functions. The use of single-cycle WNV particles allowed focusing on the role of macrophages in the initial infection as well as on downstream effects on activation of the adaptive immune response. The results of the present study extend previously reported findings (Ben-Nathan et al., 1996; Purtha et al., 2008), by demonstrating that macrophages act as a natural filter to limit virus dissemination early after initial infection. Depletion of SCS macrophages from pLN resulted in spread of the FLUC-SCFV to the spleen within the first 14 hours after infection. Additionally, luciferase bioluminescence was detected at increased levels at the FP in these mice suggesting that tissue macrophages eliminated FLUC-SCFV particles (or infected cells) and limited the infection at the site of inoculation. Although macrophages can produce type I IFN in response to infection with WNV SCFV particles, this early resistance most likely did not involve type I IFN as serum levels of IFN- α were approximately 2-fold higher in macrophage-depleted mice. These results suggest type I IFN production was not macrophage-dependent and are consistent with production of high levels of type I IFN by alternative cell types, such as plasmacytoid DC (Swiecki and Colonna, 2010). Similarly, serum levels of IL-6 and CCL2 were also higher at early time

points in macrophage-depleted animals suggesting that production of these cytokines may be driven by the higher levels of virus gene expression in CCL-treated mice. However, depletion of macrophages had no discernible effect on serum levels of IL-1 β , CCL4, CCL5, IL-12p70, and TNF- α following RepliVAX WN inoculation.

Lymph which drains from body tissues enters the regional LN through the afferent lymphatics and empties initially into the SCS. Numerous macrophages have been shown to line both the subcapsular and medullary sinuses of the LN. A population of SCS macrophages expressing CD169 has been shown to play a critical role in capture and removal of virus particles from the lymph and to prevent hematogenous virus spread (Junt et al., 2007). This filtration function was shown to occur as early as 2 hpi with vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) and was required for efficient passage of virion antigen from the SCS to LN B cells located in superficial follicles (Junt et al., 2007). Subsequent studies by Purtha et al. (2008) found that SCS macrophages were not required for early B cell activation and development of the WNV-specific antibody response. In addition to the role of SCS macrophages in the development of B cell response (Carrasco and Batista, 2007; Junt et al., 2007) and iNKT cell activation (Barral et al., 2010), recent evidences also demonstrate the function of this cell population in antigen presentation and early activation of the acquired immune response (Martinez-Pomares and Gordon, 2012). The results of the present study extend these findings by examining the requirement of SCS macrophages in activation of the WNV-specific CD8⁺ T cell response in the draining LN. In agreement with reports by others (Kulkarni et al., 1991), both SCFV-infected macrophages and DC presented antigen to antigen-specific T cells. Importantly, these results demonstrate that SCS macrophages in the draining pLN were

not required for induction of an antigen-specific $CD8^+$ T cell response or for development of effector T cell function. This function was likely provided by DC and in this study it was further shown that both $CD11b^+$ $CD8\alpha^ CD11c^+$ and $CD11b^ CD8\alpha^+$ $CD11c^+$ DC subsets isolated from spleens of WNV SCFV particle inoculated mice were capable of presenting virus-encoded antigen to naïve T lymphocytes.

TLR3 and MyD88-dependent signaling pathways are important in regulating the innate immune response to WNV. TLR3 has been demonstrated to be unessential for the IFN response and control of WNV infection in cells including DC and macrophages (Daffis et al., 2009). In contrast, TLR3 signaling has been shown to limit WNV replication in the CNS (Wang et al., 2004; Kim et al., 2008). MyD88 signaling has also been associated with WNV protection, triggering the innate immune response and contributing to migration of immune cells to the site of replication (Town et al., 2009; Szretter et al., 2010). Both TLR3 and MyD88 are implicated in the regulation of adaptive immune response, although the mechanisms are still not well defined. A recent study demonstrated a lower T cell response in TLR3- and MyD88-deficient mice compared to the WT mouse strain (Xia et al., in preparation). Here, it was verified that DCs from TLR3- and MyD88-deficient mice maintain their ability to prime antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells, suggesting that the defects observed in T cells from TLR3^{-/-} and MyD88^{-/-} mice are not entirely due to the APC function of DCs. On the other hand, the lower proliferation of T cell stimulated by MyD88^{-/-} DCs at 1:16-1/64 dilutions may reflect differences in antigen processing, which is in agreement with studies demonstrating that MyD88 is required for efficient cross-priming of virally infected cells (Chen et al., 2005). Also, the lower effectiveness of MyD88^{-/-} DCs in APC function may influence the

diminished T cell response in this mouse strain. Another possibility is that TLR3 and MyD88 signaling pathways play an important role in maturation of lymph node homing of skin DCs.

Overall, the results of this study demonstrate that SCS macrophages play an active role in limiting dissemination of virus from the site of entry to the spleen at very early times after inoculation. Tissue macrophages act at the site of inoculation and reduce infectious load while subcapsular macrophages in the draining LN act to prevent spread through the lymphatics and ultimately into the spleen. Although SCFV-infected macrophages are capable of presenting antigen to and activating naïve CD8⁺ T cells, SCS macrophages are apparently not essential for initiating the cell-mediated immune response or for development of effector T cell function. These results extend previous results suggesting a role for macrophages in preventing entry of WNV into the central nervous system and clarify the role for this important innate immune cell in the early stages of infection.

CHAPTER 4: Intrinsic adjuvanting of a novel single-cycle flavivirus vaccine in the absence of type I IFN receptor signaling ¹

INTRODUCTION

IFN systems are known to play important roles in innate and adaptive immune responses to microbial infection (Le Bon and Tough, 2002). Type I IFNs are induced when cells recognize viral components such as double-stranded RNA through pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) including TLRs, retinoic acid-inducible gene I (RIG-I), melanoma-differentiation-associated gene 5 (MDA5) and double-stranded RNA-activated protein kinase R (PKR) (Le Bon et al., 2001). Type I IFNs initiate signaling cascades that result in the activation of transcription factors that regulate expression of IFN-stimulated genes (ISGs) that are important for the control and elimination of viral infection. The recognition of viral components via PRRs and the subsequent induction of immune response proteins including proinflammatory cytokines and type I IFNs are also responsible for the intrinsic adjuvanting of the immune responses to live-attenuated vaccines. Type I IFNs have been shown to act as adjuvants when given in combination with antigen resulting in the enhancement of antibody responses (Le Bon et al., 2001). In addition, type I IFNs mediate the immunological effects of potent adjuvants such as complete Freund's adjuvant (Proietti et al., 2002; Prchal et al., 2009).

¹This chapter was previously published in Vaccine. This journal allows including information without copyright as long as it is properly cited. The citation for the article is: Winkelmann ER, Widman DG, Ishikawa T, Xia J, Miller-Kittrell M, Nelson MH, Bourne N, Scholle F, Mason PW, Milligan GN (2012). Intrinsic adjuvanting of a novel single-cycle flavivirus vaccine in the absence of type I interferon receptor signaling. Vaccine 30(8):1465-1475.

The interplay between replication of attenuated viral vaccines and the effectiveness of the IFN response is expected to be critical in determining the outcome of vaccination. Specifically, the intensity of the IFN response would be predicted to help adjuvant the adaptive immune response ensuring development of protective immunity. Conversely, IFN responses leading to strong acute antiviral activity could prematurely eliminate attenuated virus infections reducing vaccine potency and efficacy. Therefore, successful live-attenuated vaccines need to induce a balanced, but not overwhelming IFN response. In the studies presented here, the influence of type I IFNs on SCFV gene expression and development of adaptive immunity following vaccination with an SCFV vaccine candidate, RepliVAX WN, was examined to determine the role of type I IFNs in the intrinsic adjuvanticity of the RepliVAX WN vaccine.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Viruses, SCFVs, and WNV Antigen (Ag)

RepliVAX WN was produced in BHK (VEErep/Pac-Ubi-C*) cells as previously described (Widman et al., 2008a). Firefly luciferase (FLUC)-expressing SCFV particles (FLUC-SCFV) were produced in BHK(VEErep/C*-prM-E-Pac) cells as previously described (Gilfoy et al., 2009). Titration of RepliVAX WN and FLUC-SCFV particles on Vero cells was performed as previously described (Rossi et al., 2005).

WNV SVPs used for ELISPOT and ELISA were produced by infection of Vero cells with RepliVAX WN under conditions analogous to those used to infect BHK (VEErep/Pac-Ubi-C*) (Widman et al., 2008a). Clarified cell culture supernatant containing WNV SVPs was concentrated using centrifugal filtration, and SVPs were

purified on a sucrose gradient prior to use. WNV truncated E and WNV NS1 antigens were obtained from clarified culture fluids harvested from cultures of VEErep-bearing BHK cells as previously described (Widman et al., 2008a).

Mice

C57BL/6J (B6) mice were obtained from The Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME). B6 mice lacking the type I IFN receptor (IFNAR^{-/-}), were bred from founders obtained from Dr. Anthony French (Washington University, St. Louis) (Banks et al., 2005). All animal work was approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committees of the University of Texas Medical Branch with oversight of staff veterinarians.

Immunization of mice with RepliVAX WN

To assess cytokine levels, and WNV-specific Ab or T cell responses, mice were immunized by the intraperitoneal (i.p.) route. Mice were immunized in the footpads for *in vivo* imaging and for assessment of gene expression in draining lymph nodes. RepliVAX WN inocula were delivered in L-15 medium containing 10mM HEPES and 0.5% FBS.

WNV-specific Ab detection

Virus neutralization assays were performed as described previously (Widman et al., 2008a; 2009). Determination of WNV-specific IgG levels was performed by a modification of the ELISA method described previously (Widman et al., 2008a). Briefly, serial 2-fold dilutions of sera from individual mice were added to ELISA plates coated previously with recombinant soluble WNV E (trE), NS1 proteins, or with purified WNV SVPs. Plate-bound IgG was developed with HRP-IgG (Southern Biotech) or with

biotinylated anti-mouse IgG1 or IgG2c (BD Pharmingen, San Diego, CA) followed by incubation with streptavidin peroxidase (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). Normalized OD readings at 450nm (OD450) obtained from the serial dilution studies were subjected to non-linear regression analyses to calculate the serum dilution equivalent to three standard deviations above OD450 values from sera obtained from mock-vaccinated animals.

Interferon and cytokine detection

IFN-α and IFN-β ELISAs (PBL Biomedical Laboratories, Piscataway, NJ) were performed using the manufacturer's protocols. Briefly, experimental sera were diluted, plated and incubated for 1 hour (h) at 37°C. Samples were washed and bound IFN was detected by addition of mouse IFN-specific Ab followed by an HRP-conjugated secondary Ab and measurement of the OD₄₅₀. IFN levels were calculated using a standard curve generated from serial dilutions of an IFN standard in dilution buffer containing normal mouse sera as previously described (Bourne et al., 2007). The limit of detection was 12.5 pg/ml for IFN-α and 15.6 pg/ml for IFN-β. Additional cytokine levels in the pooled sera of inoculated mice were determined using a luminescence-based multiplex bead assay (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) from a panel of 23 cytokines following the manufacturer's protocols.

RT-PCR analyses

Popliteal LN were harvested from vaccinated mice and stored overnight at 4°C in RNALater (Ambion, Austin, TX). Total LN RNA was isolated and DNase-treated using the RNAqueous 4 PCR Kit (Ambion) and then used to synthesize cDNA with the RT2 First Strand Kit (SABiosciences, Frederick, MD). Cytokine mRNA levels were determined at the indicated times by real-time PCR using a SYBR Green-based custom PCR array (SABiosciences) and thermocycler settings recommended for use with a BioRad iCycler. Cytokine levels of RepliVAX WN treated mice (3 mice/group) were represented as fold-change over mock-infected animals (2 mice/group).

Enzyme-linked immunospot assay (ELISPOT)

ELISPOT assays for antibody secreting cells (ASC) were performed as described previously (Nelson et al., 2010) using microtiter filter plates coated with WNV NS1 or SVP Ag. Ag-specific ASC were quantified using an ImmunoSpot reader and analyzed with ImmunoSpot software (Cellular Technology Ltd, Cleveland, OH).

For IFN- γ ELISPOT assays, splenocytes from RepliVAX WN-immunized or mock-infected mice were plated on filter plates coated with purified anti-mouse IFN- γ (BD Pharmingen) and stimulated with immunogenic peptides representing WNV CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell epitopes as described previously (Nelson et al., 2010). Immunogenic peptides representing the CD8⁺ T cell epitopes located at NS4B protein residues 2488-2496 (NS4B₂₄₈₈), E protein residues 347-354 (E₃₄₇) and the CD4⁺ epitopes located at NS3 protein residues 2066-2080 (NS3₂₀₆₆), and E protein residues 641-655 (E₆₄₁) have been described previously (Purtha et al., 2007; Brien et al., 2007b; 2008). Plates were developed with biotinylated anti-mouse IFN- γ (BD Pharmingen) and streptavidinperoxidase (Sigma-Aldrich) and were quantified as described above for ASC ELISPOTs.

In vivo cytotoxic T lymphocyte assay

WNV NS4B-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte activity in RepliVAX WNimmunized mice was quantified by injection of CFSE-labeled target cells as described previously (Nelson et al., 2010). Four h after injection, NS4B₂₄₈₈-pulsed and mock-pulsed CFSE-labeled target populations were quantified using a BD FACSCanto (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA) and data were analyzed using FlowJo software (Tree Star, Ashland, OR). The percent specific lysis was calculated as described previously (Nelson et al., 2010).

Intracellular cytokine staining

Whole spleens from B6 or IFNAR^{-/-} mice taken on day 6 after RepliVAX WN vaccination were re-stimulated with 1µM NS4B₂₄₈₈ peptide for 2 h followed by 6 h incubation with brefeldin A. Cells were blocked with anti-Fc RII/III mAb and surface stained with anti-CD8a (APC) and CD3 (PerCPCy5.5) then permeabilized using a Cytofix/Cytoperm kit and subsequently stained intracellularly with fluorochromeconjugated mAb for IFN- γ (FITC), IL-2 (PE) and TNF- α (PE-Cy7). All reagents were purchased from BD Pharmingen. CD8⁺, CD3⁺ T cells were segregated into distinct populations based on the production of IFN- γ , IL-2 or TNF- α either individually or in combination. No cytokines were detected in cultures re-stimulated with an irrelevant peptide (gB₄₉₈₋₅₀₅), in the absence of NS4B₂₄₈₈ peptide, or in T cells from naïve mice. Data were acquired on a BD LSRII Fortessa (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA) and analyzed using FlowJo software (Tree Star). The total number of splenocytes secreting IFN- γ , IFN- γ + TNF- α , or IFN- γ + TNF- α + IL-2 was derived by multiplying the % of cells secreting a particular cytokine combination by the total number of viable splenocytes.

In vivo imaging (IVIS)

The posterior half of all animals was shaven prior to immunization with FLUC-SCFV. At 14, 24, 48, 72, 96 h and 168 h following immunization, animals were injected i.p. with D-luciferin (Caliper LS) in a solution of PBS corresponding to a dose of 0.15 mg/g body weight. After allowing 20 min for dissemination of D-luciferin, animals were anesthetized with ketamine and xylazine, and real-time *in vivo* imaging was performed using a Xenogen IVIS 200 (Caliper LS, Hopkinton, MA) at medium binning with exposure times ranging from 1-90 sec. Images were analyzed by drawing regions of interest around visible sites of FLUC activity and measuring total flux (photons per second; p/sec) and data were acquired using Living Image 4.0 software (Caliper LS). Reported FP averages are the average total flux from FP from all animals in a treatment group.

Statistical analyses

Statistical differences for T and B lymphocyte assays and IFN levels were determined using Student *t* test (unpaired) or ANOVA with the Tukey or Bonferoni post test as appropriate. Values for p<0.05 were considered significant. All calculations were performed using GraphPad Prism software version 5.0 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA).

RESULTS

Type I IFN and cytokine responses to RepliVAX WN

To test if immunization with the SCFV particle RepliVAX WN resulted in production of type I IFNs and IFN-dependent proinflammatory molecules, groups of B6 and IFNAR^{-/-} mice were immunized with RepliVAX WN and serum was collected at 8, 24, and 48 h for detection and quantification of IFN- α and IFN- β . IFN- α was detected at 8 hpi in RepliVAX WN-inoculated B6 mice but not IFNAR^{-/-} mice (Fig. 4.1A). Peak IFN- α levels were detected at 24 h in both mouse strains and fell to low levels by 48 hpi. IFN- α levels observed in RepliVAX WN-immunized B6 mice were significantly higher than in IFNAR^{-/-} mice (p<0.05, Student *t* test) at these three time points. IFN- β was not detected in sera obtained from either strain of mice at any time following immunization (data not shown), consistent with previous studies using a similar SCFV (Bourne et al., 2007).



Figure 4.1. IFN- α and chemokine responses to RepliVAX WN immunization. Groups of 5 B6 and IFNAR^{-/-} mice were immunized i.p. with 3.0×10⁷ IU of RepliVAX WN and serum was collected at the indicted times. The IFN- α concentration (A) was determined by ELISA (*p<0.03, **p<0.0003 compared to same time points for B6-IFNAR^{-/-} mice). The limit of detection for IFN- α was 12.5 pg/ml. The concentration of CCL2 (B) (*p<0.007, **p<0.0005 compared to same time points for IFNAR^{-/-} mice), CCL5 (C) (*p<0.05 compared to same time point for IFNAR^{-/-} mice), and CXCL1 (D) (*p<0.006 compared to same time point for IFNAR^{-/-} mice) were measured by a luminescence-based multiplex bead assay. Results are representative of 2 separate experiments. The limits of detection for CCL2, CCL5, and CXCL1 were 14.0, 5.0, and 3.0 pg/ml, respectively.

Signaling through the type I IFN receptor culminates in the transcription of a number of ISGs and in the expression of a number of immunologically active proteins

such as chemokines and pro-inflammatory cytokines. Following immunization with RepliVAX WN, increased expression of the chemokines CCL2 (MCP-1) (Fig. 4.1B) and CCL5 (RANTES) (Fig. 4.1C) was detected in the serum of B6 but not in IFNAR^{-/-} mice. These results are consistent with previous reports that type I IFNs induce expression of these chemokines (Cremer et al., 2002; Jia et al., 2009). As with IFN- α , these chemokines were only transiently detected, with peak levels observed at 24 h. By contrast, CXCL1 (KC) was induced by RepliVAX WN immunization independently of type I IFN receptor status, since both B6 and IFNAR^{-/-} mice showed similar kinetics of induction over a 72 h period (Fig. 4.1D). To further examine the results of type I IFN receptor signaling following RepliVAX WN inoculation, the transcription of a number of cytokine and chemokine genes in the draining LN following FP inoculation was assessed. As expected due to the well-known autocrine signal amplification through the IFN receptor (Malmgaard et al., 2002), B6 mice exhibited a much higher level of induction of type I IFN, cytokines, and ISGs than did IFNAR^{-/-} mice at both 12 h and 24 hpi (Fig. 2.2). An interesting exception was the induction of the IL-1 β gene which exhibited a greater than 50-fold increase over baseline at both time points in IFNAR^{-/-} mice but was unchanged in B6 controls. These data are consistent with the recent report that type I IFN signaling inhibits both pro-IL-1^β transcription and the activity of the cellular machinery (NLRP1 and NLRP3 inflammasomes) necessary to process pro-IL-1ß into mature IL-1ß (Guarda et al., 2011). Taken together, these results demonstrate that immunization with SCFVs results in type I IFN production, initiation of downstream IFN-stimulated gene pathways, and induction of specific cytokines and chemokines.



Figure 4.2. Relative cytokine expression in draining LN following RepliVAX WN immunization. B6 and IFNAR^{-/-} were immunized subcutaneously in the rear FP with 2.0×10⁷ IU RepliVAX WN and popliteal LN were removed for PCR analysis. Cytokine gene expression profiles from cDNA from draining LN harvested at 12 h (left) and 24 hpi (right). Values represent fold increases over mock-immunized animals. For immunized animals n=3, for mockimmunized animals n=2.

Type I IFN responses limit SCFV gene expression

The binding of type I IFNs to the type I IFN receptor results in induction of several antiviral gene programs that inhibit viral gene expression and limit virus spread. While these responses are important for protection against pathogenic organisms, it is possible that they may also limit the development of protective adaptive immune responses following immunization with live-attenuated viral vaccines. Using a firefly luciferase-expressing SCFV, FLUC-SCFV, it was verified if the type I IFN responses elicited by SCFV inoculation inhibited SCFV gene expression or limited the tissue distribution of FLUC-SCFV-infected cells. Groups of B6 or IFNAR^{-/-} mice were inoculated in the FP with FLUC-SCFV and imaged at intervals between 14 and 168 hpi. SCFV-encoded gene expression was readily detected in FP tissue of FLUC-SCFV-infected mice (Fig. 4.3A), but not uninfected mice (Fig. 4.3B) as early as 14 hpi. Additionally, transient FLUC bioluminescence was frequently observed in draining pLN

at 14 and 24 hpi (Fig. 4.3A), but rarely at 48 or 72 hpi and never after 96 hpi (data not shown). In contrast to gene expression in the LN, FLUC-SCFV gene expression was sustained at the inoculation site with FLUC bioluminescence detectable for over 4 d after SCFV inoculation (Fig. 4.3C). FLUC intensity was over 100-fold higher in the FP of IFNAR^{-/-} mice compared to B6 mice (p<0.001, Student *t* test) between days one and three post-inoculation (please note different scales in the various photographs in Fig 4.3A and B). The FLUC signal then rapidly decreased in IFNAR^{-/-} mice and from day 4 FLUC bioluminescence levels decayed in a manner similar to the luminescence in WT animals (Fig. 4.3C).



Figure 4.3. Magnitude of SCFV gene expression in vivo in B6 and IFNAR^{-/-} mice inoculated with FLUC-SCFV. Groups of B6 or IFNAR^{-/-} mice were inoculated s.c. in both rear FP with 1×10⁷ IU FLUC-SCFV and imaged at the indicated time points. Bioluminescence was observed using up to 1.5 min exposures at medium binning, was analyzed by measuring total flux emanating from each FP, and is reported as the average over time of all FP from each mouse genotype. Please note different scales in the various photographs in (A) and (B). n=4 mice per genotype. Error bars represent standard deviation. ***p<0.001.

Type I IFN receptor signaling influences development of adaptive immunity to RepliVAX WN

Type I IFN has been shown to influence the magnitude and effector function of developing adaptive immune responses (Le Bon et al., 2001; Jego et al., 2003; Curtsinger et al., 2005; Havenar-Daughton et al., 2006). To determine if signaling via the type I IFN receptor played a critical role in the intrinsic adjuvanting of the SCFV vaccine, groups of B6 and IFNAR^{-/-} mice were immunized with RepliVAX WN. Mice were bled at 7 dpi to test for early influences of type I IFNs on antibody production. Both strains of mice produced NS1-specific (Fig. 4.4A) and SVP-reactive antibodies (Fig. 4.4B) in response to immunization. B6 mice produced significantly greater titers of serum IgM but similar levels of serum IgG specific for both WNV antigens compared to IFNAR^{-/-} mice (p<0.01, Student t test). Type I IFN has been reported to influence class switching and IgG subclass expression of developing antibody responses (Coro et al., 2006). To test this, the expression of IgG1 and IgG2c by WNV-specific serum antibodies in RepliVAX WNimmunized B6 and IFNAR^{-/-} mice was examined (Fig 4.4C-E). Strong serum IgG responses reactive with 3 different WNV antigens were induced in both mouse strains. RepliVAX WN-immune IFNAR^{-/-} mice generally produced more IgG1 antibody than B6 mice but the difference only reached significance for the NS1 antigen (p<0.05, ANOVA). Both mouse strains produced predominantly IgG2c subclass antibody. However, B6 mice produced significantly more WNV E antigen-specific IgG2c antibody than IFNAR^{-/-} mice (p<0.05, ANOVA, Fig. 4.4E). The functional activity of serum antibodies also did not differ between the strains of mice. The 90% neutralization titers for B6 and IFNAR^{-/-} mice were 1:160 and 1:80, respectively, on day 21 dpi.



Figure 4.4. Effect of type I IFN receptor signaling on WNV-specific Ab responses following immunization with RepliVAX WN. Groups of IFNAR^{-/-} and B6 mice were immunized with 10⁶ IU RepliVAX WN i.p. and the endpoint titers on day 7 post immunization for serum IgG and IgM antibody specific for WNV NS1 (A) or WNV SVP (B) were determined for individual mice. Results are pooled from 2 experiments (n=15 mice/group for IgG, n=20 mice/group for IgM). Endpoint titers of IgG, IgG1, and IgG2c Ab specific for WNV NS1 (C), SVP (D), or E proteins (E) were determined by ELISA from 21 and 28 day samples. Results are pooled from 2 experiments (n=10 mice/group). (F) WNV NS1 and SVP-specific antibody secreting cell response in the bone marrow of RepliVAX WN immunized mice. Groups of 5 IFNAR^{-/-} and B6 mice were immunized with 10⁶ IU RepliVAX WN i.p. On day 28, cells were harvested from the femurs of immunized mice and analyzed by ELISPOT for IgG ASC specific for WNV NS1 or SVPs. Data are presented as the mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM) of WNVspecific IgG-producing cells per bone marrow from individual mice. The results shown are from a representative experiment of 2 performed.

Long-lived plasma cells in the bone marrow are thought to serve as the major, long-term source of antigen-specific IgG Ab in serum (Slifka et al., 1995). To test if the absence of type I IFN signaling would alter development of this cell subset, bone marrow cells from femurs were harvested 28 d after RepliVAX WN immunization and quantified for the total NS1- and SVP-specific IgG ASC by ELISPOT (Fig. 4.4F). The number of NS1-specific and SVP-specific IgG ASC was lower in IFNAR^{-/-} mice compared to B6 mice; however, in neither case did the difference reach significance.

Cell-mediated immune responses to RepliVAX WN in the absence of type I IFN receptor signaling

Type I IFNs have been reported to play an important role in determining the magnitude and function of the T cell responses to many different pathogens (Kolumam et al., 2005; Havenar-Daughton et al., 2006; Thompson et al., 2006). To determine if type I IFN receptor signaling was required for development of the vaccine-induced T lymphocyte response, groups of B6 and IFNAR^{-/-} mice were immunized with RepliVAX WN and assessed for the magnitude and effector function of the WNV-specific T cell responses.

Vigorous CD4⁺ T cell responses to 2 immunodominant CD4⁺ T cell epitopes (Brien et al., 2008) were observed in both RepliVAX WN-immunized IFNAR^{-/-} and B6 mice (Fig. 4.5A). Consistent with previous results (Nelson et al., 2010), the IFN- γ secreting cell response of splenocytes from immunized B6 mice to the NS3₂₀₆₆ peptide was of greater magnitude than the response to the E₆₄₁ epitope on both days 9 and 14. A similar response pattern to these epitopes was observed in RepliVAX-immunized IFNAR^{-/-} mice. Interestingly, the NS3₂₀₆₆-specific response in IFNAR^{-/-} mice was significantly higher than the response of B6 mice on day 14 post-immunization (p<0.02, Student *t* test) suggesting a more prolonged response to this epitope whereas the response to the E₆₄₁ epitope in B6 and IFNAR^{-/-} mice was of similar magnitude on both days 9 and 14.



Figure 4.5. Type I IFN receptor signaling is not required for the intrinsic adjuvanting of T cell responses against RepliVAX WN. (A) CD4⁺ T cell response. B6 or IFNAR^{-/-} mice were immunized with 10⁶ IU RepliVAX WN and the number of IFN- γ -secreting cells specific for the NS3₂₀₆₆ or E₆₄₁ CD4⁺ T cell epitopes were quantified by ELISPOT on days 9 and 14. Results are expressed as the number of IFN- γ -secreting cells/spleen (mean \pm SEM) and are compiled from 2 separate experiments (n=10-12 mice/group). (B) CD8⁺ T cell responses to the NS4B₂₄₈₈ epitope were quantified by detection of intracellular IFN- γ by flow cytometry on day 6. Results are expressed as the number of IFN- γ secreting cells/spleen (mean \pm SEM) and are compiled from 2 separate experiments (n=6-9 mice/group). (C) Representative histograms of CFSE-labeled target cells in spleens of naïve and RepliVAX WN-immunized B6 and IFNAR^{-/-} mice 4 days after immunization. Numbers in each histogram represent the % No-peptide targets (CFSE_{low}) and % NS4B₂₄₈₈ peptide-pulsed targets (CFSE_{hi}) for an individual animal. (D) Cytotoxic CD8⁺ T lymphocyte activity from B6 and IFNAR^{-/-} mice after RepliVAX WN immunization. The percentages of CFSE_{low} and CFSE_{hi} targets derived as shown in (C), were used to calculate a % specific lysis as described previously [18]. Results are expressed as the % specific lysis (mean \pm SEM) from 5 mice/group for NS4B₂₄₈₈-coated targets (*p<0.005, **p<0.0001 compared to RepliVAX WN-immunized B6 mice). Naïve mice routinely exhibited <2% specific lysis.

The magnitude of the effector $CD8^+$ T cell response was measured by quantification of IFN-y-producing cells using intracellular cytokine staining and flow cytometry. Strong $CD8^+$ T cell responses to the immunodominant epitope NS4B₂₄₈₈ were observed on day 6 post-immunization in both B6 and IFNAR^{-/-} mice (Fig. 4.5B). However, the IFN-y producing cell response was significantly higher in IFNAR^{-/-} mice (p<0.0001, Student *t* test) representing a greater than 6-fold increase in the total number of WNV NS4B-specific, IFN- γ -producing cells. The effector function of CD8⁺ T cells of RepliVAX WN-immunized B6 and IFNAR^{-/-} mice was further assessed by measuring the in vivo cytotoxicity response against the immunodominant NS4B₂₄₈₈ epitope (Fig. 4.5C, D). High levels of WNV NS4B-specific cytotoxicity were observed in both strains of mice at the peak of the response on day 6. However, consistent with the significantly greater IFN-y response of IFNAR^{-/-} mice (Fig. 4.5B), the percent specific lysis of NS4B₂₄₈₈-pulsed target cells in IFNAR^{-/-} mice was significantly higher on days 4 (p<0.005, Student t test), and 10 (p<0.0001, Student t test) compared to B6 mice, indicating a more rapid and prolonged CD8⁺ T cell response.

To determine if the quality of the CD8⁺ effector T cell response would be altered in the absence of IFNAR signaling, the cytokine production profile of WNV NS4Bspecific T cells induced by RepliVAX WN was examined. Given the significantly greater increase in SCFV gene expression in IFNAR^{-/-} mice (Fig. 4.3), it was considered that increased antigen load in these mice, rather than the lack of IFNAR signaling, may be responsible for any influence in cytokine production patterns. To control for this possibility, IFNAR^{-/-} mice were inoculated with SCFV at a dose either representing an equivalent number of RepliVAX WN particles used to immunize B6 mice or with a dose that would result in equivalent SCFV gene expression relative to inoculated B6 mice. To determine the dose of SCFV that would result in equivalent gene expression in IFNAR^{-/-} mice relative to B6 mice. B6 mice were inoculated with a full dose of FLUC-SCFV particles and IFNAR^{-/-} mice were inoculated with a series of dilutions (1/8, 1/64, 1/512) of the same FLUC-SCFV inoculum. FLUC-SCFV gene expression was visualized and quantified by IVIS analysis on days 1-4 (Fig. 4.6A). Over the first three days post inoculation, gene expression in IFNAR^{-/-} mice that received a 1/512 dilution of FLUC-SCFV most closely approximated, and was not different from gene expression in B6 mice that received the full FLUC-SCFV dose. Because dendritic cells isolated from SCFV inoculated mice are already loaded with SCFV antigen by day three post immunization (Winkelmann et al., 2014), a dose of 2×10³ IU RepliVAX WN (1:500 dilution of SCFV inoculum) was utilized in IFNAR^{-/-} mice to approximate the gene expression and antigen load resulting from inoculation of B6 mice with 10⁶ IU RepliVAX WN in subsequent experiments. Fig. 4.6B shows the percentage of NS4B-specific CD8⁺ T cells from lowor high-dose RepliVAX WN immunized mice which produced IFN-y alone or simultaneously produced IFN- γ + TNF- α or IFN- γ + TNF- α + IL-2. Overall, the cytokine production pattern associated best with the presence or absence of IFNAR signaling rather than with antigen load. Specifically, the percentage of cells secreting IFN-y alone was significantly higher (p<0.0001, ANOVA) in IFNAR^{-/-} mice immunized with either a high or low SCFV dose compared to B6 mice while the percentage of cells secreting IFN- γ + TNF- α was significantly lower in these mice (p<0.0001, ANOVA). A similar fraction of NS4B₂₄₈₈-specific CD8+ T cells from B6 and IFNAR^{-/-} cells simultaneously produced IFN- γ , TNF- α and IL-2 regardless of immunizing SCFV dose or mouse strain.

As expected from Fig 4.5B, the total number of CD8⁺ T cells secreting IFN- γ , IFN- γ + TNF- α , or IFN- γ + TNF- α + IL-2 (Fig. 4.6C) was significantly higher in high dose IFNAR^{-/-} mice compared to B6 mice or IFNAR^{-/-} mice immunized with a low dose of RepliVAX WN (p<0.0001, ANOVA).



Figure 4.6. Cytokine production by WNV NS4B-specific CD8⁺ T cells following RepliVAX immunization of B6 and IFNAR^{-/-} mice. (A) SCFV gene expression in IFNAR^{-/-} mice compared to B6 mice. B6 mice were inoculated in the FP with 10^7 IU FLUC-SCFV. IFNAR^{-/-} mice received a 1:8 (1.25×10⁶ IU), 1/64 (1.56×10⁵ IU), or 1/512 (1.95×10⁴ IU) dilution of the same inoculum. Mice were imaged at the indicated time points. Bioluminescence was observed using up to 1.5 min exposures at medium binning followed by measuring total flux emanating from each FP, and is reported as the average over time of all FP from each group (n=4 mice/group) (*p<0.01, ANOVA). (B) Whole splenocyte populations were harvested from B6 or IFNAR^{-/-} mice on day 6 after primary RepliVAX WN vaccination and re-stimulated with NS4B₂₄₈₈ peptide prior to characterization by multiparameter flow cytometry. The results shown are compiled from 4 separate experiments (n=3 to 9 mice/group). (C) The number of total cells per spleen secreting IFN- γ , IFN- γ + TNF- α , or IFN- γ + TNF- α + IL-2 from the mice described in (B) was derived by multiplying the percent of cells secreting a particular cytokine combination by the total number of viable splenocytes.

Together, these results suggest that antigen dose affected the magnitude of the $CD8^+$ T cell response whereas IFNAR signaling influenced the cytokine production pattern of WNV-specific $CD8^+$ effector T cells. Interestingly, the loss of IFNAR

signaling apparently did not influence all effector functions as high levels of WNVspecific cytotoxicity were detected in IFNAR^{-/-} mice.

Type I IFNs have been reported to play an important role in development of memory T cell responses to several pathogens (Kolumam et al., 2005; Thompson et al., 2006). To test if the development of WNV-specific memory T cell responses to a SCFV particle required type I IFN activities, groups of B6 or IFNAR^{-/-} mice were immunized with RepliVAX WN and quantified for WNV-specific memory T cells in the spleen 56 days post-immunization. As shown in Fig. 4.7, CD8⁺ memory T cells specific for the NS4B₂₄₈₈ and E_{347} epitopes were present at significantly higher levels in IFNAR^{-/-} mice compared to B6 mice (p<0.001, Student *t* test). Similarly, development of the RepliVAX WN-induced CD4⁺ memory T cell did not require signals generated through the type I IFN receptor as comparable numbers of memory T cells specific for the CD4⁺ T cell epitopes NS3₂₀₆₆ and E_{641} were detected in both strains of mice. Although greater numbers of CD4⁺ memory T cells were detected in IFNAR^{-/-} mice compared to B6 controls, the difference did not reach significance.



Figure 4.7. CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ memory T cell response in B6 and IFNAR^{-/-} mice 8 weeks following RepliVAX WN immunization. Groups of mice were immunized with RepliVAX WN and splenocytes removed after 8 weeks for quantification of WNV-epitope-specific T cells by ELISPOT. Results are from a representative experiment of 2 performed (n=5/group/experiment).

DISCUSSION

The limited infections established by SCFVs make them ideal tools for examining the relative influence of the antiviral and adjuvanting aspects of the type I IFN response following immunization. Specifically, SCFVs can efficiently replicate their RNA genomes within cells thereby activating the intrinsic IFN induction system from these initially infected cells, yet their inability to produce progeny virions prevent them from producing a lethal systemic disease in immunocompromised animals. RepliVAX WN infection is expected to produce PRR ligands that bind to multiple PRRs including TLR3 (Wang et al., 2004; Daffis et al., 2008), TLR7 (Fredericksen et al., 2008; Town et al., 2009), the cytoplasmic helicases RIG I and MDA5 (Fredericksen et al., 2008), or PKR (Randall and Goodbourn, 2008) leading to the production of type I IFNs. In addition to establishing an antiviral environment in virus-infected and surrounding cells, type I IFNs have also been shown to influence development of the adaptive immune response (Marrack et al., 1999; Le Bon et al., 2001; Jego et al., 2003; Curtsinger et al., 2005; Havenar-Daughton et al., 2006) and have been shown to act as an adjuvant when injected in combination with protein antigens or commercial influenza vaccines (Le Bon et al., 2001; Proietti et al., 2002). Moreover, type I IFNs have been shown to be responsible for the adjuvanting activity of both complete and incomplete Freund's adjuvants and for the TLR9-dependent adjuvant, IC31 (Proietti et al., 2002; Prchal et al., 2009). Thus, following immunization with live-attenuated viral vaccines such as RepliVAX WN, type I IFNs may potentially negatively influence the development of adaptive immune responses by diminishing the availability of antigen through inhibition of viral gene expression in infected cells. Alternatively, they may positively influence the adaptive
immune response by directly mediating the intrinsic adjuvanting of the vaccine. The current studies examined the influence of the host type I IFN system on RepliVAX WN infection and gene expression, and ultimately how this interaction between host response and viral infection shaped the adaptive immune response to RepliVAX WN immunization.

Infection of B6 mice with RepliVAX WN was sufficient to induce production of type I IFNs, which ultimately influenced the quantity and composition of immunologically active molecules produced by immunized mice. Analysis of cytokine, chemokine, and ISG expression in the LN of RepliVAX WN-immunized mice revealed differences between B6 and IFNAR^{-/-} strains, with the knockout mice displaying lower levels of gene induction for type I and II IFN, CXCL9, and IL-6. Interestingly, genes for other chemokines (CXCL10, CCL2, CCL3, CCL4) were induced to greater levels in the LN of B6 mice at 12 hpi, but by 24 hpi these levels were equivalent in wt and IFNAR^{-/-} mice. Taken together, these results demonstrate that type I IFNs are important for defining the milieu of immune molecules induced by RepliVAX WN immunization, which potentially influences the development and mobilization of innate and adaptive immune responses. The ability to initiate an innate response, including type I IFNs, and subsequent adaptive immune response in the absence of prolonged viral replication may also be important for limiting vaccine reactogenicity. Early immunization studies with low doses of live attenuated flaviviruses resulted in reactogenicity due to viremia resulting from inadequate initial innate immune responses (Sanchez et al., 2006). The single-cycle nature of the RepliVAX WN immunization thus allows immunization over a

range of doses to maximize vaccine efficacy while preventing reactogenicity that could result from vaccine virus replication.

To evaluate the role of type I IFNs in controlling expression of antigen by RepliVAX WN, in vivo imaging experiments of animals inoculated with FLUC-SCFVs were performed to observe the distribution and magnitude of SCFV infection in the presence or absence of IFNAR signaling. These studies revealed an approximately 100fold increase in FLUC gene expression in IFNAR^{-/-} mice from days 1-3 postimmunization, demonstrating that type I IFN played an important role in controlling SCFV gene expression. It was further observed that FLUC-SCFV-infected cells produced a robust signal at the site of inoculation, while infected cells were observed transiently in the draining popliteal LN and occasionally in more distal LNs at later times regardless of the ability of mice to respond to type I IFNs. These results confirm previous finding that WNV antigen and genomes were detected in the draining LN of mice after SCFV infection (Bourne et al., 2007). These studies further suggest that SCFVs infect a population of cells that migrate from the site of inoculation through the lymphatic system to the draining LN, and/or that the SCFV particles themselves are transported via lymph to the draining LN where they infect resident cells. The IVIS studies also revealed that SCFV gene expression was maintained for several days at the inoculation site. Since soluble Ags (SVPs and NS1) released from cells at the inoculation site could also traffic to lymphoid tissues and contribute to immune responses, it is impossible to determine the relative importance of SCFV-infected cells within the draining LN and the inoculation sites in the development of the immune responses elicited by SCFV vaccines.

Type I IFNs have been shown to exert a range of actions that directly affect the magnitude and quality of the Ab response. They may act on B cells either directly or indirectly through the activation of dendritic cells early in the response to viral infection to enhance B cell expansion and induction of activation markers (Braun et al., 2002; Coro et al., 2006; Purtha et al., 2008). Type I IFNs have also been shown to protect B cells from apoptosis in vitro (Braun et al., 2002). Consistent with these findings, early Ab responses to influenza (Coro et al., 2006) and VSV (Fink et al., 2006) infections in mice have been shown to be diminished in the absence of type I IFN receptor signaling. In the current studies, the lack of type I IFN receptor signaling resulted in reduced early (day 7) serum IgM responses to RepliVAX WN immunization but had little effect on the IgG antibody response at any time point measured. While type I IFNs have been reported to influence IgG isotype expression (Le Bon et al., 2001), the lack of type I IFN receptor signaling had only modest effect on the magnitude or subclass expression in the current studies. IgG1 titers against WNV antigens were generally higher in IFNAR^{-/-} mice; however they were significantly higher than IgG1 titers in B6 mice only for WNV NS1specific antibodies. The IgG Ab response to RepliVAX WN-immunization was predominated by IgG2c subclass Ab in both strains of mice. Together, these results could be interpreted to indicate that type I IFNs were not required for the development of a WNV-specific IgG antibody response following immunization with RepliVAX WN. However, this interpretation is confounded by the finding that SCFV gene activity in IFNAR^{-/-} mice was over 100 times greater over a 3 day period compared to wt mice. It remains possible that the limited effects that loss of type I IFN signaling had on B cell

responses in IFNAR^{-/-} mice in the current studies might be a result of increased SCFV gene expression and thus high antigen loads in IFNAR^{-/-} mice compared to B6 mice.

Induction of the RepliVAX WN-induced CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell responses did not require signaling through the type I IFN receptor suggesting that type I IFNs do not mediate the intrinsic adjuvanting of RepliVAX WN. These results are in contrast to reports of deficient CD4⁺ T cell responses in IFNAR^{-/-} mice due to lack of type I IFN survival signals for virus-specific CD4⁺ T cells (Havenar-Daughton et al., 2006). Interestingly, the reported strict requirement for type I IFN for ensuring clonal expansion of CD4⁺ T cells has been shown to be pathogen-dependent (Havenar-Daughton et al., 2006), suggesting that inflammatory milieus resulting from different infections may provide the necessary factors for clonal expansion and survival. In the case of RepliVAX WN immunization, the inflammatory milieu in RepliVAX WN-immunized IFNAR-/mice was sufficient to support development of a vigorous CD4⁺ T cell response suggesting type I IFN was not required for expansion of this subset. The apparent lack of requirement for type I IFN signaling for the optimal development of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ responses in our studies compared to previous results by others may thus reflect differences in the inflammatory milieu due to background strain of IFNAR^{-/-} mice employed or the pathogen system utilized.

Type I IFNs have been shown to have direct effects on T lymphocytes including inhibition of proliferation *in vitro* (Dondi et al., 2003), influencing T cell survival (Marrack et al., 1999) and enhancing T cell clonal expansion (Kolumam et al., 2005; Havenar-Daughton et al., 2006). Similarly, type I IFNs have been shown to be necessary as a third signal for development and differentiation of CD8⁺ T cell responses in some

126

infection models (Kolumam et al., 2005) although not in others (Valenzuela et al., 2002; Thompson et al., 2006), suggesting redundancy of function by other cytokines including IL-12. In the studies presented here, although IL-12 was not detected in the serum of immunized mice using a luminescence-based cytokine assay, it was detected in the serum of IFNAR^{-/-}, but not B6 mice, at 24 h post immunization using an ELISA-based assay (data not shown) and may have provided the required third signal for development of this T cell subset. Additionally, a vigorous WNV-specific CD8⁺ T cell response was detected in the absence of type I IFN receptor signaling that was significantly greater than the response of wt mice. Because the magnitude of the CD8⁺ effector T cell response in B6 and IFNAR^{-/-} mice was dependent on the immunizing dose (Fig. 4.6C), the greater magnitude response in IFNAR^{-/-} mice compared to B6 mice most likely reflected the higher expression of SCFV genes, and thus SCFV antigen, in IFNAR^{-/-} mice compared to B6 mice in the first 72 h after immunization. These studies demonstrate that type I IFNs did, however, play a role in the development of CD8⁺ T cell effector function in that the cytokine production patterns of WNV-specific CD8⁺ T cells, measured at the single cell level, were altered in the absence of type I IFN receptor signaling. Importantly, WNVcytotoxicity appeared unaffected by loss of type I IFN signaling. T cell responses to pathogens display functional heterogeneity and much evidence suggests that the simultaneous production of multiple cytokines and and/or expression of cytolytic function by individual T cells is important for infection control (Seder et al., 2008). Interestingly, under conditions of prolonged antigen exposure or exposure to very high antigen loads, T cells undergo a stepwise loss of function involving progressive loss of IL-2 and TNF- α production (Wherry et al., 2003). In the current studies, while CD8⁺ T

cell responses in IFNAR^{-/-} mice were of significantly higher magnitude compared to wt mice and expressed cytolytic activity, a significant proportion of these cells had lost the ability to produce TNF- α and IL-2. This loss of production of these cytokines by CD8⁺ T cells in IFNAR^{-/-} mice was not associated with increased viral gene expression compared to wt mice and strongly suggests that the type I IFN may directly influence some aspects of effector function such as cytokine production without affecting other effector functions such as virus-specific cytotoxicity.

Taken together, the results of these studies have interesting implications for the ability of attenuated vaccines to produce consistent immune responses in vaccinated populations. Specifically, it has been shown that type I IFN controls the early genome replication and expression of viral genes after immunization with a single-cycle vaccine. Vigorous adaptive immune responses developed in the absence of type I IFN receptor signaling, suggesting that type I IFN is not essential for the intrinsic adjuvanting of the RepliVAX WN vaccine. Conversely, although type I IFN decreased SCFV gene expression and presumably antigen load in B6 mice, strong WNV-specific antibody and T cell responses were elicited by RepliVAX WN immunization of B6 mice, suggesting that type I IFN does not greatly impair the magnitude of the developing adaptive immune response to this single cycle vaccine. Overall, the magnitude of the WNV-specific IgG response to WNV proteins was not significantly altered in the absence of type I IFN receptor signaling; however, the quality of the CD8⁺ effector T cell response measured as the ability of individual cells to simultaneously produce more than one cytokine was diminished in IFNAR^{-/-} mice suggesting that type I IFN receptor signaling plays a role in shaping cytokine production in antigen-specific effector T cell responses.

CHAPTER 5: Conclusions and Future Directions

Flaviviruses are responsible for important diseases affecting the human population. Every year, millions of cases of severe disease are reported and many more remain unidentified or misdiagnosed. Different factors contribute to the spread of flaviviral diseases. Climate changes, viral evolution and adaptation, preventive measures of control, and advances in global transportation are examples of factors that can contribute to the introduction of diseases into new regions of the world. Dengue is one example of a tropical disease that has emerged/re-emerged into subtropical and temperate areas of Europe and North America. In the last years, several autochthonous dengue cases have been reported in the continental area of the US, including Florida and Texas (Anez and Rios, 2013). The introduction of WNV into the US also reflects how a disease can rapidly spread over a continent. WN disease, which was first reported in New York City in 1999, disseminated all across the country in only 3 years (see Figure 1.5, Chapter 1). One of the largest outbreaks of human WN disease occurred in 2012, after a few years of non-expressive number of cases. All of the factors responsible for this increased incidence are still uncertain, although changes in the climate and in the mosquito vector may have played a role (Petersen, 2012).

Vector control and host vaccination are among the most reliable methods to specifically prevent diseases caused by flaviviruses. Among successful flaviviral vaccines licensed for human use are the YFV 17D live-attenuated vaccine, Japanese encephalitis inactivated and live-attenuated vaccines, and tick-borne encephalitis inactivated vaccines. On the other hand, there is still need for vaccines to prevent dengue and WN diseases in humans. In the case of dengue, the biggest challenge is to produce an effective vaccine that induces simultaneously an equivalent protective immunity against all four DENV serotypes. Currently, tetravalent candidate dengue vaccines are being tested at different stages of human clinical trials. For WN disease, several human vaccines candidates are at different stages of development. However, due to the overall low incidence of WN disease, the interest for the availability of a commercial vaccine has been decreased. Also, because of this low incidence, human trials are difficult to conduct in order to prove the effectiveness of the vaccine candidates in humans.

The studies presented in this dissertation were designed to better understand different aspects of the single-cycle flavivirus vaccine candidate RepliVAX interaction with target cells, innate immune cells, and adaptive immune cells. The central hypothesis tested was that RepliVAX can be used as a tool to identify mechanisms involved in optimal virus replication and the development of immune response against flavivirus diseases to enhance the production and immunogenicity of this vaccine. Since RepliVAX can advance to a single, but complete round of replication, mimicking the initial natural virus infection, targeting lymphoid tissues and stimulating the host immune response, it is an excellent model to study flavivirus replication and immune response.

Adaptive mutations in RepliVAX D2

In the first part of this work, the enhanced growth properties of RepliVAX D2, a chimeric single-cycle vaccine, were investigated. RepliVAX D2 was generated from a C gene-deleted WNV genome (RepliVAX WN), where the prM and E genes of WNV were replaced by the prM and E genes of DENV2 (Suzuki et al., 2009). This chimeric vaccine

initially showed poor growth, which was enhanced following blind passaging in Cexpressing cells, which led to the acquisition of specific mutations in the prM, E, NS2A and NS3 coding regions (Suzuki et al., 2009). Using a transpackaging system, it was demonstrated that the acquired mutations in the structural region ($M^{R9G,V13E}$ and E^{K120T}) improved specific infectivity, especially for the DENV2 prM/E coats. The mechanism that explain the improvement of the specific infectivities probably relies on the increased positive charge residues, which facilitate binding to cellular receptors with negative charges such as HS. Additionally, the acquisition of these mutations could aid molecular interactions that improve the maturation of newly formed particles. Structural studies could help to determine if the amino acid substitutions have an effect in conformational changes in the virion surface that could be advantageous for its infectivity. For example, cryoelectron microscopy (cryo-EM) reconstruction of the RepliVAX D2 could directly show the structure and the ratio of mature and immature particles present in the constructs containing or not the adaptive mutations. Based on the specific infectivity studies, it is possible to speculate that the particles with the adaptive mutations contain much more mature virions, counting for their increased specific infectivity.

Furthermore, it was demonstrated that the mutations acquired in the non-structural region of RepliVAX D2 (NS2A^{S9F} and NS3^{R516K}) have an effect by interacting with the structural proteins, showing an enhanced growth effect especially for DENV2 structural proteins. For the NS2A mutation, it was demonstrated that this mutation disrupts a known ribosomal slip site, preventing the synthesis of NS1', which is an altered/larger form of NS1 present in members of the JEV serogroup (encephalitic flaviviruses). This effect was also confirmed by introduction of a synonymous mutation at the same mutated site,

showing the prevention of NS1' formation and increased viral production. The functions of the NS3 mutation still need to be determined. It is known that this mutation is localized in the helicase domain of NS3, which is critical for the encapsidation process. The NS2A and NS3 mutations showed an additive effect on viral growth, increasing the incorporation of E protein into infectious particles, but not having an effect on genome replication. These studies were important not only to reveal particular functions of flavivirus proteins, but also to show the feasibility of generation of chimeric vaccines and how they can be adapted to produce a better yield. One point that still needs to be addressed is in regard to the potency of this adapted chimeric vaccine. In vivo studies could be performed to determine if the changes in the proteins would have any effect on infection and antigen expression in vivo as well as in the magnitude of the immune response. Since RepliVAX D2 contains the WNV-specific CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ immunodominant T cell epitopes into the WNV backbone of the vaccine, one easy way forward would be to test the magnitude of T cell response elicited by this chimeric vaccine using similar approaches as described in chapters 3 and 4. ELISPOT assays could be used to determine the number of IFN- γ -secreting cells, as well as measure B cell response using DENV (E protein) and WNV (NS1 protein) antigens. Additional DENVspecific T cell epitopes also could be tested. Intracellular cytokine staining can be utilized to measure the activation status and effector function of these cells after RepliVAX D2 immunization. DENV2 challenge experiments where mice would be immunized with different doses of RepliVAX D2 to compare with the original construct (without the adaptive mutations) could be useful to demonstrate the potency of the vaccine in a dose dependent manner, indicating the effects of the adaptive mutations toward the

improvement of the vaccine, which is expected to be more immunogenic and efficacious, and ideally could produce a stronger immune response to give a better protection to the vaccinee.

Macrophages and dendritic cells in WNV infection

In the next portion of this work, the role of cellular innate immunity, specifically macrophages and DC, against WNV was investigated. First, to study the function of macrophages in the initial dissemination of SCFV particles and further APC function for the activation of WNV-specific T cell response, clodronate liposome (CCL) depletion was used to eliminate macrophages from the site of inoculation (subcutaneous FP inoculation). This approach has been successfully utilized in several works to study macrophage function. Macrophage depletion of the draining LN and spleen was assessed by flow cytometry using macrophage- and DC-specific cell markers. As expected, subcapsular sinus (SCS) macrophages and most of medullary macrophages were depleted from the pLN, while cells from spleen and ingLN stayed unaffected. DC were not depleted from any of the lymphoid tissues tested, demonstrating the specificity of CCL for macrophage depletion. IVIS studies where FLUC-SCFV particles were injected into the FP of macrophage-depleted and control mice demonstrated the role of macrophages in capturing and limiting the dissemination of the particles at early times after infection. The absence of macrophages rendered a higher expression of the FLUC-SCFV genes and a broader dissemination of the particles. FLUC-SCFV were disseminated to the spleen of macrophage-depleted mice as early as 14 hpi, while the presence of particles was not visualized in the spleens of control mice. Higher levels of bioluminescence were detected in the macrophage-depleted mice, especially at the site of inoculation (FP), indicating that

macrophages function by eliminating the particles or infected cells at that site. Type I IFN (IFN- α) and other chemokines were increased in the serum of macrophage-depleted mice, which possibly reflects the broader dissemination of particles in different tissues of these mice. Further studies will be needed to evaluate which cell types were responsible for the altered pattern of cytokine/chemokine production. Quantitative histology using confocal microscopy could be utilized to identify which cell types are recruited to sites of infection during and after SCFV infection. Upon identification of cells, flow cytometry could be used to determine which cytokines these cells are secreting. Laser capture microdissection is another approach that could be used to isolate specific cell types, which in turn could be combined with microarray technology to identify specific mRNAs expressed by these cells. A systematic evaluation of molecules produced in different tissues, including the site of inoculation and lymphoid tissues, will be of great importance since a lot of them are produced and have their function locally, and the systemic levels may not reflect properly what is happening during the infection. This could be achieved by harvesting target tissues/cells and testing them by luminescence-based multiplex bead assay (Bioplex) to quantify the cytokines produced at those sites.

Macrophages can serve as APC to activate the adaptive immune response. In a VSV model, Junt and colleagues (2007) demonstrated that SCS macrophages are important in capturing and presenting viral antigens to B cells present at lymphoid tissues. In the case of WNV, it has been shown that macrophages were not required for B cell activation and antibody production (Purtha et al., 2008). In the present study, it was demonstrated that macrophages were not required for the activation of WNV-specific CD8⁺ T cell response, since both macrophage-depleted and control mice showed similar

response after SCFV immunization. The quality of the immune response also was not affected, as demonstrated by comparable frequency and polyfunctionality of CD8⁺ T cell in both group of mice. In vitro studies showed that although macrophages were able to present antigen and induce T cell proliferation, this function was possibly supplied by DCs in the macrophage-depleted group. Following this hypothesis, two major subsets of DCs (CD11b⁻ CD8 α^+ CD11c⁺ and CD11b⁺ CD8 α^- CD11c⁺) were identified as APC capable of priming naïve $CD8^+$ T cells. WNV-specific T cell response is driven by different signaling pathways. It has been already demonstrated that TLR3- and MyD88dependent signaling pathways are important for full development of WNV immunity (Xia et al., in preparation). In the studies presented in this dissertation, the APC function and activation/maturation profile of BM-DCs from B6, TLR3-/- and MyD88-/- mice started to be evaluated. DCs from MyD88^{-/-} mice presented a lower expression of MHC-II and CD80 molecules compared to the WT strain. DCs from all mouse strains were able to present antigen and stimulate CD8⁺ T cell proliferation, although MyD88^{-/-} and TLR3^{-/-} were not as efficient as the WT strain. In vivo studies using macrophages and DCs sorted from spleens of infected mice were also standardized and will be another way forward to study the role of different signaling pathways on the APC function of these cells. In particular, it will be interesting to investigate the function of TLR-dependent (TLR3 and TLR7) and TLR-independent (RIG-I, MDA5) pathways, since these pathways already have been demonstrated to be important for the recognition and antiviral response to WNV, but the hierarchy and cell-type specificity still to be determined. The number and cell subsets at the site of infection and draining LN also could be evaluated to study the dynamics of recruitment of immune cells during the viral infection. This could be

achieved by labeling DCs at the site of infection using a FITC solution, which will allow tracking of the migration of DCs to lymphoid tissues. In these studies we could evaluate how many cells and how fast they migrate to the adjacent draining lymph node. Also, we could determine by flow cytometry which are the subtype of these cells (for example Langerhans, dermal DCs), maturation/activation status (expression of MHC-II, CD80, CD86) and other surface markers (for example migratory receptors such as CCR7). This information will be valuable to determine the efficiency of DCs migration and maturation to exert their APC function and see the contribution of the different signaling pathways in these processes.

Type I IFN response during SCFV immunization

The antiviral activity of type I IFN is critical for the development of an appropriate immune response following vaccination, especially when live-attenuated vaccines with lower replication potential are used. A balanced IFN response is necessary to allow simultaneously viral replication and induction of protective immune response. In the last portion of this dissertation, the influence of type I IFN in the intrinsic adjuvanticity of RepliVAX WN vaccine was investigated. B6 and IFNAR^{-/-} mice (lacking the type I IFN receptor) were utilized in these studies to evaluate the role of type I IFN signaling. RepliVAX WN-immunized mice were able to produce IFN- α and other cytokines, however the production in the IFNAR^{-/-} mice was transient and significantly lower compared to the B6 mice. The transcription of several cytokines and ISGs also were decreased in the draining LN of the IFNAR^{-/-} mice inoculated with RepliVAX WN. These results demonstrated that RepliVAX WN can induce the production of type I IFN and several other molecules downstream the IFN signaling pathways, which is important

for the development of the protective immune response. Following this idea, the role of specific ISGs could be investigated, in particular the ones with increased expression during RepliVAX WN inoculation. Several mouse strains containing deletions of different ISGs important for WNV control (for example, ISG15, ISG56, ISG54, PKR, RNase L) or regulators in ISG expression such as STAT1 and STAT2 are already available, and could be used for a detailed study of the function of these genes in the induction of cytokines or interference with APC function of immune cells such as DCs, and effects on the induction and differentiation of effector and memory B and T cells.

IFN systems are known to be involved in the development of the adaptive immune response. In the present studies, it was shown that antibody response was partially affected by type I IFN signaling. WNV-specific IgM titer was lower in the knockout mouse strain, while no significant difference was seen in the total IgG level or neutralizing antibody response, indicating that IFN signaling is not a critical requirement for the development of the humoral response following RepliVAX WN immunization. CD4⁺ T cell response was observed in both groups of mice, although the number of IFN- γ secreting cells for the NS3₂₀₆₆ epitope was increased in the IFNAR^{-/-} mice. This is consistent with previous reports demonstrating a higher response for this epitope compared with others WNV-specific CD4⁺ T cell epitopes. Strong CD8⁺ T cell responses were also observed in B6 and IFNAR^{-/-} mice; however a significantly higher response was detected in the knockout mouse strain. These results suggest that the activation of WNV-specific T cell responses was not dependent on type I IFN signaling. One interesting point to further investigate could be the function of type III IFN (IFNlambda). Type III IFNs are related to type I IFNs, sharing common signaling pathways

and both are produced during viral infection. However, not many studies have been done to demonstrate the biological relevance of type III IFN in WNV infection.

IVIS studies demonstrated that type I IFN signaling restrict virus replication as measured by expression of FLUC-SCFV. FLUC bioluminescence was over 100-fold higher in IFNAR^{-/-} compared to B6 mice on days 1-3 post-infection, which indicate a high suppression of viral gene expression in the WT mice strain. To test if the higher T cell response seen on the IFNAR^{-/-} mice was due to the higher antigen expression in this mouse strain, different doses given comparable antigen expression (measured by IVIS) were used to immunize B6 and IFNAR^{-/-} mice. Remarkably, the results from this experiments demonstrated that the type I IFN signaling affected the pattern of cytokines produced by CD8⁺ T cells, showing a loss of polyfunctionality in the cells from IFNR^{-/-} mice. The antigen load had an effect in the magnitude of the CD8⁺ T cell activation, but did not alter the quality of the response. Future studies could be performed to explore the mechanism of loss of T cell functionality. Measurement of the level of senescence of virus-specific T cells by expression of inhibitory molecules, such as Programmed Death 1 (PD-1), lymphocyte-activation gene 3 (LAG3), Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte Antigen 4 (CTLA4), could be further investigated to show alterations in the immune response pattern. The influence of type I IFN especially in DC numbers, function and homing ability, will be another very interesting point to be investigated, where their function can be demonstrated by the expression of different maturation and activation markers (e.g. CD40, CD80, CD86, MHC-I and MHC-II), transcription factors (e.g. IRF3, IRF7, STAT1 and STAT2), production of specific cytokines and chemokines (e.g. type I IFN, CXCL10, CCL2, CCL5, CCR5 and CCR7) and APC function.

In summary, all the studies presented in this dissertation have brought new insight into several aspects of viral replication and development of virus-specific immune response. These informations are of extreme value especially for the formulation of new single-cycle vaccines and/or chimeric vaccines where an optimized immune response is desirable to give a strong and durable protection. Several aspects of the innate and adaptive immune response to flavivirus infection were revealed, and will serve as future reference for better understanding of the role these components in the pathogenesis of flaviviral diseases.

REFERENCES

- Ackermann, M., Padmanabhan, R. 2001. De novo synthesis of RNA by the dengue virus RNA-dependent RNA polymerase exhibits temperature dependence at the initiation but not elongation phase. *J Biol Chem* **276**(43):39926-39937.
- Allison, S.L., Schalich, J., Stiasny, K., Mandl, C.W., Kunz, C., Heinz, F.X. 1995. Oligomeric rearrangement of tick-borne encephalitis virus envelope proteins induced by an acidic pH. J Virol 69(2):695-700.
- Amberg, S.M., Nestorowicz, A., McCourt, D.W., Rice, C.M. 1994. NS2B-3 proteinasemediated processing in the yellow fever virus structural region: in vitro and in vivo studies. *J Virol* 68(6):3794-3802.
- Amberg, S.M., Rice, C.M. 1999. Mutagenesis of the NS2B-NS3-mediated cleavage site in the flavivirus capsid protein demonstrates a requirement for coordinated processing. J Virol 73(10):8083-8094.
- Anez, G., Men, R., Eckels, K. H., Lai, C. J. 2009. Passage of dengue virus type 4 vaccine candidates in fetal rhesus lung cells selects heparin-sensitive variants that result in loss of infectivity and immunogenicity in rhesus macaques. *J Virol* 83(20):10384-10394.
- Anez, G., Rios, M. 2013. Dengue in the United States of America: a worsening scenario? *Biomed Res Int* 2013:678645.
- Anjuere, F., Martin, P., Ferrero, I., Fraga, M.L., del Hoyo, G.M., Wright, N., Ardavin, C. 1999. Definition of dendritic cell subpopulations present in the spleen, Peyer's Patches, lymph nodes, and skin of the mouse. *Blood* 93(2):590-598.
- Appaiahgari, M.B., Vrati, S. 2010. IMOJEV(®): a Yellow fever virus-based novel Japanese encephalitis vaccine. *Expert Rev Vaccines* **9**(12):1371-1384.
- Arias, C.F., Preugschat, F., Strauss, J.H. 1993. Dengue 2 virus NS2B and NS3 form a stable complex that can cleave NS3 within the helicase domain. *Virology* 193(2):888-899.
- Arjona, A., Wang, P., Montgomery, R.R., Fikrig, E. 2011. Innate immune control of West Nile virus infection. *Cell Microbiol* 13(11):1648-1658.
- Armah, H.B., Wang, G., Omalu, B.I., Tesh, R.B., Gyure, K.A., Chute, D.J., Smith, R.D., Dulai, P., Vinters, H.V., Kleinschmidt-DeMasters, B.K., Wiley, C.A. 2007. Systemic distribution of West Nile virus infection: postmortem immunohistochemical study of six cases. *Brain Pathol* 17(4):354-362.
- Avirutnan, P., Punyadee, N., Noisakran, S., Komoltri, C., Thiemmeca, S., Auethavornanan, K., Jairungsri, A., Kanlaya, R., Tangthawornchaikul, N., Puttikhunt, C., Pattanakitsakul, S.N., Yenchitsomanus, P.T., Mongkolsapaya, J., Kasinrerk, W., Sittisombut, N., Husmann, M., Blettner, M., Vasanawathana, S., Bhakdi, S., Malasit, P. 2006. Vascular leakage in severe dengue virus infections: a

potential role for the nonstructural viral protein NS1 and complement. *J Infect Dis* **193**(8):1078-1088.

- Bagnarelli, P., Marinelli, K., Trotta, D., Monachetti, A., Tavio, M., Del Gobbo, R., Capobianchi, M., Menzo, S., Nicoletti, L., Magurano, F., Varaldo, P. 2011. Human case of autochthonous West Nile virus lineage 2 infection in Italy, September 2011. *Euro Surveill* 16(43):pii=20002.
- Bai, F., Kong, K.F., Dai, J., Qian, F., Zhang, L., Brown, C.R., Fikrig, E., Montgomery, R.R. 2010. A paradoxical role for neutrophils in the pathogenesis of West Nile virus. *J Infect Dis* 202(12):1804-1812.
- Bakonyi, T., Hubalek, Z., Rudolf, I., Nowotny, N. 2005. Novel flavivirus or new lineage of West Nile virus, central Europe. *Emerg Infect Dis* **11**(2):225-231.
- Banks, T.A., Rickert, S., Benedict, C.A., Ma, L., Ko, M., Meier, J., Ha, W., Schneider, K., Granger, S.W., Turovskaya, O., Elewaut, D., Otero, D., French, A.R., Henry, S.C., Hamilton, J.D., Scheu, S., Pfeffer, K., Ware, C.F. 2005. A lymphotoxin-IFN-beta axis essential for lymphocyte survival revealed during cytomegalovirus infection. *J Immunol* 174(11):7217-7225.
- Barral, P., Polzella, P., Bruckbauer, A., van Rooijen, N., Besra, G.S., Cerundolo, V., Batista, F.D., 2010. CD169(+) macrophages present lipid antigens to mediate early activation of iNKT cells in lymph nodes. *Nat Immunol* 11(4):303-312.
- Barton, G.M., Medzhitov, R. 2003. Linking Toll-like receptors to IFN-α/β expression. *Nat Immunol* 4(5):432-433.
- Bashirova, A.A., Geijtenbeek, T.B., van Duijnhoven, G.C., van Vliet, S.J., Eilering, J.B., Martin, M.P., Wu, L., Martin, T.D., Viebig, N., Knolle, P.A., KewalRamani, V.N., van Kooyk, Y., Carrington, M. 2001. A dendritic cell-specific intercellular adhesion molecule 3-grabbing nonintegrin (DC-SIGN)-related protein is highly expressed on human liver sinusoidal endothelial cells and promotes HIV-1 infection. J Exp Med 193(6):671-678.
- Bazan, J.F., Fletterick, R.J. 1989. Detection of a trypsin-like serine protease domain in flaviviruses and pestiviruses. *Virology* 171(2):637-639.
- Beasley, D.W. 2011. Vaccines and immunotherapeutics for the prevention and treatment of infections with West Nile virus. *Immunotherapy* **3**(2):269-285.
- Beasley, D.W., Barrett, A.D. 2002. Identification of neutralizing epitopes within structural domain III of the West Nile virus envelope protein. *J Virol* **76**(24):13097-13100.
- Beasley, D.W., Whiteman, M.C., Zhang, S., Huang, C.Y., Schneider, B.S., Smith, D.R., Gromowski, G.D., Higgs, S., Kinney, R.M., Barrett, A.D. 2005. Envelope protein glycosylation status influences mouse neuroinvasion phenotype of genetic lineage 1 West Nile virus strains. *J Virol* **79**(13):8339-8347.
- Beatty, M.E., Hunsperger, E., Long, E., Schürch, J., Jain, S., Colindres, R., Lerebours, G., Bernard, Y.M., Dobbins, J.G., Brown, M., Clark, G.G. 2007. Mosquito-borne infections after Hurricane Jeanne, Haiti, 2004. *Emerg Infect Dis* 13(2):308-310.

- Ben-Nathan, D., Feuerstein, G. 1990. The influence of cold or isolation stress on resistance of mice to West Nile virus encephalitis. *Experientia* **46**(3):285-290.
- Ben-Nathan, D., Huitinga, I., Lustig, S., van Rooijen, N., Kobiler, D. 1996. West Nile virus neuroinvasion and encephalitis induced by macrophage depletion in mice. *Arch Virol* 141(3-4):459-469.
- Berke, I.C., Modis, Y. 2012. MDA5 cooperatively forms dimers and ATP-sensitive filaments upon binding double-stranded RNA. *EMBO J* **31**(7):1714-1726.
- Bernkopf H., Levine S., Nerson R. 1953. Isolation of West Nile virus in Israel. J Infect Dis 93(3):207-218.
- Best, S.M., Morris, K.L., Shannon, J.G., Robertson, S.J., Mitzel, D.N., Park, G.S., Boer, E., Wolfinbarger, J.B., Bloom, M.E. 2005. Inhibition of interferon-stimulated JAK-STAT signaling by a tick-borne flavivirus and identification of NS5 as an interferon antagonist. J Virol 79(20):12828-12839.
- Blitvich, B.J., Scanlon, D., Shiell, B.J., Mackenzie, J.S., Pham, K., Hall, R.A. 2001. Determination of the intramolecular disulfide bond arrangement and biochemical identification of the glycosylation sites of the nonstructural protein NS1 of Murray Valley encephalitis virus. *J Gen Virol* 82(Pt 9):2251-2256.
- Bonafe, N., Rininger, J.A., Chubet, R.G., Foellmer, H.G., Fader, S., Anderson, J.F., Bushmich, S.L., Anthony, K., Ledizet, M., Fikrig, E., Koski, R.A., Kaplan, P. 2009. A recombinant West Nile virus envelope protein vaccine candidate produced in Spodoptera frugiperda expresSF+ cells. *Vaccine* 27(2):213-222.
- Bondre, V.P., Jadi, R.S., Mishra, A.C., Yergolkar, P.N., Arankalle, V.A. 2007. West Nile virus isolates from India: evidence for a distinct genetic lineage. J Gen Virol 88(3):875-884.
- Bosch, I., Herrera, F., Navarro, J.C., Lentino, M., Dupuis, A., Maffei, J., Jones, M., Fernández, E., Pérez, N., Pérez-Emán, J., Guimarães, A.E., Barrera, R., Valero, N., Ruiz, J., Velásquez, G., Martinez, J., Comach, G., Komar, N., Spielman, A., Kramer, L. 2007. West Nile virus, Venezuela. *Emerg Infect Dis* 13(4):651-653.
- Bourne, N., Scholle, F., Silva, M.C., Rossi, S.L., Dewsbury, N., Judy, B., De Aguiar, J.B., Leon, M.A., Estes, D.M., Fayzulin, R., Mason, P.W. 2007. Early production of type I interferon during West Nile virus infection: role for lymphoid tissues in IRF3-independent interferon production. *J Virol* 81(17):9100-9108.
- Brandler, S., Tangy, F. 2013. Vaccines in development against West Nile virus. *Viruses* 5(10):2384-2409.
- Brandt, W.E., Cardiff, R.D., Russell, P.K. 1970a. Dengue virions and antigens in brain and serum of infected mice. *J Virol* 6(4):500-506.
- Brandt, W.E., Chiewslip, D., Harris, D.L., Russell, P.K. 1970b. Partial purification and characterization of a dengue virus soluble complement-fixing antigen. *J Immunol* 105(6):1565–1568.
- Brass, A.L., Huang, I.C., Benita, Y., John, S.P., Krishnan, M.N., Feeley, E.M., Ryan, B.J., Weyer, J.L., van der Weyden, L., Fikrig, E., Adams, D.J., Xavier, R.J.,

Farzan, M., Elledge, S.J. 2009. The IFITM proteins mediate cellular resistance to influenza A H1N1 virus, West Nile virus, and dengue virus. *Cell* **139**(7):1243-1254.

- Braun, D., Caramalho, I., Demengeot, J. 2002. IFN-alpha/beta enhances BCR-dependent B cell responses. *Int immunol* **14**(4):411-419.
- Brenner, W., Storch, G., Buller, R., Vij, R., Devine, S., DiPersio, J. 2005. West Nile virus encephalopathy in an allogeneic stem cell transplant recipient: use of quantitative PCR for diagnosis and assessment of viral clearance. *Bone Marrow Transplant* 36(4):369-370.
- Brien, J.D., Daffis, S., Lazear, H.M., Cho, H., Suthar, M.S., Gale, M. Jr. 2011. Interferon regulatory factor-1 (IRF-1) shapes both innate and CD8+ T cell immune responses against West Nile Virus infection. *PLoS Pathog* 7(9):e1002230.
- Brien, J.D., Uhrlaub, J.L., Nikolich-Zugich, J. 2007a. Protective capacity and epitope specificity of CD8(+) T cells responding to lethal West Nile virus infection. *Eur J Immunol* 37(7):1855-1863.
- Brien, J.D., Uhrlaub, J.L., Nikolich-Zugich, J. 2007b. Protective capacity and epitope specificity of CD8(+) T cells responding to lethal West Nile virus infection. *Eur J Immunol* 37(7):1855-1863.
- Brien, J.D., Uhrlaub, J.L., Nikolich-Zugich, J. 2008. West Nile virus-specific CD4 T cells exhibit direct antiviral cytokine secretion and cytotoxicity and are sufficient for antiviral protection. *J Immunol* 181(12):8568-8575.
- Buckley, A., Gaidamovich, S., Turchinskaya, A., Gould, E.A. 1992. Monoclonal antibodies identify the NS5 yellow fever virus non-structural protein in the nuclei of infected cells. *J Gen Virol* 73(Pt 5):1125-1130.
- Byrne, S. N., Halliday, G.M., Johnston, L.J., King, N.J. 2001. Interleukin-1β but not tumor necrosis factor is involved in West Nile virus-induced Langerhans cell migration from the skin in C57BL/6 mice. *J Investig Dermatol* **117**(3):702-709.
- Cahour, A., Pletnev, A., Vazielle, F.M., Rosen, L., Lai, C.J. (1995). Growth-restricted dengue virus mutants containing deletions in the 5' noncoding region of the RNA genome. *Virology* 207(1):68-76.
- Calisher, C.H., Karabatsos, K., Dalrymple, J.M., Shope, R.E., Porterfield, J.S., Westaway, E.G., Brandt, W.E. 1989. Antigenic relationships between flaviviruses as determined by cross-neutralization tests with polyclonal antisera. *J Gen Virol* **70**(Pt 1):37-43.
- Camenga, D.L., Nathanson, N., Cole, G.A. 1974. Cyclophosphamide-potentiated West Nile viral encephalitis: relative influence of cellular and humoral factors. *J Infect Dis* **130**(6):634-641.
- Campbell, G.L., Hills, S.L., Fischer, M., Jacobson, J.A., Hoke, C.H., Hombach, J.M., Marfin, A.A., Solomon, T., Tsai, T.F., Tsu, V.D., Ginsburg, A.S. 2011. Estimated global incidence of Japanese encephalitis: a systematic review. *Bull World Health Organ* 89(10):766-774.

- Campbell, G.L., Marfin, A.A., Lanciotti, R.S., Gubler, D.J. 2002. West Nile virus. *Lancet Infect Dis* 2(9):519-529.
- Carrasco, Y.R., Batista, F.D. 2007. B cells acquire particulate antigen in a macrophagerich area at the boundary between the follicle and the subcapsular sinus of the lymph node. *Immunity* **27**(1):160-171.
- CDC (2002). Laboratory-acquired West Nile virus infections United States, 2002. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep* **51**(50):1133-1135.
- CDC (2013a). West Nile Virus. Final Maps & Data for 1999-2012. Retrieved July 26, 2013 from http://www.cdc.gov/westnile/statsMaps/.
- CDC (2013b). Mosquito species in which West Nile virus has been detected, United States, 1999-2012. Retrieved September 05, 2013 from http://www.cdc.gov/westnile/transmission/.
- CDC (2013c). Species of dead birds in which West Nile virus has been detected, United States, 1999-2012. Retrieved September 05, 2013 from http://www.cdc.gov/westnile/transmission/.
- Chambers, T.J., Grakoui, A., Rice, C.M. 1991. Processing of the yellow fever virus nonstructural polyprotein: a catalytically active NS3 proteinase domain and NS2B are required for cleavages at dibasic sites. *J Virol* **65**(11):6042-6050.
- Chambers, T.J., Hahn, C.S., Galler, R., Rice, C.M. 1990a. Flavivirus genome organization, expression, and replication. *Annu Rev Microbiol* **44**:649-688.
- Chambers, T.J., Nestorowicz, A., Mason, P.W., Rice, C.M. 1999. Yellow fever/Japanese encephalitis chimeric viruses: construction and biological properties. *J Virol* **73**(4):3095-3101.
- Chambers, T.J., Weir, R.C., Grakoui, A., McCourt, D.W., Bazan, J.F., Fletterick, R.J., Rice, C.M. 1990b. Evidence that the N-terminal domain of nonstructural protein NS3 from yellow fever virus is a serine protease responsible for site-specific cleavages in the viral polyprotein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 87(22):8898-8902.
- Chen, C.J., Kuo, M.D., Chien, L.J., Hsu, S.L., Wang, Y.M., Lin, J.H. 1997a. RNAprotein interactions: involvement of NS3, NS5, and 3' noncoding regions of Japanese encephalitis virus genomic RNA. J Virol 71(5):3466-3473.
- Chen, M., Barnfield, C., Näslund, T.I., Fleeton, M.N., Liljeström, P. 2005. MyD88 expression is required for efficient cross-presentation of viral antigens from infected cells. *J Virol* 79(5):2964-2972.
- Chen, Y., Maguire, T., Hileman, R.E., Fromm, J.R., Esko, J.D., Linhardt, R.J., Marks, R.M. 1997b. Dengue virus infectivity depends on envelope protein binding to target cell heparan sulfate. *Nat Med* 3(8):866-871.
- Cho, H., Diamond, M.S. 2012. Immune response to West Nile virus infection in the central nervous system. *Viruses* **4**(12):3812-3830.
- Cho, H., Shrestha, B., Sen, G.C., Diamond, M.S. 2013. A role for Ifit2 in restricting West Nile virus infection in the brain. *J Virol* 87(15):8363-8371.

- Chong, K.L., Feng, L., Schappert, K., Meurs, E., Donahue, T.F., Friesen, J.D., Hovanessian, A.G., Williams, B.R. 1992. Human p68 kinase exhibits growth suppression in yeast and homology to the translational regulator GCN2. *EMBO J* 11(4):1553-1562.
- Chu, J.H., Chiang, C.C., Ng, M.L. 2007. Immunization of flavivirus West Nile recombinant envelope domain III protein induced specific immune response and protection against West Nile virus infection. *J Immunol* **178**(5):2699-2705.
- Chu, J.J., Ng, M.L. 2004. Infectious entry of West Nile virus occurs through a clathrinmediated endocytic pathway. *J Virol* **78**(19):10543-10555.
- Chu, P.W.G., Westaway, E.G. 1985. Replication strategy of Kunjin virus: evidence for recycling role of replicative form RNA as template in semiconservative and asymmetric replication. *Virology* 140(1):68-79.
- Chung, K.M., Nybakken, G.E., Thompson, B.S., Engle, M.J., Marri, A., Fremont, D.H., Diamond, M.S. 2006. Antibodies against West Nile virus non-structural (NS)-1 protein prevent lethal infection through Fc gamma receptor-dependent and independent mechanisms. *J Virol* 80(3):1340-1351.
- Chung, K.M., Thompson, B.S., Fremont, D.H., Diamond, M.S. 2007. Antibody recognition of cell surface associated NS1 triggers Fc-gamma receptor mediated phagocytosis and clearance of WNV infected cells. *J Virol* **81**(17):9551-9555.
- Cleaves, G.R., Dubin, D.T. 1979. Methylation status of intracellular dengue type 2 40 S RNA. *Virology* **96**(1):159-165.
- Cleaves, G.R., Ryan, T.E., Schlesinger, R.W. 1981. Identification and characterization of type 2 dengue virus replicative intermediate and replicative form RNAs. *Virology* **111**(1):73-83.
- Clum, S., Ebner, K.E., Padmanabhan, R. 1997. Cotranslational membrane insertion of the serine proteinase precursor NS2B-NS3(Pro) of dengue virus type 2 is required for efficient in vitro processing and is mediated through the hydrophobic regions of NS2B. J Biol Chem 272(49):30715-30723.
- Coro, E.S., Chang, W.L., Baumgarth, N. 2006. Type I IFN receptor signals directly stimulate local B cells early following influenza virus infection. *J Immunol* **176**(7):4343-4351.
- Coutant, F., Frenkiel, M.P., Despres, P., Charneau, P. 2008. Protective antiviral immunity conferred by a nonintegrative lentiviral vector-based vaccine. *PLoS One* **3**(12):e3973.
- Cremer, I., Ghysdael, J., Vieillard, V. 2002. A non-classical ISRE/ISGF3 pathway mediates induction of RANTES gene transcription by type I IFNs. *FEBS Lett* **511**(1-3):41-45.
- Curtsinger, J.M., Valenzuela, J.O., Agarwal, P., Lins, D., Mescher, M.F. 2005. Type I IFNs provide a third signal to CD8 T cells to stimulate clonal expansion and differentiation. *J Immunol* **174**(8):4465-4469.

- Daffis, S., Samuel, M.A., Suthar, M.S., Gale, M. Jr., Diamond, M.S. 2008. Toll-like receptor 3 has a protective role against West Nile virus infection. J Virol 82(21):10349-10358.
- Daffis, S., Suthar, M.S., Gale, M. Jr., Diamond, M.S. 2009. Measure and countermeasure: type I IFN (IFN-alpha/beta) antiviral response against West Nile virus. *J Innate Immun* 1(5):435-445.
- Davis, B.S., Chang, G.J., Cropp, B., Roehrig, J.T., Martin, D.A., Mitchell, C.J., Bowen, R., Bunning, M.L. 2001. West Nile virus recombinant DNA vaccine protects mouse and horse from virus challenge and expresses in vitro a noninfectious recombinant antigen that can be used in enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays. J Virol 75(9):4040-4047.
- Davis, C.T., Ebel, G.D., Lanciotti, R.S., Brault, A.C., Guzman, H., Siirin, M., Lambert, A., Parsons, R.E., Beasley, D.W., Novak, R.J., Elizondo-Quiroga, D., Green, E.N., Young, D.S., Stark, L.M., Drebot, M.A., Artsob, H., Tesh, R.B., Kramer, L.D., Barrett, A.D. 2005. Phylogenetic analysis of North American West Nile virus isolates, 2001-2004: evidence for the emergence of a dominant genotype. *Virology* 342(2):252-265.
- Davis, C.T., Ebel, G.D., Lanciotti, R.S., Brault, A.C., Guzman, H., Siirin, M., Lambert, A., Parsons, R.E., Beasley, D.W., Novak, R.J., Elizondo-Quiroga, D., Green, E.N., Young, D.S., Stark, L.M., Davis, C.W., Nguyen, H.Y., Hanna, S.L., Sánchez, M.D., Doms, R.W., Pierson, T.C. 2006a. West Nile virus discriminates between DC-SIGN and DC-SIGNR for cellular attachment and infection. J Virol 80(3):1290-1301.
- Davis, L.E., DeBiasi, R., Goade, D.E., Haaland, K.Y., Harrington, J.A., Harnar, J.B., Pergam, S.A., King, M.K., DeMasters, B.K., Tyler, K.L. 2006b. West Nile virus neuroinvasive disease. Ann Neurol 60(3):286-300.
- Dayan, G.H., Bevilacqua, J., Coleman, D., Buldo, A., Risi, G. 2012. Phase II, dose ranging study of the safety and immunogenicity of single dose West Nile vaccine in healthy adults \geq 50 years of age. *Vaccine* **30**(47):6656-6664.
- De Filette, M., Ulbert, S., Diamond, M., Sanders, N.N. 2012. Recent progress in West Nile virus diagnosis and vaccination. *Vet Res* **43**(1):16.
- Deardorff, E., Estrada-Franco, J., Brault, A.C., Navarro-Lopez, R., Campomanes-Cortes, A., Paz-Ramirez, P., Solis-Hernandez, M., Ramey, W.N., Davis, C.T., Beasley, D.W., Tesh, R.B., Barrett, A.D., Weaver, S.C. 2006. Introductions of West Nile virus strains to Mexico. *Emerg Infect Dis* 12(2):314-318.
- Deas, T.S., Binduga-Gajewska, I., Tilgner, M., Ren, P., Stein, D.A., Moulton, H.M., Iversen, P.L., Kauffman, E.B., Kramer, L.D., Shi, P.Y. 2005. Inhibition of flavivirus infections by antisense oligomers specifically suppressing viral translation and RNA replication. J Virol 79(8):4599-4609.
- Delemarre, F.G., Kors, N., Kraal, G., van Rooijen, N., 1990. Repopulation of macrophages in popliteal lymph nodes of mice after liposome-mediated depletion. *J Leukoc Biol* 47(3):251-257.

- Desprès, P., Combredet, C., Frenkiel, M., Lorin, C., Brahic, M., Tangy, F. 2005. Live measles vaccine expressing the secreted form of the West Nile virus envelope glycoprotein protects against West Nile virus encephalitis. J Infect Dis 191(2): 207-214.
- Diamond, M.S. 2009a. Virus and host determinants of West Nile virus pathogenesis. *PLoS Pathog* 5(6):e1000452.
- Diamond, M.S. 2009b. Mechanisms of evasion of the type I interferon antiviral response by flaviviruses. *J Interferon Cytokine Res* **29**(9):521-530.
- Diamond, M.S., Shrestha, B., Marri, A., Mahan, D., Engle, M. 2003a. B cells and antibody play critical roles in the immediate defense of disseminated infection by West Nile encephalitis virus. *J Virol* **77**(4):2578-2586.
- Diamond, M.S., Sitati, E.M., Friend, L.D., Higgs, S., Shrestha, B., Engle, M. 2003b. A critical role for induced IgM in the protection against West Nile virus infection. J Exp Med 198(12):1853-1862.
- Diaz, A.L., Komar, N., Visintin, A., Dantur Juri, M.J., Stein, M., Lobo Allende, R., Spinsanti, L., Konigheim, B., Aguilar, J., Laurito, M., Almirón, W., Contigiani, M. 2008. West Nile virus in birds, Argentina. *Emerg Infect Dis* 14(4):689-691.
- Dondi, E., Rogge, L., Lutfalla, G., Uze, G., Pellegrini, S. 2003. Down-modulation of responses to type I IFN upon T cell activation. *J Immunol* **170**(2):749-756.
- Drebot, M.A., Lindsay, R., Barker, I.K., Buck, P.A., Fearon, M., Hunter, F., Sockett, P., Artsob, H. 2003. West Nile virus surveillance and diagnostics: A Canadian perspective. *Can J Infect Dis* 14(2):105-114.
- Egloff, M.P., Benarroch, D., Selisko, B., Romette, J.L., Canard, B. 2002. An RNA cap (nucleoside-2'-O-)-methyltransferase in the flavivirus RNA polymerase NS5: crystal structure and functional characterization. *EMBO J* **21**(11):2757-2768.
- Eidson, M., Komar, N., Sorhage, F., Nelson, R., Talbot, T., Mostashari, F., McLean, R., West Nile Virus Avian Mortality Surveillance Group. 2001. Crow deaths as a sentinel surveillance system for West Nile virus in the northeastern United States, 1999. Emerg Infect Dis 7(4):615-620.
- El Garch, H., Minke, J.M., Rehder, J., Richard, S., Edlund Toulemonde, C., Dinic, S., Andreoni, C., Audonnet, J.C., Nordgren, R., Juillard, V. 2008. A West Nile virus (WNV) recombinant canarypox virus vaccine elicits WNV-specific neutralizing antibodies and cell-mediated immune responses in the horse. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol* 123(3-4):230-239.
- Eldadah, A.H., Nathanson, N. 1967. Pathogenesis of West Nile virus encephalitis in mice and rats. II. Virus multiplication, evolution of immunofluorescence, and development of histological lesions in the brain. *Am J Epidemiol* **86**(3):776-790.
- Eldadah, A.H., Nathason, N., Sarsitis, R. 1967. Pathogenesis of West Nile virus encephalitis in mice and rats. I: Influence of age and species on mortality and infection. *Am J Epidemiol* **86**(3):765-775.

- Elftman, M.D., Norbury, C.C., Bonneau, R.H., Truckenmiller, M.E. 2007. Corticosterone impairs dendritic cell maturation and function. *Immunology* **122**(2):279-290.
- Engle, M.J., Diamond, M.S. 2003. Antibody prophylaxis and therapy against West Nile virus infection in wild-type and immunodeficient mice. *J Virol* **77**(24):12941-1299.
- Erbel, P., Schiering, N., D'Arcy, A., Renatus, M., Kroemer, M., Lim, S.P., Yin, Z., Keller, T.H., Vasudevan, S.G., Hommel, U. 2006. Structural basis for the activation of flaviviral NS3 proteases from dengue and West Nile virus. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 13(4):372-373.
- Erdélyi, K., Ursu, K., Ferenczi, E., Szeredi, L., Rátz, F., Skáre, J., Bakonyi, T. 2007. Clinical and pathologic features of lineage 2 West Nile virus infections in birds of prey in Hungary. *Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis* 7(2):181-188.
- Evans, J.D., Seeger, C. 2007. Differential effects of mutations in NS4B on West Nile virus replication and inhibition of interferon signaling. *J Virol* **81**(21):11809-11816.
- Falgout, B., Bray, M., Schlesinger, J.J., Lai, C.J. 1990. Immunization of mice with recombinant vaccinia virus expressing authentic dengue virus nonstructural protein NS1 protects against lethal dengue virus encephalitis. J Virol 64(9):4356-4363.
- Falgout, B., Markoff, L. 1995. Evidence that flavivirus NS1-NS2A cleavage is mediated by a membrane-bound host protease in the endoplasmic reticulum. *J Virol* **69**(11):7232-7243.
- Falgout, B., Pethel, M., Zhang, Y.M., Lai, C.J. 1991. Both nonstructural proteins NS2B and NS3 are required for the proteolytic processing of dengue virus nonstructural proteins. J Virol 65(5):2467-2475.
- Falk, K., Rotzschke, O., Faath, S., Goth, S., Graef, I., Shastri, N., Rammensee, H.G., 1993. Both human and mouse cells expressing H-2Kb and ovalbumin process the same peptide, SIINFEKL. *Cell Immunol* 150(2):447-452.
- Fang, H., Welte, T., Zheng, X., Chang, G.J., Holbrook, M.R., Soong, L., Wang, T. 2010. gammadelta T cells promote the maturation of dendritic cells during West Nile virus infection. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol* 59(1):71-80.
- Fayzulin, R., Scholle, F., Petrakova, O., Frolov, I., and Mason, P.W. 2006. Evaluation of replicative capacity and genetic stability of West Nile virus replicons using highly efficient packaging cell lines. *Virology* 351(1):196-209.
- Ferrick, D.A., King, D.P., Jackson, K.A., Braun, R.K., Tam, S., Hyde, D.M., Beaman, B.L. 2000. Intraepithelial gamma delta T lymphocytes: sentinel cells at mucosal barriers. *Springer Semin Immunopathol* 22(3):283-296.
- Fink, K., Lang, K.S., Manjarrez-Orduno, N., Junt, T., Senn, B.M., Holdener, M., Akira, S., Zinkernagel, R.M., Hengartner, H. 2006. Early type I interferon-mediated signals on B cells specifically enhance antiviral humoral responses. *Eur J Immunol* 36(8):2094-2105.

- Fink, K., Ng, C., Nkenfou, C., Vasudevan, S.G., van Rooijen, N., Schul, W. 2009. Depletion of macrophages in mice results in higher dengue virus titers and highlights the role of macrophages for virus control. *Eur J Immunol* **39**(10):2809-2821.
- Firth, A.E., Atkins, J.F. 2009. A conserved predicted pseudoknot in the NS2A-encoding sequence of West Nile and Japanese encephalitis flaviviruses suggests NS1' may derive from ribosomal frameshifting. *Virol J* **6**:14.
- Fonseca, B.A.L. 1994. Vaccinia-vectored dengue vaccine candidates elicit neutralizing antibodies in mice. *Doctoral thesis.* Yale University, New Haven, CT.
- Fonseca, K., Prince, G.D., Bratvold, J., Fox, J.D., Pybus, M., Preksaitis, J.K., Tilley, P. 2005. West Nile virus infection and conjunctival exposure. *Emerg Infect Dis* 11(10):1648-1649.
- Fredericksen, B.L., Keller, B.C., Fornek, J., Katze, M.G., Gale, M. Jr. 2008. Establishment and maintenance of the innate antiviral response to West Nile Virus involves both RIG-I and MDA5 signaling through IPS-1. J Virol 82(2):609-616.
- Gershoni-Yahalom, O., Landes, S., Kleiman-Shoval, S., Ben-Nathan, D., Kam, M., Lachmi, B.E., Khinich, Y., Simanov, M., Samina, I., Eitan, A., Cohen, I.R., Rager-Zisman, B., Porgador, A. 2010. Chimeric vaccine composed of viral peptide and mammalian heat-shock protein 60 peptide protects against West Nile virus challenge. *Immunology* 130(4):527-535.
- Giladi, M., Metzkor-Cotter, E., Martin, D.A., et al. (2001). West Nile encephalitis in Israel, 1999: the New York connection. *Emerg Infect Dis* **7**(4):659-661.
- Gilfoy, F., Fayzulin, R., Mason, P.W. 2009. West Nile virus genome amplification requires the functional activities of the proteasome. *Virology* **385**(1):74-84.
- Gilfoy, F.D., Mason, P.W. 2007. West Nile virus-induced interferon production is mediated by the double-stranded RNA-dependent protein kinase PKR. *J Virol* **81**(20):11148-11158.
- Girard, Y.A., Klingler, K.A., Higgs, S. 2004. West Nile virus dissemination and tissue tropisms in orally infected Culex pipiens quinquefasciatus. *Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis* **4**(2):109-22.
- Goddard, L.B., Roth, A.E., Reisen, W.K., Scott, T.W. 2002. Vector competence of California mosquitoes for West Nile virus. *Emerg Infect Dis* 8(12):1385-1391. [Erratum in: *Emerg Infect Dis* 9(3):406].
- Gorbalenya, A.E., Donchenko, A.P., Koonin, E.V., Blinov, V.M. 1989a. N-terminal domains of putative helicases of flavi- and pestiviruses may be serine proteases. *Nucleic Acids Res* **17**(10):3889-3897.
- Gorbalenya, A.E., Koonin, E.V., Donchenko, A.P., Blinov, V.M. 1989b. Two related superfamilies of putative helicases involved in replication, recombination, repair and expression of DNA and RNA genomes. *Nucleic Acids Res* **17**(12):4713-4729.

- Guarda, G., Braun, M., Staehli, F., Tardivel, A., Mattmann, C., Forster, I., Farlik, M., Decker, T., Du Pasquier, R.A., Romero, P., Tschopp, J. 2011. Type I interferon inhibits interleukin-1 production and inflammasome activation. *Immunity* 34(2):213-223.
- Gubler, D.J. 2007. The continuing spread of West Nile virus in the western hemisphere. *Clin Infect Dis* **45**(8):1039-1046.
- Gubler, D.J., Kuno, G., Markoff, L. 2007. Flaviviruses. In "Fields Virology" (D.M. Knipe, and P.M. Howley, Eds.), Vol. 1, pp. 1153-1252. 2 vols. 5th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Guirakhoo, F., Bolin, R.A., Roehrig, J.T. 1992. The Murray Valley encephalitis virus prM protein confers acid resistance to virus particles and alters the expression of epitopes within the R2 domain of E glycoprotein. *Virology* **191**(2):921-931.
- Gutsche, I., Coulibaly, F., Voss, J.E., Salmon, J., d'Alayer, J., Ermonval, M., Larquet, E., Charneau, P., Krey, T., Megret, F., Guittet, E., Rey, F.A., Flamand, M. 2011. Secreted dengue virus nonstructural protein NS1 is an atypical barrel-shaped high-density lipoprotein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 108(19):8003-8008.
- Guy, B., Guirakhoo, F., Barban, V., Higgs, S., Monath, T.P., Lang, J. 2010. Preclinical and clinical development of YFV 17D-based chimeric vaccines against dengue, West Nile and Japanese encephalitis viruses. *Vaccine* 28(3):632-649.
- Guyatt, K.J., Westaway, E.G., Khromykh, A.A. 2001. Expression and purification of enzymatically active recombinant RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (NS5) of the flavivirus Kunjin. J Virol Methods 92(1):37-44.
- Gyure, K.A. 2009. West Nile virus infections. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 68(10):1053-1060.
- Hall, R.A., Nisbet, D.J., Pham, K.B., Pyke, A.T., Smith, G.A., Khromykh, A.A. 2003. DNA vaccine coding for the full-length infectious Kunjin virus RNA protects mice against the New York strain of West Nile virus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 100(18):10460-10464.
- Halstead, S.B. 2007. Dengue. Lancet 370(9599):1644-1652.
- Harrell, M.I., Iritani, B.M., Ruddell, A. 2008. Lymph node mapping in the mouse. J Immunol Methods 332(1-2):170-174.
- Havenar-Daughton, C., Kolumam, G.A., Murali-Krishna, K. 2006. Cutting Edge: The direct action of type I IFN on CD4 T cells is critical for sustaining clonal expansion in response to a viral but not a bacterial infection. J Immunol 176(6):3315-3319.
- Hayes, E.B., Gubler, D.J. 2006. West Nile virus: epidemiology and clinical features of an emerging epidemic in the United States. *Annu Rev Med* **57**:181-194.
- Hayes, E.B., Komar, N., Nasci, R.S., Montgomery, S.P., O'Leary, D.R., Campbell, G.L. 2005a. Epidemiology and transmission dynamics of West Nile virus disease. *Emerg Infect Dis* 11(8):1167-1173.

- Hayes, E.B., Sejvar, J.J., Zaki, S.R., Lanciotti, R.S., Bode, A.V., Campbell, G.L. 2005b. Virology, pathology, and clinical manifestations of West Nile virus disease. *Emerg Infect Dis* 11(8):1174-1179.
- Heath, W.R., Belz, G.T., Behrens, G.M., Smith, C.M., Forehan, S.P., Parish, I.A., Davey, G.M., Wilson, N.S., Carbone, F.R., Villadangos, J.A. 2004. Cross-presentation, dendritic cell subsets, and the generation of immunity to cellular antigens. *Immunol Rev* 199:9-26.
- Henchal, E.A., Henchal, L.S., Schlesinger, J.J. 1988. Synergistic interactions of anti-NS1 monoclonal antibodies protect passively immunized mice from lethal challenge with dengue 2 virus. J Gen Virol 69(Pt 8):2101-2107.
- Hershkovitz, O., Rosental, B., Rosenberg, L.A., Navarro-Sanchez, M.E., Jivov, S., Zilka, A., Gershoni-Yahalom, O., Brient-Litzler, E., Bedouelle, H., Ho, J.W., Campbell, K.S., Rager-Zisman, B., Despres, P., Porgador, A. 2009. NKp44 receptor mediates interaction of the envelope glycoproteins from the West Nile and dengue viruses with NK cells. *J Immunol* 183(4):2610-2621.
- Higuchi, R., Krummel, B., Saiki, R.K. 1988. A general method of in vitro preparation and specific mutagenesis of DNA fragments: study of protein and DNA interactions. *Nucleic Acids Res* 16(15):7351-7367.
- Hildner, K., Edelson, B.T., Purtha, W.E., Diamond, M., Matsushita, H., Kohyama, M., Calderon, B., Schraml, B., Unanue, E.R., Diamond, M.S., Schreiber, B.D., Murphy, T.L., Murphy, K.M. 2008. Batf3 deficiency reveals a critical role for CD8a+ dendritic cells in cytotoxic T cell immunity. *Science* 322(5904):1097-1100.
- Hinckley, A.F., OlLeary, D.R., Hayes, E.B. 2007. Transmission of West Nile virus through human breast milk seems to be rare. *Pediatrics* **119**(3):e666-e671.
- Hogquist, K.A., Jameson, S.C., Heath, W.R., Howard, J.L., Bevan, M.J., Carbone, F.R. 1994. T cell receptor antagonist peptides induce positive selection. *Cell* 76(1):17-27.
- Holden, K.L., Stein, D.A., Pierson, T.C., Ahmed, A.A., Clyde, K., Iversen, P.L., Harris, E. 2006. Inhibition of dengue virus translation and RNA synthesis by a morpholino oligomer targeted to the top of the terminal 3' stem-loop structure. *Virology* 344(2):439-452.
- Houe, H. 1999. Epidemiological features and economical importance of bovine virus diarrhoea virus (BVDV) infections. *Vet Microbiol* **64**(2-3):89-107.
- Huang, C.Y., Silengo, S.J., Whiteman, M.C., Kinney, R.M. 2005. Chimeric dengue 2 PDK-53/West Nile NY99 viruses retain the phenotypic attenuation markers of the candidate PDK-53 vaccine virus and protect mice against lethal challenge with West Nile virus. J Virol 79(12):7300-7310.
- Hubálek, Z., Halouzka, J. 1999. West Nile fever--a reemerging mosquito-borne viral disease in Europe. *Emerg Infect Dis* **5**(5):643-650.

- Hunsperger, E.A., Roehrig, J.T. 2006. Temporal analyses of the neuropathogenesis of a West Nile virus infection in mice. *J Neurovirol* **12**(2):129-139.
- Iglesias, M.C., Frenkiel, M.P., Mollier, K., Souque, P., Despres, P., Charneau, P. 2006. A single immunization with a minute dose of a lentiviral vector-based vaccine is highly effective at eliciting protective humoral immunity against West Nile virus. *J Gene Med* 8(3):265-274.
- Ishikawa, T., Takasaki, T., Kurane, I., Nukuzuma, S., Kondo, T., Konishi, E. 2007. Coimmunization with West Nile DNA and inactivated vaccines provides synergistic increases in their immunogenicities in mice. *Microbes Infect* 9(9)1089-1095.
- Ishikawa, T., Widman, D.G., Bourne, N., Konishi, E., Mason, P.W. 2008. Construction and evaluation of a chimeric pseudoinfectious virus vaccine to prevent Japanese encephalitis. *Vaccine* **26**(22):2772-2781.
- Iwamoto, M., Jernigan, D.B., Guasch, A., Trepka, M.J., Blackmore, C.G., Hellinger, W.C., Pham, S.M., Zaki, S., Lanciotti, R.S., Lance-Parker, S.E., DiazGranados, C.A., Winquist, A.G., Perlino, C.A., Wiersma, S., Hillyer, K.L., Goodman, J.L., Marfin, A.A., Chamberland, M.E., Petersen, L.R., West Nile Virus in Transplant Recipients Investigation Team. 2003. Transmission of West Nile virus from an organ donor to four transplant recipients. *N Engl J Med* 348(22):2196-2203.
- Iwasaki, A., Medzhitov, R. 2004. Toll-like receptor control of the adaptive immune responses. *Nat Immunol* **5**(10):987-995.
- Iyer, A.V., Pahar, B., Boudreaux, M.J., Wakamatsu, N., Roy, A.F., Chouljenko, V.N., Baghian, A., Apetrei, C., Marx, P.A., Kousoulas, K.G. 2009. Recombinant vesicular stomatitis virus-based west Nile vaccine elicits strong humoral and cellular immune responses and protects mice against lethal challenge with the virulent west Nile virus strain LSU-AR01. Vaccine 27(6)893-903.
- Jarvi, S.I., Hu, D., Misajon, K., Coller, B.A., Wong, T., Lieberman, M.M. 2013. Vaccination of captive nene (Branta sandvicensis) against West Nile virus using a protein-based vaccine (WN-80E). J Wildlife Dis 49(1):152-156.
- Jego, G., Palucka, A.K., Blanck, J.P., Chalouni, C., Pascual, V., Banchereau, J. 2003. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells induce plasma cell differentiation through type I interferon and interleukin 6. *Immunity* 19(2):225-234.
- Jia, T., Leiner, I., Dorothee, G., Brandl, K., Pamer, E.G. 2009. MyD88 and Type I interferon receptor-mediated chemokine induction and monocyte recruitment during Listeria monocytogenes infection. *J Immunol* 183(2):1271-1278.
- Jiang, D., Weidner, J.M., Qing, M., Pan, X.B., Guo, H., Xu, C., Zhang, X., Birk, A., Chang, J., Shi, P.Y., Block, T.M., Guo, J.T. 2010. Identification of five interferon-induced cellular proteins that inhibit west nile virus and dengue virus infections. J Virol 84(16):8332-8341.
- Johansson, M., Brooks, A.J., Jans, D.A., Vasudevan, S.G. 2001. A small region of the dengue virus-encoded RNA-dependent RNA polymerase, NS5, confers interaction with both the nuclear transport receptor importin-beta and the viral helicase, NS3. J Gen Virol 82(Pt 4):735-745.

- Johnson, R.T. 1998. Viral infections of the nervous system. 2nd ed. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott-Raven.
- Jourdain, E., Gauthier-Clerc, M., Bicout, D.J., Sabatier, P. 2007. Bird migration routes and risk for pathogen dispersion into western Mediterranean wetlands. *Emerg Infect Dis* **13**(3):365-372.
- Junjhon, J., Edwards, T.J., Utaipat, U., Bowman, V.D., Holdaway, H.A., Zhang, W., Keelapang, P., Puttikhunt, C., Perera, R., Chipman, P.R., Kasinrerk, W., Malasit, P., Kuhn, R.J., Sittisombut, N. 2010. Influence of pr-M cleavage on the heterogeneity of extracellular dengue virus particles. *J Virol* 84(16):8353-8358.
- Junt, T., Moseman, E.A., Iannacone, M., Massberg, S., Lang, P.A., Boes, M., Fink, K., Henrickson, S.E., Shayakhmetov, D.M., Di Paolo, N.C., van Rooijen, N., Mempel, T,R., Whelan, S.P., von Andrian, U.H. 2007. Subcapsular sinus macrophages in lymph nodes clear lymph-borne viruses and present them to antiviral B cells. *Nature* 450(7166):110-104.
- Kalil, A.C., Devetten, M.P., Singh, S., Lesiak, B., Poage, D.P., Bargenquast, K., Fayad, P., Freifeld, A.G. 2005. Use of interferon-alpha in patients with West Nile encephalitis: report of 2 cases. *Clin Infect Dis* 40(5):764-766.
- Kapoor, M., Zhang, L., Ramachandra, M., Kusukawa, J., Ebner, K.E., Padmanabhan, R. 1995. Association between NS3 and NS5 proteins of dengue virus type 2 in the putative RNA replicase is linked to differential phosphorylation of NS5. *J Biol Chem* 270(32):19100-19106.
- Karaca, K., Bowen, R., Austgen, L.E., Teehee, M., Siger, L., Grosenbaugh, D., Loosemore, L., Audonnet, J.C., Nordgren, R., Minke, J.M. 2005. Recombinant canarypox vectored West Nile virus (WNV) vaccine protects dogs and cats against a mosquito WNV challenge. *Vaccine* 23(29):3808-3813.
- Katz, L.M., Bianco, C. 2003. West Nile virus. N Engl J Med 349(19):1873-1874.
- Kaufman, B.M., Summers, P.L., Dubois, D.R., Cohen, W.H., Gentry, M.K., Timchak, R.L., Burke, D.S., Eckels, K.H. 1989. Monoclonal antibodies for dengue virus prM glycoprotein protect mice against lethal dengue infection. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* 41(5):576-580.
- Kawai, T., Akira, S. 2006. TLR signaling. Cell Death Differ 13(5):816-825.
- Kawai, T., Akira, S. 2010. The role of pattern-recognition receptors in innate immunity: update on Toll-like receptors. *Nat Immunol* **11**(5):373-384.
- Khromykh, A.A., Kenney, M.T., Westaway, E.G. 1998. trans-Complementation of flavivirus RNA polymerase gene NS5 by using Kunjin virus replicon-expressing BHK cells. J Virol 72(9):7270-7279.
- Khromykh, A.A., Meka, H., Guyatt, K.J., Westaway, E.G. 2001b. Essential role of cyclization sequences in flavivirus RNA replication. *J Virol* **75**(14):6719-6728.
- Khromykh, A.A., Sedlak, P.L., Westaway, E.G. 2000. cis- and trans-acting elements in flavivirus RNA replication. *J Virol* **74**(7):3253-3263.

- Khromykh, A.A., Varnavski, A.N., Sedlak, P.L., Westaway, E.G. 2001a. Coupling between replication and packaging of flavivirus RNA: evidence derived from the use of DNA-based full-length cDNA clones of Kunjin virus. J Virol 75(10):4633-4640.
- Khromykh, A.A., Westaway, E.G. 1996. RNA binding properties of core protein of the flavivirus Kunjin. *Arch Virol* **141**(3-4):685-699.
- Khromykh, A.A., Westaway, E.G. 1997. Subgenomic replicons of the flavivirus Kunjin: construction and applications. *J Virol* **71**(2):1497-1505.
- Kilpatrick, A.M., Meola, M.A., Moudy, R.M., Kramer, L.D. 2008. Temperature, viral genetics, and the transmission of West Nile virus by Culex pipiens mosquitoes. *PLoS Pathog* 4(6):e1000092.
- Kim, H., Yang, E., Lee, J., Kim, S.H., Shin, J.S., Park, J.Y., Choi, S.J., Kim, S.J., Choi, I.H. 2008. Double-stranded RNA mediates interferon regulatory factor 3 activation and interleukin-6 production by engaging Toll-like receptor 3 in human brain astrocytes. *Immunology* 124(4):480-488.
- King, N.J., Getts, D.R., Getts, M.T., Rana, S., Shrestha, B., Kesson, A.M. 2007. Immunopathology of flavivirus infections. *Immunol Cell Biol* 85(1):33-42.
- King, N.J., Kesson, A.M. 2003. Interaction of flaviviruses with cells of the vertebrate host and decoy of the immune response. *Immunol Cell Biol* **81**(3):207-216.
- Kitai, Y., Shoda, M., Kondo, T., Konishi, E. 2007. Epitope-blocking enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay to differentiate west nile virus from Japanese encephalitis virus infections in equine sera. *Clin Vaccine Immunol* 14(8):1024-1031.
- Klee, A.L., Maidin, B., Edwin, B., Poshni, I., Mostashari, F., Fine, A., Layton, M., Nash, D. 2004. Long-term prognosis for clinical West Nile virus infection. *Emerg Infect Dis* 10(8):1405-1411.
- Klenk, K., Snow, J., Morgan, K., Bowen, R., Stephens, M., Foster, F., Gordy, P., Beckett, S., Komar, N., Gubler, D., Bunning, M. 2004. Alligators as West Nile virus amplifiers. *Emerg Infect Dis* 10(12):2150-2155.
- Kolumam, G.A., Thomas, S., Thompson, L.J., Sprent, J., Murali-Krishna, K. 2005. Type I interferons act directly on CD8 T cells to allow clonal expansion and memory formation in response to viral infection. J Exp Med 202(5):637-650.
- Komar, N., Clark, G.G. 2006. West Nile virus activity in Latin America and the Caribbean. *Rev Panam Salud Publica* **19**(2):112-117.
- Komar, N., Panella, N.A., Burns, J.E., Dusza, S.W., Mascarenhas, T.M., Talbot, T.O. 2001. Serologic evidence for West Nile virus infection in birds in the New York City vicinity during an outbreak in 1999. *Emerg Infect Dis* 7(4):621-625.
- Kong, K.F., Wang, X., Anderson, J.F., Fikrig, E., Montgomery, R.R. 2008. West Nile virus attenuates activation of primary human macrophages. *Viral Immunol* 21(1):78-82.

- Konishi, E., Fujii, A., Mason, P.W. 2001. Generation and characterization of a mammalian cell line continuously expressing Japanese encephalitis virus subviral particles. J Virol 75(5):2204-2212.
- Konishi, E., Mason, P.W. 1993. Proper maturation of the Japanese encephalitis virus envelope glycoprotein requires cosynthesis with the premembrane protein. *J Virol* **67**(3):1672-1675.
- Koonin, E.V., Dolja, V.V. 1993. Evolution and taxonomy of positive-strand RNA viruses: implications of comparative analysis of amino acid sequences. *Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol* 28(5):375-430.
- Kostiukov, M.A., Gordeeva, Z.E., Bulychev, V.P., Nemova, N.V., Daniiarov, O.A. 1985. [The lake frog (Rana ridibunda)--one of the food hosts of blood-sucking mosquitoes in Tadzhikistan--a reservoir of the West Nile fever virus]. *Med Parazitol (Mosk)* 3:49-50.
- Kramer, L.D., Bernard, K.A. 2001. West Nile virus infection in birds and mammals. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **951**:84-93.
- Kramer, L.D., Li, J., Shi, P.Y. 2007. West Nile virus. Lancet Neurol 6(2):171-181.
- Kramer-Hammerle, S., Rothenaigner, I., Wolff, H., Bell, J.E., Brack-Werner, R. 2005. Cells of the central nervous system as targets and reservoirs of the human immunodeficiency virus. *Virus Res* 111(2):194-213.
- Kreil, T.R., Eibl, M.M. 1996. Nitric oxide and viral infection: NO antiviral activity against a flavivirus in vitro, and evidence for contribution to pathogenesis in experimental infection in vivo. *Virology* **219**(1):304-306.
- Krishna, V.D., Rangappa, M., Satchidanandam, V. 2009. Virus-specific cytolytic antibodies to nonstructural protein 1 of Japanese encephalitis virus effect reduction of virus output from infected cells. J Virol 83(10):4766-4777.
- Kroschewski, H., Allison, S.L., Heinz, F.X., Mandl, C.W. 2003. Role of heparan sulfate for attachment and entry of tick-borne encephalitis virus. *Virology* **308**(1):92-100.
- Kuhn, R.J., Zhang, W., Rossmann, M.G., Pletnev, S.V., Corver, J., Lenches, E., Jones, C.T., Mukhopadhyay, S., Chipman, P.R., Strauss, E.G., Baker, T.S., Strauss, J.H. 2002. Structure of dengue virus: implications for flavivirus organization, maturation, and fusion. *Cell* **108**(5):717-725.
- Kulkarni, A.B., Müllbacher, A., Blanden, R.V. 1991. Functional analysis of macrophages, B cells and splenic dendritic cells as antigen-presenting cells in West Nile virus-specific murine T lymphocyte proliferation. *Immunol Cell Biol* 69(2):71-80.
- Kumar, H., Kawai, T., Akira, S. 2001. Pathogen recognition by the innate immune system. *Int Rev Immunol* **30**(1):16-34.
- Kumar, M., Roe, K., Orillo, B., Muruve, D.A., Nerurkar, V.R., Gale, M. Jr., Verma, S. 2013. Inflammasome adaptor protein Apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing CARD (ASC) is critical for the immune response and survival in west Nile virus encephalitis. *J Virol* 87(7):3655-3667.

- Kummerer, B.M., Rice, C.M. 2002. Mutations in the yellow fever virus nonstructural protein NS2A selectively block production of infectious particles. *J Virol* **76**(10):4773-4784.
- Kuno, G., Chang, G.J., Tsuchiya, K.R., Karabatsos, N., Cropp, C.B. 1998. Phylogeny of the genus Flavivirus. J Virol 72(1):73-83.
- Kyle, J.L., Beatty, P.R., Harris, E. 2007. Dengue virus infects macrophages and dendritic cells in a mouse model of infection. *J Infect Dis* **195**(12):1808-1817.
- Lanciotti, R.S., Roehrig, J.T., Deubel, V., Smith, J., Parker, M., Steele, K., Crise, B., Volpe, K.E., Crabtree, M.B., Scherret, J.H., Hall, R.A., MacKenzie, J.S., Cropp, C.B., Panigrahy, B., Ostlund, E., Schmitt, B., Malkinson, M., Banet, C., Weissman, J., Komar, N., Savage, H.M., Stone, W., McNamara, T., Gubler, D.J. 1999. Origin of the West Nile virus responsible for an outbreak of encephalitis in the northeastern United States. *Science* 286(5448):2333-2337.
- Laurent-Rolle, M., Boer, E.F., Lubick, K.J., Wolfinbarger, J.B., Carmody, A.B., Rockx, B., Liu, W., Ashour, J., Shupert, W.L., Holbrook, M.R., Barrett, A.D., Mason, P.W., Bloom, M.E., García-Sastre, A., Khromykh, A.A., Best, S.M. 2010. The NS5 protein of the virulent West Nile virus NY99 strain is a potent antagonist of type I interferon-mediated JAK-STAT signaling. J Virol 84(7):3503-3515.
- Lazear, H.M., Pinto, A.K., Ramos, H.J., Vick, S.C., Shrestha, B., Suthar, M.S., Gale, M. Jr., Diamond, M.S. 2013. Pattern recognition receptor MDA5 modulates CD8+ T cell-dependent clearance of West Nile virus from the central nervous system. J *Virol* 87(21):11401-11415.
- Lazear, H.M., Pinto, A.K., Vogt, M.R., Gale, M. Jr., Diamond, M.S. 2011. Beta interferon controls West Nile virus infection and pathogenesis in mice. J Virol 85(14):7186-7194.
- Le Bon, A., Schiavoni, G., D'Agostino, G., Gresser, I., Belardelli, F., Tough, D.F. 2001. Type i interferons potently enhance humoral immunity and can promote isotype switching by stimulating dendritic cells in vivo. *Immunity* **14**(4):461-470.
- Le Bon, A., Tough, D.F. 2002. Links between innate and adaptive immunity via type I interferon. *Curr Opin Immunol* **14**(4):432-436.
- Le Bon, A., Tough, D.F. 2008. Type I interferon as a stimulus for cross-priming. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* **19**(1):33-40.
- Leblois, H., Young, P.R. 1993. Sequence of the dengue virus type 2 (strain PR-159) NS1 gene and comparison with its vaccine derivative. *Nucleic Acids Res* **21**(7):1668.
- Ledgerwood, J.E., Pierson, T.C., Hubka, S.A., Desai, N., Rucker, S., Gordon, I.J., Enama, M.E., Nelson, S., Nason, M., Gu, W., Bundrant, N., Koup, R.A., Bailer, R.T., Mascola, J.R., Nabel, G.J., Graham, B.S. 2011. A West Nile virus DNA vaccine utilizing a modified promoter induces neutralizing antibody in younger and older healthy adults in a phase I clinical trial. *J Infect Dis* 203(10):1396-1404.

- Ledizet, M., Kar, K., Foellmer, H.G., Wang, T., Bushmich, S.L., Anderson, J.F., Fikrig, E., Koski, R.A. 2005. A recombinant envelope protein vaccine against West Nile virus. *Vaccine* 23(30):3915-3924.
- Lee, E., Hall, R.A., Lobigs, M. 2004. Common E protein determinants for attenuation of glycosaminoglycan-binding variants of Japanese encephalitis and West Nile viruses. J Virol 78(15):8271-8280.
- Lee, E., Lobigs, M. 2000. Substitutions at the putative receptor-binding site of an encephalitic flavivirus alter virulence and host cell tropism and reveal a role for glycosaminoglycans in entry. *J Virol* **74**(19):8867-8875.
- Lee, E., Lobigs, M. 2002. Mechanism of virulence attenuation of glycosaminoglycanbinding variants of Japanese encephalitis virus and Murray Valley encephalitis virus. J Virol 76(10):4901-4911.
- Lee, E., Wright, P.J., Davidson, A., Lobigs, M. 2006. Virulence attenuation of Dengue virus due to augmented glycosaminoglycan-binding affinity and restriction in extraneural dissemination. J Gen Virol 87(Pt 10):2791-2801.
- Lee, H.K., Iwasaki, A. 2007. Innate control of adaptive immunity: dendritic cells and beyond. *Semin Immunol* **19**(1):48-55.
- Lemon, S.M., Walker, C., Alter, M.J., Yi, M. 2007. Hepatitis C Virus. Fifth ed. In "Fields Virology" (D. M. Knipe, and P. M. Howley, Eds.), Vol. 1, pp. 1253-1304. 2 vols. 5th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Leung, J.Y., Pijlman, G.P., Kondratieva, N., Hyde, J., Mackenzie, J.M., Khromykh, A.A. 2008. Role of nonstructural protein NS2A in flavivirus assembly. *J Virol* **82**(10):4731-4741.
- Li, H., Clum, S., You, S., Ebner, K.E., Padmanabhan, R. 1999. The Serine Protease and RNA-Stimulated Nucleoside Triphosphatase and RNA Helicase Functional Domains of Dengue Virus Type 2 NS3 Converge within a Region of 20 Amino Acids. J Virol 73(4):3108-3116.
- Li, H., Gade, P., Xiao, W., Kalvakolanu, D.V. 2007. The interferon signaling network and transcription factor C/EBP-beta. *Cell Mol Immunol* **4**(6):407-418.
- Li, L., Lok, S.M., Yu, I.M., Zhang, Y., Kuhn, R.J., Chen, J., Rossmann, M.G. 2008. The flavivirus precursor membrane-envelope protein complex: structure and maturation. *Science* **319**(5871):1830-1834.
- Licon Luna, R.M., Lee, E., Müllbacher, A., Blanden, R.V., Langman, R., Lobigs, M. 2002. Lack of both Fas ligand and perforin protects from flavivirus-mediated encephalitis in mice. *J Virol* **76**(7):3202-3211.
- Lieberman, M.M., Clements, D.E., Ogata, S., Wang, G., Corpuz, G., Wong, T., Martyak, T., Gilson, L., Coller, B.A., Leung, J., Watts, D.M., Tesh, R.B., Siirin, M., Travassos da Rosa, A., Humphreys, T., Weeks-Levy, C. 2007. Preparation and immunogenic properties of a recombinant West Nile subunit vaccine. *Vaccine* 25(3):414-423.

- Lieberman, M.M., Nerurkar, V.R., Luo, H., Cropp, B., Carrion, R. Jr., de la Garza, M., Coller, B.A., Clements, D., Ogata, S., Wong, T., Martyak, T., Weeks-Levy, C. 2009. Immunogenicity and protective efficacy of a recombinant subunit West Nile virus vaccine in rhesus monkeys. *Clin Vaccine Immunol* 16(9):1332-1337.
- Lim, C.K., Takasaki, T., Kotaki, A., Kurane, I. 2008. Vero cell-derived inactivated West Nile (WN) vaccine induces protective immunity against lethal WN virus infection in mice and shows a facilitated neutralizing antibody response in mice previously immunized with Japanese encephalitis vaccine. *Virology* 374(1):60-70.
- Lim, J.K., Lisco, A., McDermott, D.H., Huynh, L., Ward, J.M., Johnson, B., Johnson, H., Pape, J., Foster, G.A., Krysztof, D., Follmann, D., Stramer, S.L., Margolis, L.B., Murphy, P.M. 2009. Genetic variation in OAS1 is a risk factor for initial infection withWest Nile virus in man. *PLoS Pathog* 5(2):e1000321.
- Lim, P.Y., Behr, M.J., Chadwick, C.M., Shi, P.Y., Bernard, K.A. 2011. Keratinocytes are cell targets of West Nile virus in vivo. J Virol 85(10):5197-5201.
- Lin, C., Amberg, S.M., Chambers, T.J., Rice, C.M. 1993. Cleavage at a novel site in the NS4A region by the yellow fever virus NS2B-3 proteinase is a prerequisite for processing at the downstream 4A/4B signalase site. J Virol 67(4):2327-2335.
- Lin, R.J., Chang, B.L., Yu, H.P., Liao, C.L., Lin, Y.L. 2006. Blocking of interferoninduced Jak-Stat signaling by Japanese encephalitis virus NS5 through a protein tyrosine phosphatase-mediated mechanism. J Virol 80(12):5908-5918.
- Lin, Y.L., Huang, Y.L., Ma, S.H., Yeh, C.T., Chiou, S.Y., Chen, L.K., Liao, C.L. 1997. Inhibition of Japanese encephalitis virus infection by nitric oxide: antiviral effect of nitric oxide on RNA virus replication. J Virol 71(7):5227-5235.
- Lindenbach, B.D., Rice, C.M. 1999. Genetic interaction of flavivirus nonstructural proteins NS1 and NS4A as a determinant of replicase function. *J Virol* **73**(6):4611-4621.
- Lindenbach, B.D., Theil, H.-J., Rice, C.M. 2007. Flaviviridae: The Viruses and Their Replication. Fifth ed. In "Fields Virology" (D. M. Knipe, and P. M. Howley, Eds.), Vol. 1, pp. 1101-1152. 2 vols. 5th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Liu, W.J., Sedlak, P.L., Kondratieva, N., Khromykh, A.A. 2002. Complementation analysis of the flavivirus Kunjin NS3 and NS5 proteins defines the minimal regions essential for formation of a replication complex and shows a requirement of NS3 in cis for virus assembly. *J Virol* **76**(21):10766-10775.
- Liu, W.J., Wang, X.J., Clark, D.C., Lobigs, M., Hall, R.A., Khromykh, A.A. 2006. A single amino acid substitution in the West Nile virus nonstructural protein NS2A disables its ability to inhibit alpha/beta interferon induction and attenuates virus virulence in mice. J Virol 80(5):2396-2404.
- Liu, W.J., Wang, X.J., Mokhonov, V.V., Shi, P.Y., Randall, R., Khromykh, A.A. 2005. Inhibition of interferon signaling by the New York 99 strain and Kunjin subtype of West Nile virus involves blockage of STAT1 and STAT2 activation by nonstructural proteins. *J Virol* **79**(3):1934-1942.
- Lobigs, M. 1993. Flavivirus premembrane protein cleavage and spike heterodimer secretion require the function of the viral proteinase NS3. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S* A 90(13):6218-6222.
- Lobigs, M., Lee, E. 2004. Inefficient signalase cleavage promotes efficient nucleocapsid incorporation into budding flavivirus membranes. *J Virol* **78**(1):178-186.
- Loo, Y.M., Gale, M. Jr. 2011. Immune signaling by RIG-I-like receptors. Immunity **34**(5):680-692.
- Lorenz, I.C., Allison, S.L., Heinz, F.X., Helenius, A. 2002. Folding and dimerization of tick-borne encephalitis virus envelope proteins prM and E in the endoplasmic reticulum. J Virol 76(11):5480-5491.
- Lorenz, I.C., Kartenbeck, J., Mezzacasa, A., Allison, S.L., Heinz, F.X., Helenius, A. 2003. Intracellular assembly and secretion of recombinant subviral particles from tick-borne encephalitis virus. *J Virol* 77(7):4370-4382.
- Ma, D.Y., Suthar, M.S., Kasahara, S., Gale, M. Jr., Clark, E.A. 2013. CD22 is required for protection against West Nile virus infection. J Virol 87(6):3361-3375.
- Ma, L., Jones, C.T., Groesch, T.D., Kuhn, R.J., Post, C.B. 2004. Solution structure of dengue virus capsid protein reveals another fold. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101(10):3414-3419.
- Mackenzie, J. 2005. Wrapping things up about virus RNA replication. *Traffic* **6**(11):967-977.
- Mackenzie, J.M., Jones, M.K., Young, P.R. 1996. Immunolocalization of the dengue virus nonstructural glycoprotein NS1 suggests a role in viral RNA replication. *Virology* 220(1):232-240.
- Mackenzie, J.M., Khromykh, A.A., Jones, M.K., Westaway, E.G. 1998. Subcellular localization and some biochemical properties of the flavivirus Kunjin nonstructural proteins NS2A and NS4A. *Virology* 245(2):203-215.
- Malathi, K., Dong, B., Gale, M. Jr., Silverman, R.H. 2007. Small self-RNA generated by RNase L amplifies antiviral innate immunity. *Nature* **448**(7155):816-819.
- Malkinson, M., Banet, C. 2002. The role of birds in the ecology of West Nile virus in Europe and Africa. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* **267**:309-322.
- Malmgaard, L., Salazar-Mather, T.P., Lewis, C.A., Biron, C.A. 2002. Promotion of alpha/beta interferon induction during in vivo viral infection through alpha/beta interferon receptor/STAT1 system-dependent and -independent pathways. J Virol 76(9):4520-4525.
- Mandl, C.W., Allison, S.L., Holzmann, H., Meixner, T., Heinz, F.X. 2000. Attenuation of tick-borne encephalitis virus by structure-based site-specific mutagenesis of a putative flavivirus receptor binding site. J Virol 74(20):9601-9609.
- Markoff, L., Falgout, B., Chang, A. 1997. A conserved internal hydrophobic domain mediates the stable membrane integration of the dengue virus capsid protein. *Virology* 233(1):105-117.

- Marrack, P., Kappler, J., Mitchell, T. 1999. Type I interferons keep activated T cells alive. *J Exp Med* **189**(3):521-530.
- Martin, J.E., Pierson, T.C., Hubka, S., Rucker, S., Gordon, I.J., Enama, M.E., Andrews, C.A., Xu, Q., Davis, B.S., Nason, M., Fay, M., Koup, R.A., Roederer, M., Bailer, R.T., Gomez, P.L., Mascola, J.R., Chang, G.J., Nabel, G.J., Graham, B.S. 2007. A West Nile virus DNA vaccine induces neutralizing antibody in healthy adults during a phase 1 clinical trial. *J Infect Dis* 196(12):1732-1740.
- Martinez-Pomares, L., Gordon, S. 2012. CD169+ macrophages at the crossroads of antigen presentation. *Trends Immunol* **33**(2):66-70.
- Martinon, F., Burns, K., Tschopp, J. 2002. The inflammasome: a molecular platform triggering activation of inflammatory caspases and processing of proIL-beta. *Mol Cell* **10**(2):417-426.
- Mason, P.W. 1989. Maturation of Japanese encephalitis virus glycoproteins produced by infected mammalian and mosquito cells. *Virology* **169**(2):354-364.
- Mason, P.W., McAda, P.C., Mason, T.L., Fournier, M.J. 1987. Sequence of the dengue-1 virus genome in the region encoding the three structural proteins and the major nonstructural protein NS1. *Virology* 161(1):262-267.
- Mason, P.W., Shustov, A.V., Frolov, I. 2006. Production and characterization of vaccines based on flaviviruses defective in replication. *Virology* **351**(2):432-443.
- Mateo, R., Xiao, S.Y., Guzman, H., Lei, H., Da Rosa, A.P., Tesh, R.B. 2006. Effects of immunosuppression on West Nile virus infection in hamsters. Am J Trop Med Hyg 75(2):356-362.
- Matusan, A.E., Pryor, M.J., Davidson, A.D., Wright, P.J. 2001. Mutagenesis of the Dengue virus type 2 NS3 protein within and outside helicase motifs: effects on enzyme activity and virus replication. *J Virol* **75**(20):9633-9643.
- May F.J., Davis C.T., Tesh R.B., Barrett A.D. 2011. Phylogeography of West Nile virus: from the cradle of evolution in Africa to Eurasia, Australia, and the Americas. J Virol 85(6):2964-2974.
- McIntosh, B.M., McGillivray, G.M., Dickinson, D.B., Malherbe, H. 1964. Illness caused by Sindbis and West Nile viruses in South Africa. *S Afr Med J* **38**:291-294.
- McMullen, A.R., May, F.J., Li, L., Guzman, H., Bueno, R. Jr., Dennett, J.A., Tesh, R.B., Barrett, A.D. 2011. Evolution of new genotype of West Nile virus in North America. *Emerg Infect Dis* 17(5):785-793.
- Medin, C.L., Fitzgerald, K.A., Rothman, A.L. 2005. Dengue virus nonstructural protein NS5 induces interleukin-8 transcription and secretion. *J Virol* **79**(17):11053-11061.
- Medzhitov, R. 2007. Recognition of microorganisms and activation of the immune response. *Nature* **449**(7164):819-826.
- Medzhitov, R., Janeway, C.A. Jr. 2002. Decoding the patterns of self and nonself by the innate immune system. *Science* **296**(5566):298-300.

- Melian, E.B., Hinzman, E., Nagasaki, T., Firth, A.E., Wills, N.M., Nouwens, A.S., Blitvich, B.J., Leung, J., Funk, A., Atkins, J.F., Hall, R., Khromykh, A.A. 2010. NS1' of flaviviruses in the Japanese encephalitis virus serogroup is a product of ribosomal frameshifting and plays a role in viral neuroinvasiveness. J Virol 84(3):1641-1647.
- Melnick, J.L., Paul, J.R., Riordan, J.T., Barnett, V.H.H., Goldblum, N., Zabin, E. 1951. Isolation from human sera in Egypt of a virus apparently identical to West Nile virus. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med* 77(4):661-665.
- Meurs, E.F., Watanabe, Y., Kadereit, S., Barber, G.N., Katze, M.G., Chong, K., Williams, B.R., Hovanessian, A.G. 1992. Constitutive expression of human double-stranded RNA-activated p68 kinase in murine cells mediates phosphorylation of eukaryotic initiation factor 2 and partial resistance to encephalomyocarditis virus growth. J Virol 66(10):5805-5814.
- Miller, N. 2010. Recent progress in dengue vaccine research and development. *Curr Opin Mol Ther* **12**(1):31-38.
- Miller, S., Krijnse-Locker, J. 2008. Modification of intracellular membrane structures for virus replication. *Nat Rev Microbiol* **6**(5):363-374.
- Miller, S., Sparacio, S., Bartenschlager, R. 2006. Subcellular localization and membrane topology of the dengue virus type 2 non-structural protein 4B. J Biol Chem 281(13):8854-8863.
- Modis, Y., Ogata, S., Clements, D., Harrison, S.C. 2003. A ligand-binding pocket in the dengue virus envelope glycoprotein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 100(12):6986-6991.
- Molloy, S.S., Thomas, L., VanSlyke, J.K., Stenberg, P.E., Thomas, G. 1994. Intracellular trafficking and activation of the furin proprotein convertase: localization to the TGN and recycling from the cell surface. *EMBO J* **13**(1):18-33.
- Monath, T.P., Cropp, C.B., Harrison, A.K. 1983. Mode of entry of a neurotropic arbovirus into the central nervous system. Reinvestigation of an old controversy. *Lab Investig* **48**(4):399-410.
- Monath, T.P., Liu, J., Kanesa-Thasan, N., Myers, G.A., Nichols, R., Deary, A., McCarthy, K., Johnson, C., Ermak, T., Shin, S., Arroyo, J., Guirakhoo, F., Kennedy, J.S., Ennis, F.A., Green, S., Bedford, P. 2006. A live, attenuated recombinant West Nile virus vaccine. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103(17):6694-6699.
- Morrey, J.D., Day, C.W., Julander, J.G., Olsen, A.L., Sidwell, R.W., Cheney, C.D., Blatt, L.M. 2004. Modeling hamsters for evaluating West Nile virus therapies. *Antiviral Res* 63(1):41-50.
- Moudy, R.M., Meola, M.A., Morin, L.L., Ebel, G.D., Kramer, L.D. 2007. A newly emergent genotype of West Nile virus is transmitted earlier and more efficiently by Culex mosquitoes. *Am J Trop Med Hyg*. **77**(2):365-370. Erratum in: *Am J Trop Med Hyg* 77(6):1176.

- Mueller, S.N., Heath, W., McLain, J.D., Carbone, F.R., Jones, C.M. 2002. Characterization of two TCR transgenic mouse lines specific for herpes simplex virus. Immunol. *Cell Biol* **80**(2):156-163.
- Mukhopadhyay, S., Kuhn, R.J., Rossmann, M.G. 2005. A structural perspective of the flavivirus life cycle. *Nat Rev Microbiol* **3**(1):13-22.
- Munoz-Jordan, J.L., Laurent-Rolle, M., Ashour, J., Martinez-Sobrido, L., Ashok, M., Lipkin, W.I., Garcia-Sastre, A. 2005. Inhibition of alpha/beta interferon signaling by the NS4B protein of flaviviruses. *J Virol* 79(13):8004-8013.
- Munoz-Jordan, J.L., Sanchez-Burgos, G.G., Laurent-Rolle, M., Garcia-Sastre, A. 2003. Inhibition of interferon signaling by dengue virus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 100(24):14333-14338.
- Murgue, B., Murri, S., Triki, H., Deubel, V., Zeller, H.G. 2001. West Nile in the Mediterranean basin: 1950-2000. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **951**:117-126.
- Murgue, B., Zeller, H., Deubel, V. 2002. The ecology and epidemiology of West Nile virus in Africa, Europe and Asia. *Curr Topics Microbiol Immunol* **267**:195-221.
- Murphy, F.A. 1980. Togavirus morphology and morphogenesis. In "The Togaviruses: Biology, Structure, Replication" (Schlesinger, R.W., Ed.), pp. 241-316. New York, NY: Academic Press.
- Murray, K., Baraniuk, S., Resnick, M., Arafat, R., Kilborn, C., Cain, K., Shallenberger, R., York, T.L., Martinez, D., Hellums, J.S., Hellums, D., Malkoff, M., Elgawley, N., McNeely, W., Khuwaja, S.A., Tesh, R.B. 2006. Risk factors for encephalitis and death from West Nile virus infection. *Epidemiol Infect* **134**(6):1325-1332.
- Muylaert, I.R., Chambers, T.J., Galler, R., Rice, C.M. 1996. Mutagenesis of the N-linked glycosylation sites of the yellow fever virus NS1 protein: effects on virus replication and mouse neurovirulence. *Virology* **222**(1):159-168.
- Muylaert, I.R., Galler, R., Rice, C.M. 1997. Genetic analysis of the yellow fever virus NS1 protein: identification of a temperature-sensitive mutation which blocks RNA accumulation. *J Virol* **71**(1):291-298.
- Nash, D., Mostashari, F., Fine, A., Miller, J., O'Leary, D., Murray, K., Huang, A., Rosenberg, A., Greenberg, A., Sherman, M., Wong, S., Layton, M., 1999 West Nile Outbreak Response Working Group. 2001. The outbreak of West Nile virus infection in the New York City area in 1999. N Engl J Med 344(24):1807-1814.
- Nathan, C. 2006. Neutrophils and immunity: challenges and opportunities. *Nat Rev Immunol* **6**(3):173-182.
- Navarro-Sanchez, E., Altmeyer, R., Amara, A., Schwartz, O., Fieschi, F., Virelizier, J.L., Arenzana-Seisdedos, F., Desprès, P. 2003. Dendritic-cell-specific ICAM3grabbing non-integrin is essential for the productive infection of human dendritic cells by mosquito-cell-derived dengue viruses. *EMBO Rep* 4(7):723-728.
- Nelson, M.H., Winkelmann, E., Ma, Y., Xia, J., Mason, P.W., Bourne, N., Milligan, G.N. 2010. Immunogenicity of RepliVAX WN, a novel single-cycle West Nile virus vaccine. *Vaccine* 29(2):174-182.

- Nestorowicz, A., Chambers, T.J., Rice, C.M. 1994. Mutagenesis of the yellow fever virus NS2A/2B cleavage site: effects on proteolytic processing, viral replication and evidence for alternative processing of the NS2A protein. *Virology* **199**(1):114-123.
- Ng, T., Hathaway, D., Jennings, N., Champ, D., Chiang, Y.W., Chu, H.J. 2003. Equine vaccine for West Nile virus. *Dev Biol (Basel)* **114**:221-227.
- Nir, Y., Beemer, A., Goldwasser, R.A. 1965. West Nile virus infection in mice following exposure to a viral aerosol. *Br J Exp Pathol* **46**(4):443-449.
- Nir, Y., Goldwasser, R., Lasowski, Y., Margalit, J. 1968. Isolation of West Nile virus strains from mosquitoes in Israel. *Am J Epidemiol* **87**(2):496-501.
- Nowak, T., Färber, P.M., Wengler, G., Wengler, G. 1989. Analyses of the terminal sequences of West Nile virus structural proteins and of the in vitro translation of these proteins allow the proposal of a complete scheme of the proteolytic cleavages involved in their synthesis. *Virology* **169**(2):365-376.
- Nowak, T., Wengler, G. 1987. Analysis of disulfides present in the membrane proteins of the West Nile flavivirus. *Virology* **156**(1):127-137.
- O'Brien, R.L., Roark, C.L., Born, W.K. 2009. IL-17-producing gammadelta T cells. *Eur J Immunol* **39**(3):662-666.
- Ochsenbein, A.F., Pinschewer, D.D., Odermatt, B., Carroll, M.C., Hengartner, H., Zinkernagel, R.M. 1999. Protective T cell-independent antiviral antibody responses are dependent on complement. *J Exp Med* **190**(8):1165-1174.
- Ochsenbein, A.F., Zinkernagel, R.M. 2000. Natural antibodies and complement link innate and acquired immunity. *Immunol Today* **21**(12):624-630.
- O'Leary, D.R., Kuhn S., Kniss K.L., Hinckley, A.F., Rasmussen, S.A., Pape, W.J., Kightlinger, L.K., Beecham, B.D., Miller, T.K., Neitzel, D.F., Michaels, S.R., Campbell, G.L., Lanciotti, R.S., Hayes, E.B. 2006. Birth outcomes following West Nile Virus infection of pregnant women in the United States: 2003–2004. *Pediatrics* 117(3):e537-e545.
- Oliphant, T., Engle, M., Nybakken, G.E., Doane, C., Johnson, S., Huang, L., Gorlatov, S., Mehlhop, E., Marri, A., Chung, K.M., Ebel, G.D., Kramer, L.D., Fremont, D.H., Diamond, M.S. 2005. Development of a humanized monoclonal antibody with therapeutic potential against West Nile virus. *Nat Med* 11(5):522-530.
- Panthier, R. 1968. [Epidemiology of the West Nile virus: study of an outbreak in Camargue. I. Introduction]. Ann Inst Pasteur (Paris) 114(4):518-520.
- Papa, A., Bakonyi, T., Xanthopoulou, K., Vázquez, A., Tenorio, A., Nowotny, N. 2011. Genetic characterization of West Nile virus lineage 2, Greece, 2010. *Emerg Infect Dis* 17(5):920-922.
- Patkar, C.G., Kuhn, R.J. 2008. Yellow Fever virus NS3 plays an essential role in virus assembly independent of its known enzymatic functions. *J Virol* **82**(7):3342-3352.

- Pealer, L.N., Marfin, A.A., Petersen, L.R., Lanciotti, R.S., Page, P.L., Stramer, S.L., Stobierski, M.G., Signs, K., Newman, B., Kapoor, H., Goodman, J.L., Chamberland, M.E., West Nile Virus Transmission Investigation Team. 2003. Transmission of West Nile virus through blood transfusion in the United States in 2002. N Engl J Med 349(13):1236-1245.
- Peiris, J.S., Porterfield, J.S. 1979. Antibody-mediated enhancement of Flavivirus replication in macrophage-like cell lines. *Nature* **282**(5738):509-511.
- Peleg, J. 1969. Behavior of infectious RNA from four different viruses in continuously subcultured *Aedes aegypti* mosquito embryo cells. *Nature* **221**(176):193-194.
- Perera, R., Kuhn, R.J. 2008. Structural proteomics of dengue vírus. *Curr Opin Microbiol* **11**(4):369-377.
- Peterhans, E., Schweizer, M. 2010. Pestiviruses: how to outmaneuver your hosts. Vet Microbiol 142(1-2):18-25.
- Petersen, L. 2012. Record heat may have contributed to a banner year for West Nile virus. Interview with Lyle Petersen. *JAMA* **308**(18):1846-1848.
- Petersen, L.R., Hayes, E.B. 2008. West Nile virus in the Americas. *Med Clin North Am* **92**(6):1307-1322.
- Petersen, L.R., Marfin, A.A. 2002. West Nile virus: a primer for the clinician. Ann Intern Med 137:173-179.
- Peterson, A.T., Vieglais, D.A., Andreasen, J.K. 2003. Migratory birds modeled as critical transport agents for West Nile Virus in North America. *Vector Borne Zoonot Dis* **3**(1):27-37.
- Pijlman, G.P., Kondratieva, N., Khromykh, A.A. 2006. Translation of the flavivirus kunjin NS3 gene in cis but not its RNA sequence or secondary structure is essential for efficient RNA packaging. J Virol 80(22):11255-11264.
- Pincus, S., Mason, P.W., Konishi, E., Fonseca, B.A., Shope, R.E., Rice, C.M., Paoletti, E. 1992. Recombinant vaccinia virus producing the prM and E proteins of yellow fever virus protects mice from lethal yellow fever encephalitis. *Virology* 187(1):290-297.
- Pinto, A.K., Daffis, S., Brien J.D., Gainey, M.D., Yokayama, W.M., Sheehan, K.C., Murphy, K.M., Schreiber, R.D., Diamond, M.S. 2011. A temporal role of type I interferon signaling in CD8+ T cell maturation during acute West Nile virus infection. *PLos Pathog* 7(12):e1002407.
- Pinto, A.K., Richner, J.M., Poore, E.A., Patil, P.P., Amanna, I.J., Slifka, M.K., Diamond, M.S. 2013. A Hydrogen Peroxide-Inactivated Virus Vaccine Elicits Humoral and Cellular Immunity and Protects against Lethal West Nile Virus Infection in Aged Mice. J Virol 87(4):1926-1936.
- Platonov, A.E., Fedorova, M.V., Karan, L.S., Shopenskaya, T.A., Platonova, O.V., Zhuravlev, V.I. 2008. Epidemiology of West Nile infection in Volgograd, Russia, in relation to climate change and mosquito (Diptera: Culicidae) bionomics. *Parasitol Res* 103(1):45-53.

- Platonov, A.E., Shipulin, G.A., Shipulina, O.Y., Tyutyunnik, E.N., Frolochkina, T.I., Lanciotti, R.S., Yazyshina, S., Platonova, O.V., Obukhov, I.L., Zhukov, A.N., Vengerov, Y.Y., Pokrovskii, V.I. 2001. Outbreak of West Nile virus infection, Volgograd Region, Russia, 1999. *Emerg Infect Dis* 7(1):128-132.
- Platt, K.B., Tucker, B.J., Halbur, P.G., Blitvich, B.J., Fabiosa, F.G., Mullin, K., Parikh, G.R., Kitikoon, P., Bartholomay, L.C., Rowley, W.A. 2008. Fox squirrels (Sciurus niger) develop West Nile virus viremias sufficient for infecting select mosquito species. *Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis* 8(2):225-233.
- Platt, K.B., Tucker, B.J., Halbur, P.G., Tiawsirisup, S., Blitvich, B.J., Fabiosa, F.G., Bartholomay, L.C., Rowley, W.A. 2007. West Nile virus viremia in eastern chipmunks (Tamias striatus) sufficient for infecting different mosquitoes. *Emerg Infect Dis* 13(6):831-837.
- Pletnev, A.G., Swayne, D.E., Speicher, J., Rumyantsev, A.A., Murphy, B.R. 2006. Chimeric West Nile/dengue virus vaccine candidate: preclinical evaluation in mice, geese and monkeys for safety and immunogenicity. *Vaccine* 24(40-41):6392-6404.
- Pogodina, V.V., Frolova, M.P., Malenko, G.V., Fokina, G.I., Koreshkova, G.V., Kiseleva, L.L., Bochkova, N.G., Ralph, N.M., 1983. Study on West Nile virus persistence in monkeys. *Arch Virol* 75(1-2):71-86.
- Pohlmann, S., Soilleux, E.J., Baribaud, F., Leslie, G.J., Morris, L.S., Trowsdale, J., Lee, B., Coleman, N., Doms, R.W. 2001. DC-SIGNR, a DC-SIGN homologue expressed in endothelial cells, binds to human and simian immunodeficiency viruses and activates infection in trans. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98(5):2670-2675.
- Prchal, M., Pilz, A., Simma, O., Lingnau, K., von Gabain, A., Strobl, B., Müller, M., Decker, T. 2009. Type I interferons as mediators of immune adjuvants for T- and B cell-dependent acquired immunity. *Vaccine* 27(Suppl 6):G17-G20.
- Prestwood, T.R., May, M.M., Plummer, E.M., Morar, M.M., Yauch, L.E., Shresta, S., 2012. Trafficking and replication patterns reveal splenic macrophages as major targets of dengue virus in mice. *J Virol* 86(22):12138-12147.
- Preugschat, F., Strauss, J.H. 1991. Processing of nonstructural proteins NS4A and NS4B of dengue 2 virus in vitro and in vivo. *Virology* **185**(2):689-697.
- Prikhod'ko, G.G., Prikhod'ko, E.A., Pletnev, A.G., Cohen, J.I. 2002. Langat flavivirus protease NS3 binds caspase-8 and induces apoptosis. *J Virol* **76**(11):5701-5710.
- Proietti, E., Bracci, L., Puzelli, S., Di Pucchio, T., Sestili, P., De Vincenzi, E., Venditti, M., Capone, I., Seif, I., De Maeyer, E., Tough, D., Donatelli, I., Belardelli, F. 2002. Type I IFN as a natural adjuvant for a protective immune response: lessons from the influenza vaccine model. *J Immunol* 169(1):375-383.
- Pupo, M., Guzman, M.G., Fernandez, R., Llop, A., Dickinson, F.O., Perez, D., Cruz, R., Gonzalez, T., Estevez, G., Gonzalez, H., Santos, P., Kouri, G., Andonova, M., Lindsay, R., Artsob, H., Drebot, M. 2006. West Nile Virus infection in humans and horses, Cuba. *Emerg Infect Dis* 12(6):1022-1024.

- Purtha, W.E., Chachu, K.A, Virgin, H.W. 4th., Diamond, M.S. 2008. Early B-cell activation after West Nile virus infection requires alpha/beta interferon but not antigen receptor signaling. *J Virol* **82**(22):10964-10974.
- Purtha, W.E., Myers, N., Mitaksov, V., Sitati, E., Connolly, J., Fremont, D.H., Hansen, T.H., Diamond, M.S. 2007. Antigen-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes protect against lethal West Nile virus encephalitis. *Eur J Immunol* 37(7):1845-1854.
- Ramanathan, M.P., Chambers, J.A., Pankhong, P., Chattergoon, M., Attatippaholkun, W., Dang, K., Shah, N., Weiner, D.B. 2006. Host cell killing by the West Nile virus NS2B-NS3 proteolytic complex: NS3 alone is sufficient to recruit caspase-8based apoptotic pathway. *Virology* 345(1):56-72.
- Ramanathan, M.P., Kutzler, M.A., Kuo, Y.C., Yan, J., Liu, H., Shah, V. Bawa, A., Selling, B., Sardesai, N.Y., Kim, J.J., Weiner, D.B. 2009. Coimmunization with an optimized IL15 plasmid adjuvant enhances humoral immunity via stimulating B cells induced by genetically engineered DNA vaccines expressing consensus JEV and WNV E DIII. *Vaccine* 27(32):4370-4380.
- Randall, R.E., Goodbourn, S. 2008. Interferons and viruses: an interplay between induction, signalling, antiviral responses and virus countermeasures. J Gen Virol 89(Pt 1):1-47.
- Rappole, J.H., Compton, B.W., Leimgruber, P., Robertson, J., King, D.I., Renner, S.C. 2006. Modeling movement of West Nile virus in the western hemisphere. *Vector Borne Zoonot Dis* 6(2):128-139.
- Ratterree, M.S., da Rosa, A.P., Bohm, R.P. Jr., Cogswell, F.B., Phillippi, K.M., Caillouet, K., Schwanberger, S., Shope, R.E., Tesh, R.B. 2003. West Nile virus infection in nonhuman primate breeding colony, concurrent with human epidemic, southern Louisiana. *Emerg Infect Dis* 9(11):1388-1394.
- Ratterree, M.S., Gutierrez, R.A., Travassos da Rosa, A.P., Dille, B.J., Beasley, D.W., Bohm, R.P., Desai, S.M., Didier, P.J., Bikenmeyer, L.G., Dawson, G.J., Leary, T.P., Schochetman, G., Phillippi-Falkenstein, K., Arroyo, J., Barrett, A.D., Tesh, R.B. 2004. Experimental infection of rhesus macaques with West Nile virus: level and duration of viremia and kinetics of the antibody response after infection. J Infect Dis 189(4):669-676.
- Rey, F.A., Heinz, F.X., Mandl, C., Kunz, C., Harrison, S.C. 1995. The envelope glycoprotein from tick-borne encephalitis virus at 2 A resolution. *Nature* 375(6529):291-298.
- Rice, C.M., Lenches, E.M., Eddy, S.R., Shin, S.J., Sheets, R.L., Strauss, J.H. 1985. Nucleotide sequence of yellow fever virus: implications for flavivirus gene expression and evolution. *Science* 229():726-733.
- Rios, M., Zhang, M.J., Grinev, A., Srinivasan, K., Daniel, S., Wood, O., Hewlett, I.K., Dayton, A.I. 2006. Monocytes-macrophages are a potential target in human infection with West Nile virus through blood transfusion. *Transfusion* 46(4):659-667.

- Rossi, S.L., Zhao, Q., O'Donnell, V.K., Mason, P.W. 2005. Adaptation of West Nile virus replicons to cells in culture and use of replicon-bearing cells to probe antiviral action. *Virology* 331(2):457-470.
- Saito, I., Miyamura, T., Ohbayashi, A., Harada, H., Katayama, T., Kikuchi, S., Watanabe, Y., Koi, S., Onji, M., Ohta, Y., Choo, Q-L., Houghton, M., Kuo, G. 1990. Hepatitis C virus infection is associated with the development of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 87(17):6547-6549.
- Sampson, B.A., Armbrustmacher, V. 2001. West Nile encephalitis: the neuropathology of four fatalities. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **951**:172-178.
- Samuel, M.A., Whitby, K., Keller, B.C., Marri, A., Barchet, W., Williams, B.R.G., Silverman, R.H., Gale, M. Jr, Diamond, M.S. 2006. PKR and RNase L contribute to protection against lethal West Nile virus infection by controlling early viral spread in the periphery and replication in neurons. *J Virol* 80(4):7009-7019.
- Sanchez, M.D., Pierson, T.C., McAllister, D., Hanna, S.L., Puffer, B.A., Valentine, L.E., Murtadha, M.M., Hoxie, J.A., Doms, R.W. 2005. Characterization of neutralizing antibodies to West Nile virus. *Virology* 336(1):70-82.
- Sanchez, V., Gimenez, S., Tomlinson, B., Chan, P.K., Thomas, G.N., Forrat, R., Chambonneau, L., Deauvieau, F., Lang, J., Guy, B. 2006. Innate and adaptive cellular immunity in flavivirus-naive human recipients of a live-attenuated dengue serotype 3 vaccine produced in Vero cells (VDV3). *Vaccine* 24(23):4914-26.
- Schalich, J., Allison, S.L., Stiasny, K., Mandl, C.W., Kunz, C., Heinz, F.X. 1996. Recombinant subviral particles from tick-borne encephalitis virus are fusogenic and provide a model system for studying flavivirus envelope glycoprotein functions. J Virol 70(7):4549-4557.
- Scherbik, S.V., Paranjape, J.M., Stockman, B.M., Silverman, R.H., Brinton, M.A. 2006. RNase L plays a role in the antiviral response to West Nile virus. J Virol 80(6):2987-2999.
- Schlee, M., Hartmann E., Coch, C., Wimmenauer, V., Janke, M., Barchet, W., Hartmann, G. 2009. Approaching the RNA ligand for RIG-I? *Immunol Rev* 227(1):66-74.
- Schlesinger, J.J., Brandriss, M.W., Walsh, E.E. 1987. Protection of mice against dengue 2 virus encephalitis by immunization with the dengue 2 virus nonstructural glycoprotein NS1. J Gen Virol 68(Pt 3):853-857.
- Schneider, B.S., Soong, L., Girard, Y.A., Campbell, G., Mason, P., Higgs, S. 2006. Potentiation of West Nile encephalitis by mosquito feeding. *Viral Immunol* 19(1):74-82.
- Schroder, K., Tschopp, J. 2010. The inflammasomes. Cell 140(6):821-832.
- Seder, R.A., Darrah, P.A., Roederer, M. 2008. T-cell quality in memory and protection: implications for vaccine design. *Nat Rev Immunol* **8**(4):247-258.
- Sejvar, J.J., Bode, A.V., Marfin, A.A., Campbell, G.L., Pape, J., Biggerstaff, B.J., Petersen, L.R. 2006. West Nile virus-associated flaccid paralysis outcome. *Emerg Infect Dis* **12**(3):514-516.

- Sejvar, J.J., Marfin, A.A. 2006. Manifestations of West Nile neuroinvasive disease. *Rev Med Virol* **16**(4):209-224.
- Seregin, A., Nistler, R., Borisevich, V., Yamshchikov, G., Chaporgina, E., Kwok, C.W., Yamshchikov, V. 2006. Immunogenicity of West Nile virus infectious DNA and its noninfectious derivatives. *Virology* 356(1-2):115-125.
- Shafee, N., AbuBakar, S. 2003. Dengue virus type 2 NS3 protease and NS2B-NS3 protease precursor induce apoptosis. *J Gen Virol* **84**(Pt 8):2191-2195.
- Shao, L., Devenport, M., Jacobs-Lorena, M. 2001. The peritrophic matrix of hematophagous insects. *Arch Insect Biochem Physiol* **47**(2):119-125.
- Shieh, W.J., Guarner, J., Layton, M., Fine, A., Miller, J., Nash, D., Campbell, G.L., Roehrig, J.T., Gubler, D.J., Zaki, S.R. 2000. The role of pathology in an investigation of an outbreak of West Nile encephalitis in New York, 1999. *Emerg Infect Dis* 6(4):370-372.
- Shimoni, Z., Niven, M.J., Pitlick, S., Bulvik, S. 2001. Treatment of West Nile virus encephalitis with intravenous immunoglobulin. *Emerg Infect Dis* **7**(4):759.
- Shirato, K., Miyoshi, H., Goto, A., Ako, Y., Ueki, T., Kariwa, H., and Takashima, I. 2004. Viral envelope protein glycosylation is a molecular determinant of the neuroinvasiveness of the New York strain of West Nile virus. J Gen Virol 85(Pt12):3637-3645.
- Shortman, K., Liu, Y.J. 2002. Mouse and human dendritic cell subtypes. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2(3):151-161.
- Shortman, K., Naik, S.H. 2007. Steady-state and inflammatory dendritic-cell development. *Nat Rev Immunol* **7**(1):19-30.
- Shresta, S., Pham, C.T., Thomas, D.A., Graubert, T.A., Ley, T.J. 1998. How do cytotoxic lymphocytes kill their targets? *Curr Opin Immunol* **10**(5):581-587.
- Shrestha, B., Diamond, M.S. 2004. Role of CD8+ T cells in control of West Nile virus infection. J Virol 78(15):8312-8321.
- Shrestha, B., Diamond, M.S. 2007. Fas ligand interactions contribute to CD8+ T-cellmediated control of West Nile virus infection in the central nervous system. J Virol 81(21):11749-11757.
- Shrestha, B., Gottlieb, D., Diamond, M.S. 2003. Infection and injury of neurons by West Nile encephalitis virus. J Virol 77(24):13203-13213.
- Shrestha, B., Pinto, A.K., Green, S., Bosch, I., Diamond, M.S. 2012. CD8+ T cells use TRAIL to restrict West Nile virus pathogenesis by controlling infection in neurons. J Virol 86(17):8937-8948.
- Shrestha, B., Samuel, M.A., Diamond, M.S. 2006a. CD8+ T cells require perforin to clear West Nile virus from infected neurons. *J Virol* **80**(1):119-129.
- Shrestha, B., Wang, T., Samuel, M.A., Whitby, K., Craft, J., Fikrig, E., Diamond, M.S. 2006b. Gamma interferon plays a crucial early antiviral role in protection against West Nile virus infection. J Virol 80(11):5338-5348.

- Sitati, E.M., Diamond, M.S. 2006. CD4+ T-cell responses are required for clearance of West Nile virus from the central nervous system. *J Virol* **80**(24):12060-12069.
- Slifka, M.K., Matloubian, M., Ahmed, R. 1995. Bone marrow is a major site of long-term antibody production after acute viral infection. *J Virol* **69**(3):1895-1902.
- Smith, G.W., Wright, P.J. 1985. Synthesis of proteins and glycoproteins in dengue type 2 virus-infected vero and Aedes albopictus cells. *J Gen Virol* **66**(Pt 3):559-571.
- Smith, H.L., Monath, T.P., Pazoles, P., Rothman, A.L., Casey, D.M., Terajima, M., Ennis, F.A., Guirakhoo, F., Green, S. 2011. Development of antigen-specific memory CD8+ T cells following live-attenuated chimeric West Nile virus vaccination. J Infect Dis 203(4):513-522.
- Smith, T.J., Brandt, W.E., Swanson, J.L., McCown, J.M., Buescher, E.L. 1970. Physical and biological properties of dengue-2 virus and associated antigens. J Virol 5(4):524-532.
- Smithburn, K.C., Hughes, T.P., Burke, A.W., Paul, J.H. 1940. A Neurotropic Virus Isolated From The Blood Of a Native of Uganda. Am J Trop Med Hyg 20(4):471-492.
- Soilleux, E.J., Morris, L.S., Leslie, G., Chehimi, J., Luo, Q., Levroney, E., Trowsdale, J., Montaner, L.J., Doms, R.W., Weissman, D., Coleman, N., Lee, B. 2002. Constitutive and induced expression of DC-SIGN on dendritic cell and macrophage subpopulations in situ and in vitro. *J Leukoc Biol* **71**(3):445-457.
- Stadler, K., Allison, S.L., Schalich, J., Heinz, F.X. 1997. Proteolytic activation of tickborne encephalitis virus by furin. J Virol 71(11):8475-8481.
- Stark, G.R., Kerr, I.M., Williams, B.R., Silverman, R.H., Schreiber, R.D. 1998. How cells respond to interferons. *Annu Rev Biochem* **67**:227-264.
- Steele, C.R., Oppenheim, D.E., Hayday, A.C. 2000. Gamma(delta) T cells: non-classical ligands for non-classical cells. *Curr Biol* 10(7):R282-285.
- Steinbrink, K., Mahnke, K., Grabbe, S., Enk, A.H., Jonuleit, H. 2009. Myeloid dendritic cell: From sentinel of immunity to key player of peripheral tolerance? *Hum Immunol* **70**(5):289-293.
- Stiasny, K., Allison, S.L., Mandl, C.W., Heinz, F.X. 2001. Role of metastability and acidic pH in membrane fusion by tick-borne encephalitis virus. J Virol 75(16):7392-7398.
- Stiasny, K., Allison, S.L., Marchler-Bauer, A., Kunz, C., Heinz, F.X. 1996. Structural requirements for low-pH-induced rearrangements in the envelope glycoprotein of tick-borne encephalitis virus. *J Virol* 70(11):8142-8147.
- Stocks, C.E., Lobigs, M. 1998. Signal peptidase cleavage at the flavivirus C-prM junction: dependence on the viral NS2B-3 protease for efficient processing requires determinants in C, the signal peptide, and prM. J Virol 72(3):2141-2149.
- Sun, D.S., King, C.C., Huang, H.S., Shih, Y.L., Lee, C.C., Tsai, W.J., Yu, C.C., Chang, H.H. 2007. Antiplatelet autoantibodies elicited by dengue virus nonstructural

protein 1 cause thrombocytopenia and mortality in mice. J Thromb Haemost 5(11):2291-2299.

- Suthar, M.S., Brassil, M.M., Blahnik, G., McMillan, A., Ramos, H.J., Proll, S.C., Belisle, S.E., Katze, M.G., Gale, M. Jr. 2013a. A systems biology approach reveals that tissue tropism to West Nile virus is regulated by antiviral genes and innate immune cellular processes. *PLoS Pathog* 9(2):e1003168.
- Suthar, M.S., Diamond, M.S., Gale, M. Jr. 2013b. West Nile virus infection and immunity. *Nat Rev Microbiol* **11**(2):115-128.
- Suthar, M.S., Ma, D.Y., Thomas, S., Lund, J.M., Zhang, N., Daffis, S., Rudensky, A.Y., Bevan, M.J., Clark, E.A., Kaja, M-K., Diamond, M.S., Gale, M. Jr. 2010. IPS-1 is essential for the control of West Nile virus infection and immunity. *PLoS Pathog* 6(2):e1000757.
- Suzuki, R., Winkelmann, E.R., Mason, P.W. 2009. Construction and characterization of a single-cycle chimeric flavivirus vaccine candidate that protects mice against lethal challenge with dengue virus type 2. *J Virol* **83**(4):1870-1880.
- Swiecki, M., Colonna, M. 2010. Unraveling the functions of plasmacytoid dendritic cells during viral infections, autoimmunity, and tolerance. *Immunol Rev* 234(1):142-162.
- Swiecki, M., Gilfillan, S., Vermi, W., Wang, Y., Colonna, M. 2010. Plasmacytoid dendritic cell ablation impacts early interferon responses and antiviral NK and CD8(+) T cell accrual. *Immunity* 33(6):955-966.
- Szretter, K.J., Brien, J.D., Thackray, L.B., Virgin, H.W., Cresswell, P., Diamond, M.S. 2011. The interferon-inducible gene viperin restricts West Nile virus pathogenesis. J Virol 85:11557-11566.
- Szretter, K.J., Daffis, S., Patel, J., Suthar, M.S., Klein, R.S., Gale, M. Jr., Diamond, M.S. 2010. The innate immune adaptor molecule MyD88 restricts West Nile virus replication and spread in neurons of the central nervous system. J Virol 84(23):12125-12138.
- Takeuchi, O., Akira, S. 2008. MDA5/RIG-I and virus recognition. *Curr Opin Immunol* **20**(1):17-22.
- Takeuchi, O., Akira, S. 2010. Pattern recognition receptors and inflammation. *Cell* **140**(6):805-820.
- Tan, B.H., Fu, J., Sugrue, R.J., Yap, E.H., Chan, Y.C., Tan, Y.H. 1996. Recombinant dengue type 1 virus NS5 protein expressed in Escherichia coli exhibits RNAdependent RNA polymerase activity. *Virology* 216(2):317-325.
- Tassaneetrithep, B., Burgess, T.H., Granelli-Piperno, A., Trumpfheller, C., Finke, J., Sun,
 W., Eller, M.A., Pattanapanyasat, K., Sarasombath, S., Birx, D.L., Steinman,
 R.M., Schlesinger, S., Marovich, M.A. 2003. DC-SIGN (CD209) mediates
 dengue virus infection of human dendritic cells. *J Exp Med* 197(7):823-829.
- Taylor, R.M., Work, T.H., Hurlbut, H.S., Rizk, F. 1956. A study of the ecology of West Nile virus in Egypt. Am J Trop Med Hyg 5(4):579-620.

- Terenzi, F., Hui, D.J., Merrick, W.C., Sen, G.C. 2006. Distinct induction patterns and functions of two closely related interferon-inducible human genes, ISG54 and ISG56. J Biol Chem 281(45):34064-34071.
- Thepparit, C., Phoolcharoen, W., Suksanpaisan, L., Smith, D.R. 2004. Internalization and propagation of the dengue virus in human hepatoma (HepG2) cells. *Intervirology* 47(2):78-86.
- Thompson, J.F., Hayes, L.S., Lloyd, D.B. 1991. Modulation of firefly luciferase stability and impact on studies of gene regulation. *Gene* **103**(2):171-177.
- Thompson, L.J., Kolumam, G.A., Thomas, S., Murali-Krishna, K. 2006. Innate inflammatory signals induced by various pathogens differentially dictate the IFN-I dependence of CD8 T cells for clonal expansion and memory formation. J Immunol 177(3):1746-1754.
- Town, T., Bai, F., Wang, T., Kaplan, A.T., Qian, F., Montgomery, R.R., Anderson, J.F., Flavell, R.A., Fikrig, E. 2009. Toll-like receptor 7 mitigates lethal West Nile encephalitis via interleukin 23-dependent immune cell infiltration and homing. *Immunity* 30(2):242-253.
- Tu, Y.C., Yu, C.Y., Liang, J.J., Lin, E., Liao, C.L., Lin, Y.L. 2012. Blocking doublestranded RNA-activated protein kinase PKR by Japanese encephalitis virus nonstructural protein 2A. J Virol 86(19):10347-10358.
- Tyler, K.L. 2004. West Nile virus infection in the United States. *Arch Neurol* **61**(8):1190-1195.
- Tzou, P., Ohresser, S., Ferrandon, D., Capovilla, M., Reichhart, J.M., Lemaitre, B., Hoffmann, J.A., Imler, J.L. 2000. Tissue-specific inducible expression of antimicrobial peptide genes in Drosophila surface epithelia. *Immunity* 13(5):737-748.
- Valdes, K., Alvarez, M., Pupo, M., Vazquez, S., Rodriguez, R., Guzman, M.G. 2000. Human Dengue antibodies against structural and nonstructural proteins. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol* 7(5):856-857.
- Valenzuela, J., Schmidt, C., Mescher, M. 2002. The roles of IL-12 in providing a third signal for clonal expansion of naive CD8 T cells. *J Immunol* 169(12):6842-6849.
- van der Meulen, K.M., Pensaert, M.B., Nauwynck, H.J. 2005. West Nile virus in the vertebrate world. *Arch Virol* **150**(4):637-657.
- van der Schaar, H.M., Rust, M.J., Chen, C., van der Ende-Metselaar, H., Wilschut, J., Zhuang, X., Smit, J.M. 2008. Dissecting the cell entry pathway of dengue virus by single-particle tracking in living cells. *PLoS Pathog* **4**(12):e1000244.
- van der Schaar, H.M., Rust, M.J., Waarts, B.L., van der Ende-Metselaar, H., Kuhn, R.J., Wilschut, J., Zhuang, X., Smit, J.M. 2007. Characterization of the early events in dengue virus cell entry by biochemical assays and single-virus tracking. *J Virol* 81(21):12019-12028.

- van Rooijen, N., Sanders, A., 1994. Liposome mediated depletion of macrophages: mechanism of action, preparation of liposomes and applications. J Immunol Methods 174(1-2):83-93.
- Vargin, V.V., Semenov, B.F. 1986. Changes of natural killer cell activity in different mouse lines by acute and asymptomatic flavivirus infections. Acta Virol 30(4):303-308.
- Vazquez, S., Guzman, M.G., Guillen, G., Chinea, G., Perez, A.B., Pupo, M., Rodriguez, R., Reyes, O., Garay, H.E., Delgado, I., Garcia, G., Alvarez, M. 2002. Immune response to synthetic peptides of dengue prM protein. *Vaccine* 20(13-14):1823-1830.
- Vivier, E., Tomasello, E., Baratin, M., Walzer, T., Ugolini, S. 2008. Functions of natural killer cells. *Nat Immunol* 9(5):503-510.
- Wacher, C., Müller, M., Hofer, M.J., Getts, D.R., Zabaras, R., Ousman, S.S., Terenzi, F., Sen, G.C., King, N.J., Campbell, I.L. 2007. Coordinated regulation and widespread cellular expression of interferon-stimulated genes (ISG) ISG-49, ISG-54, and ISG-56 in the central nervous system after infection with distinct viruses. *J Virol* 81(2):860-871.
- Wallis, T.P., Huang, C.Y., Nimkar, S.B., Young, P.R., Gorman, J.J. 2004. Determination of the disulfide bond arrangement of dengue virus NS1 protein. J Biol Chem 279(20):20729-20741.
- Wang, J.P., Liu, P., Latz, E., Golenbock, D.T., Finberg, R.W., Libraty, D.H. 2006a. Flavivirus activation of plasmacytoid dendritic cells delineates key elements of TLR7 signaling beyond endosomal recognition. *J Immunol* **177**(10):7114-7121.
- Wang, T., Anderson, J.F., Magnarelli, L.A., Wong, S.J., Koski, R.A., Fikrig, E. 2001. Immunization of mice against West Nile virus with recombinant envelope protein. *J Immunol* 167(9):5273-5277.
- Wang, T., Gao, Y., Scully, E., Davis, C.T., Anderson, J.F., Welte, T., Ledizet, M., Koski, R., Madri, J.A., Barrett, A., Yin, Z., Craft, J., Fikrig, E. 2006b. Gamma delta T cells facilitate adaptive immunity against West Nile virus infection in mice. J Immunol 177(3):1825-1832.
- Wang, T., Scully, E., Yin, Z., Kim, J.H., Wang, S., Yan, J., Mamula, M., Anderson, J.F., Craft, J., Fikrig, E. 2003a. IFN-gamma-producing gamma delta T cells help control murine West Nile virus infection. *J Immunol* **171**(5):2524-2531.
- Wang, T., Town, T., Alexopoulou, L., Anderson, J.F., Fikrig, E., Flavell, R.A. 2004. Toll-like receptor 3 mediates West Nile virus entry into the brain causing lethal encephalitis. Nat Med 10(12):1366-1373.
- Wang, Y., Lobigs, M., Lee, E., Koskinen, A., Müllbacher, A. 2006c. CD8(+) T cellmediated immune responses in West Nile virus (Sarafend strain) encephalitis are independent of gamma interferon. J Gen Virol 87 (Pt 12):3599-3609.

- Wang, Y., Lobigs, M., Lee, E., Müllbacher, A. 2003b. CD8+ T cells mediate recovery and immunopathology in West Nile virus encephalitis. *J Virol* **77**(24):13323-13334.
- Warrener, P., Tamura, J.K., Collett, M.S. 1993. An RNA-stimulated NTPase activity associated with yellow fever virus NS3 protein expressed in bacteria. *J Virol* **67**(2):989-996.
- Watson, J.T., Pertel, P.E., Jones, R.C., Siston, A.M., Paul, W.S., Austin, C.C., Gerber, S.I. 2004. Clinical characteristics and functional outcomes of West Nile fever. *Ann Intern Med* 141(5):360-365.
- Watts, D.M., Tesh, R.B., Siirin, M., Rosa, A.T., Newman, P.C., Clements, D.E., Ogata, S., Coller, B.A., Weeks-Levy, C., Lieberman, M.M. 2007. Efficacy and durability of a recombinant subunit West Nile vaccine candidate in protecting hamsters from West Nile encephalitis. *Vaccine* 25(15):2913-2918.
- Welte, T., Regan, K., Fang, H., Machain-Williams, C., Zheng, X., Mendell, N., Chang, G.J., Wu, P., Blair, C.D., Wang, T. 2009. Toll-like receptor 7-induced immune response to cutaneous West Nile virus infection. J Gen Virol 90(11):2660-2668.
- Wengler, G., Wengler, G. 1989. Cell-associated West Nile flavivirus is covered with E+pre-M protein heterodimers which are destroyed and reorganized by proteolytic cleavage during virus release. *J Virol* **63**(6):2521-2526.
- Wengler, G., Wengler, G. 1991. The carboxy-terminal part of the NS3 protein of the West Nile flavivirus can be isolated as a soluble protein after proteolytic cleavage and represents an RNA-stimulated NTPase. *Virology* 184(2):707-715.
- Wengler, G., Wengler, G. 1993. The NS 3 nonstructural protein of flaviviruses contains an RNA triphosphatase activity. *Virology* **197**(1):265-273.
- Wengler, G., Wengler, G., Gross, H.J. 1978. Studies on virus-specific nucleic acids synthesized in vertebrate and mosquito cells infected with flaviviruses. *Virology* 89(2):423-437.
- Werme, K., Wigerius, M., Johansson, M. 2008. Tick-borne encephalitis virus NS5 associates with membrane protein scribble and impairs interferon-stimulated JAK–STAT signaling. *Cell Microbiol* **10**(3):696-712.
- Westaway, E.G., Goodman, M.R. 1987. Variation in distribution of the three flavivirusspecified glycoproteins detected by immunofluorescence in infected Vero cells. *Arch Virol* **94**(3-4):215-228.
- Westaway, E.G., Mackenzie, J.M., Kenney, M.T., Jones, M.K., Khromykh, A.A. 1997. Ultrastructure of Kunjin virus-infected cells: colocalization of NS1 and NS3 with double-stranded RNA, and of NS2B with NS3, in virus-induced membrane structures. J Virol 71(9):6650-6661.
- Westaway, E.G., Mackenzie, J.M., Khromykh, A.A. 2002. Replication and gene function in Kunjin virus. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* 267:323-351.

- Wherry, E.J., Blattman, J.N., Murali-Krishna, K., van der Most, R., Ahmed, R. 2003. Viral persistence alters CD8 T-cell immunodominance and tissue distribution and results in distinct stages of functional impairment. J Virol 77(8):4911-4927.
- Whiteman, M.C., Li, L., Wicker, J.A., Kinney, R.M., Huang, C., Beasley, D.W., Chung, K.M., Diamond, M.S., Solomon, T., Barrett, A.D. 2010. Development and characterization of non-glycosylated E and NS1 mutant viruses as a potential candidate vaccine for West Nile virus. *Vaccine* 28(4):1075-1083.
- WHO (2012). Dengue and severe dengue. WHO Fact Sheet N.117, November 2012. Retrieved June 30, 2013 from http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs117/en/
- WHO (2013). Yellow fever. WHO Fact Sheet N.100, may 2013. Retrieved June 30, 2013 from http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs100/en/
- Wicker, J.A., Whiteman, M.C., Beasley, D.W., Davis, C.T., Zhang, S., Schneider, B.S., Higgs, S., Kinney, R.M., Barrett, A.D. 2006. A single amino acid substitution in the central portion of the West Nile virus NS4B protein confers a highly attenuated phenotype in mice. *Virology* 349(2):245-253.
- Widman, D.G., Frolov, I., Mason, P.W. 2008b. Third-generation flavivirus vaccines based on single-cycle, encapsidation-defective viruses. *Adv Virus Res* **72**:77-126.
- Widman, D.G., Ishikawa, T., Fayzulin, R., Bourne, N., Mason, P.W. 2008a. Construction and characterization of a second-generation pseudoinfectious West Nile virus vaccine propagated using a new cultivation system. *Vaccine* **26**(22):2762-2771.
- Widman, D.G., Ishikawa, T., Giavedoni, L.D., Hodara, V.L., Garza, Mde. L., Montalbo, J.A., Travassos Da Rosa, A.P., Tesh, R.B., Patterson, J.L., Carrion, R. Jr., Bourne, N., Mason, P.W. 2010. Evaluation of RepliVAX WN, a single-cycle flavivirus vaccine, in a non-human primate model of West Nile virus infection. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* 82(6):1160-1167.
- Widman, D.G., Ishikawa, T., Winkelmann, E.R., Infante, E., Bourne, N., Mason, P.W. 2009. RepliVAX WN, a single-cycle flavivirus vaccine to prevent West Nile disease, elicits durable protective immunity in hamsters. *Vaccine* 27(41):5550-5553.
- Wilkins, C., Gale, M. Jr. 2010. Recognition of viruses by cytoplasmic sensors. Curr Opin Immunol 22(1):41-47.
- Winkelmann, E.R., Widman, D.G., Xia, J., Ishikawa, T., Miller-Kittrell, M., Nelson, M.H., Bourne, N., Scholle, F., Mason, P.W., Milligan, G.N. 2012. Intrinsic adjuvanting of a novel single-cycle flavivirus vaccine in the absence of tyhpe I interferon receptor signaling. *Vaccine* **30**(8):1465-1475.
- Winkelmann, E.R., Widman, D.G., Xia, J., Johnson, A.J., van Rooijen, N., Mason, P.W., Bourne, N., Milligan, G.N. 2014. Subcapsular sinus macrophages limit dissemination of West Nile virus particles after inoculation but are not essential for the development of West Nile virus-specific T cell responses. *Virology* 450-451:278-289.

- Winkler, G., Heinz, F.X., Kunz, C. 1987. Studies on the glycosylation of flavivirus E proteins and the role of carbohydrate in antigenic structure. *Virology* 159(2):237-243.
- Winkler, G., Maxwell, S.E., Ruemmler, C., Stollar, V. 1989. Newly synthesized dengue-2 virus nonstructural protein NS1 is a soluble protein but becomes partially hydrophobic and membrane-associated after dimerization. *Virology* **171**(1):302-305.
- Winkler, G., Randolph, V.B., Cleaves, G.R., Ryan, T.E., Stollar, V. 1988. Evidence that the mature form of the flavivirus nonstructural protein NS1 is a dimer. *Virology* 162(1):187-196.
- Wong, S.J., Boyle, R.H., Demarest, V.L., Woodmansee, A.N., Kramer, L.D., Li, H., Drebot, M., Koski, R.A., Fikrig, E., Martin, D.A., Shi, P.Y. 2003. Immunoassay targeting nonstructural protein 5 to differentiate West Nile virus infection from dengue and St. Louis encephalitis virus infections and from flavivirus vaccination. *J Clin Microbiol* **41**(9):4217-4223.
- Xiao, S.Y., Guzman, H., Zhang, H., Travassos da Rosa, A.P., Tesh, R.B. 2001. West Nile virus infection in the golden hamster (Mesocricetus auratus): a model for West Nile encephalitis. *Emerg Infect Dis* 7(4):714-721.
- Yamshchikov, G., Borisevich, V., Seregin, A., Chaporgina, E., Mishina, M., Mishin, V., Kwok, C.W., Yamshchikov, V. 2004. An attenuated West Nile prototype virus is highly immunogenic and protects against the deadly NY99 strain: a candidate for live WN vaccine development. *Virology* 330(1):304-312.
- Yamshchikov, V.F., Compans, R.W. 1994. Processing of the intracellular form of the west Nile virus capsid protein by the viral NS2B-NS3 protease: an in vitro study. *J Virol* 68(9):5765-5771.
- Yoneyama, M., Fujita, T. 2008. Structural mechanism of RNA recognition by the RIG-Ilike receptors. *Immunity* 29(2):178-181.
- Yoneyama, M., Kikuchi, M., Matsumoto, K., Imaizumi, T., Miyagishi, M., Taira, K., Foy, E., Loo, Y.M., Gale, M. Jr., Akira, S., Yonehara, S., Kato, A., Fujita, T. 2005. Shared and unique functions of the DExD/H-box helicases RIG-I, MDA5, and LGP2 in antiviral innate immunity. *J Immunol* 175(5):2851-2858.
- Youn, S., Cho, H., Fremont, D.H., Diamond, M.S. 2010. A short N-terminal peptide motif on flavivirus nonstructural protein NS1 modulates cellular targeting and immune recognition. J Virol 84(18):9516-9532.
- Yu, I.M., Holdaway, H.A., Chipman, P.R., Kuhn, R.J., Rossmann, M.G., Chen, J. 2009. Association of the pr peptides with dengue virus at acidic pH blocks membrane fusion. J Virol 83(23):12101-12107.
- Yu, I.M., Zhang, W., Holdaway, H.A., Li, L., Kostyuchenko, V.A., Chipman, P.R., Kuhn, R.J., Rossmann, M.G., Chen, J. 2008a. Structure of the immature dengue virus at low pH primes proteolytic maturation. *Science* **319**(5871):1834-1837.

- Yu, L., Robert Putnak, J., Pletnev, A.G., Markoff, L. 2008b. Attenuated West Nile viruses bearing 3'SL and envelope gene substitution mutations. *Vaccine* 26(47):5981-5988.
- Zhang, M., Daniel, S., Huang, Y., Chancey, C., Huang, Q., Lei, Y.F., Grinev, A., Mostowski, H., Rios, M., Dayton, A. 2010. Anti-West Nile virus activity of in vitro expanded human primary natural killer cells. *BMC Immunol* 11:3.
- Zhang, W., Chipman, P.R., Corver, J., Johnson, P.R., Zhang, Y., Mukhopadhyay, S., Baker, T.S., Strauss, J.H., Rossmann, M.G., Kuhn, R.J. 2003a. Visualization of membrane protein domains by cryo-electron microscopy of dengue virus. *Nat Struct Biol* 10(11):907-912.
- Zhang, Y., Corver, J., Chipman, P.R., Zhang, W., Pletnev, S.V., Sedlak, D., Baker, T.S., Strauss, J.H., Kuhn, R.J., Rossmann, M.G. 2003b. Structures of immature flavivirus particles. *EMBO J* 22(11):2604-2613.
- Zhang, Y., Zhang, W., Ogata, S., Clements, D., Strauss, J.H., Baker, T.S., Kuhn, R.J., Rossmann, M.G. 2004. Conformational changes of the flavivirus E glycoprotein. *Structure* 12(9):1607-1618.
- Zheng, A., Umashankar, M., Kielian, M. 2010. In vitro and in vivo studies identify important features of dengue virus pr-E protein interactions. *PLoS Pathog* 6(10):e1001157.
- Zhou, A., Paranjape, J., Brown, T.L., Nie, H., Naik, S., Dong, B., Chang, A., Trapp, B., Fairchild, R., Colmenares, C., Silverman, R.H. 1997. Interferon action and apoptosis are defective in mice devoid of 2',5'-oligoadenylate-dependent RNase L. *EMBO J* 16(21):6355-6363.
- Zhou, Z., Wang, N., Woodson, S.E., Dong, Q., Wang, J., Liang, Y., Rijnbrand, R., Wei, L., Nichols, J.E., Guo, J.T., Holbrook, M.R., Lemon, S.M., Li, K. 2011. Antiviral activities of ISG20 in positive-strand RNA virus infections. *Virology* 409(2):175-188.
- Zhu, B., Ye, J., Lu, P., Jiang, R., Yang, X., Fu, Z.F., Chen, H., Cao, S. 2012. Induction of antigen-specific immune responses in mice by recombinant baculovirus expressing premembrane and envelope proteins of West Nile virus. *Virol J* 9:132.
- Ziegler, K., Unanue, E.R. 1981. Identification of a macrophage antigen-processing event required for I-region-restricted antigen presentation to T lymphocytes. *J Immunol* 127(5):1869-1875.
- Zohrabian, A., Hayes, E.B., Petersen, L.R. 2006. Cost-effectiveness of West Nile virus vaccination. *Emerg Infect Dis* **12**(3):375-380.

Evandro R. Winkelmann was born in Panambi, RS, Brazil in 1978. He is the third-born child of Lili and Hugo Winkelmann. Evandro received his Doctor of Veterinary Medicine (DVM) degree from the Federal University of Santa Maria (UFSM), Brazil in 2003. Shortly after his graduation he started the Master of Science program at UFSM and graduated in 2006 with major in Preventive Medicine (emphasis in virology). During his Master's, he received a brazilian scholarship for a US exchange program where he stayed one year at the University of Georgia (UGA) in Athens, GA as a vititing scientist working in projects related to influenza virus. In 2007, he came to UTMB as a postdoctoral fellow at Dr. Peter Mason's lab. Evandro's research focused on the development and characterization of single-cycle vaccines (RepliVAX) for several flaviviruses, including West Nile virus, Dengue virus and Japanese encephalitis virus. In January 2010, he began graduate training at UTMB and joined Dr. Gregg Milligan's lab. His dissertation research concentrated in understanding several aspects of flavivirus replication and immune responses elicited by single-cycle flavivirus immunization.

EDUCATION

Doctor of Veterinary Medicine (1998-2003). Federal University of Santa Maria (UFSM), Brazil.

Master of Science (2004-2006). Federal University of Santa Maria (UFSM), Brazil.

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE

Postdoctoral training (2007-2009). University of Texas Medical Branch (UTMB), Galveston TX.

TEACHING EXPERIENCE

Teaching Skills and Course Development I (PATH 6101): UTMB Spring term, 2012.Teaching Skills and Course Development II (PATH 6102): UTMB Summer term, 2012.Teaching Skills Workshop: Why Should Teachers Bother Writing Instructional Objectives? Presented by: Vicki Freeman, May 14, 2012.

Teaching Skills Workshop: Writing Multiple Choice Test Questions. Presented by: Judith F. Aronson, June 19, 2012.

MEMBERSHIP IN SCIENTIFIC SOCIETIES/PROFESSIONAL ORGANIZATIONS

American Society for Virology: 2009-2014. The American Association of Immunologists: 2010, 2013. The American Association for the Advancement of Science: 2013-2014

HONORS/AWARDS

2010/2011: Sealy Center for Vaccine Development Predoctoral Fellowship.

- 2011: Robert Shope, Ph.D. Endowed Scholarship Award.
- 2012: American Society for Virology Travel Award.
- 2012: James W. McLaughlin Predoctoral Fellowship.
- 2012: Edward Reynolds, M.D. Experimental Pathology Graduate Scholarship Award.

2012: Margaret Saunders Travel Award.

- 2013: James W. McLaughlin Travel Award.
- 2013: Zhou Sisters Great Expectations Scholarship Award.

PUBLICATIONS

A. ARTICLES IN <u>PEER-REVIEWED</u> JOURNALS:

1. **Winkelmann, ER**, Widman, DG, Xia, J, Johnson, AJ, van Rooijen, N, Mason, PW, Bourne, N, Milligan, GN. (2014). Subcapsular sinus macrophages limit dissemination of West Nile virus particles after inoculation but are not essential for the development of West Nile virus-specific T cell responses. Virology, 450-451:278-289.

2. Xia, J, **Winkelmann, ER**, Gorder, SR, Mason, PW, Milligan, GN. (2013). TLR3and MyD88-dependent signaling differently influence the development of West Nile virus-specific B cell responses in mice following immunization with single-cycle flavivirus (SCFV) RepliVAX WN. Journal of Virology, 87(22):12090-12101.

3. **Winkelmann, ER**, Widman, DG, Ishikawa, T, Xia, J, Miller-Kittrell, M, Nelson, MH, Bourne, N, Scholle, F, Mason, PW, Milligan, GN. (2012). Intrinsic adjuvanting of a novel single-cycle flavivirus vaccine in the absence of Type I Interferon receptor signaling. Vaccine, 30:1465-1475.

4. **Winkelmann, ER**, Widman, DG, Suzuki, R. Mason, PW. (2011). Analyses of mutations selected by passaging a chimeric flavivirus identify mutations that alter infectivity and reveal an interaction between the structural proteins and the nonstructural glycoprotein NS1. Virology, 421:96-104.

5. Ishikawa, T, Wang, G, Widman, DG, Infante Jr, E, **Winkelmann, ER**, Bourne, N, Mason, PW. (2011). Enhancing the utility of a prM/E-expressing chimeric vaccine for Japanese encephalitis by addition of the JEV NS1 gene. Vaccine, 29(43):7444-7455.

6. Nelson, MH, **Winkelmann, ER**, Ma, Y, Xia, J, Mason, PW, Bourne, N, Milligan, GN. (2010). Immunogenicity of RepliVAX WN, a novel single-cycle West Nile virus vaccine. Vaccine, 29(2):174-182.

7. Widman, DG, Ishikawa, T, **Winkelmann, ER**, Infante, E, Bourne, N, Mason, PW. (2009). RepliVAX WN, a single-cycle flavivirus vaccine to prevent West Nile disease, elicits durable protective immunity in hamsters. Vaccine, 27(41):5550-5553.

8. Suzuki, R, **Winkelmann, ER**, Mason, PW. (2009). Construction and characterization of a single-cycle chimeric flavivirus vaccine candidate that protects mice against lethal challenge with dengue virus type 2. Journal of Virology, 83(4):1870-1880.

9. **Winkelmann, ER**, Silva, LF, Mayer, SV, Mazzutti, KC, Flores, EF, Weiblen, R. (2007). Production and characterization of monoclonal antibodies against a bovine herpesvirus type 1 strain defective in the gene coding for the glycoprotein C. Ciência Rural, 37(4):1066-1072.

10. Mayer, SV, Quadros, VQ, Vogel, FSF, **Winkelmann, ER**, Arenhart, S, Flores, EF, Weiblen, R. (2006). Dexamethasone-induced reactivation of bovine herpesvirus type 5 latent infection in experimentally infected rabbits results in a wider distribution of latent viral DNA in the brain. Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Research. 39:335-343.

11. Spilki, FR, Silva, AD, Batista, HBCH, Oliveira, AP, **Winkelmann, ER,** Franco, AC, Porciuncula, JA, Roehe, PM. (2005). Field evaluation of safety during gestation and horizontal spread of a recombinant differential bovine herpesvirus 1 (BoHV-1) vaccine. Pesquisa Veterinária Brasileira, 25(1):54-58.

12. Vogel, FSF, Flores, EF, Weiblen, R, **Winkelmann, ER**, Moraes, MP, Braganca, JFM. (2004). Intraprepucial infection of young bulls with bovine herpesvirus type 1.2 (BHV-1.2): acute balanopostithis, latent infection and detection of viral DNA in regional neural and non-neural tissues 50 days after experimental reactivation. Veterinary Microbiology, 98:185-196.

13. Vogel, FSF, Lima, M, Flores, EF, Weiblen, R, **Winkelmann, ER**, Mayer, SV, Mazzutti, KC, Arenhart, S. (2004). Viral replication and shedding during acute infection and after dexamethasone induced reactivation of latency in calves inoculated with bovine herpesvirus type 1 (BHV-1) and 5 (BHV-5). Ciência Rural, 34(5):1619-1621.

14. Vogel, FSF, Caron, L, Flores, EF, Weiblen, R, **Winkelmann, ER**, Mayer, SV, Bastos, RG. (2003). Distribution of bovine herpesvirus type 5 (BHV-5) DNA in the central nervous system of latently, experimentally infected calves. Journal of Clinical Microbiology, 41(10):4512-4520.

15. Brum, MCS, Weiblen, R, Flores, EF, Pituco, EM, Tobias, FL, **Winkelmann, ER**. (2002). Fetal protection against challenge with bovine viral diarrhea virus (BVDV) in pregnant ewes immunized with two strains experimentally attenuated. Pesquisa Veterinária Brasileira, 22(2):64-72.

B. OTHER:

Thesis/Dissertation

1. **WINKELMANN, E.R.** (2006). Production and characterization of monoclonal antibodies to a bovine herpesvirus type 1 strain defective in the gene coding for the glycoprotein C. Master's Dissertation, Federal University of Santa Maria (UFSM), Santa Maria, RS – Brazil . Mentor: Rudi Weiblen, DVM, PhD. 43p.

C. ABSTRACTS:

1. **WINKELMANN, E.R**.; XIA, J.; WIDMAN, D.G.; GORDER, S.R.; MASON, P.W.; VAN ROOIJEN, N.; BOURNE, N.; MILLIGAN, G.N. The interplay of macrophages and dendritic cells with WNV-specific T cells during single-cycle flavivirus immunization. In: American Association of Immunologists, 100th Annual Meeting. Honolulu, HI, May 3-7, 2013.

2. XIA, J.; **WINKELMANN, E.R.**; GORDER, S.R.; MILLIGAN, G.N. Understanding the role of TLR3- and MyD88-dependent signaling in the development of B cell responses to RepliVAX WN, a live attenuated single cycle flavivirus. In: American Association of Immunologists, 100th Annual Meeting. Honolulu, HI, May 3-7, 2013.

3. XIA, J.; **WINKELMANN, E.R**.; GORDER, S.R.; MILLIGAN, G.N. TLR3- and MyD88-dependent signaling are required for West Nile virus vaccine candidate (RepliVAX WN) to optimize humoral responses. In: 2013 IHII/McLaughlin Colloquium. UTMB, April 12, 2013.

4. **WINKELMANN, E.R.**; XIA, J.; WIDMAN, D.G.; GORDER, S.R.; MASON, P.W.; VAN ROOIJEN, N.; BOURNE, N.; MILLIGAN, G.N. The interplay of macrophages and dendritic cells with WNV-specific T cells during single-cycle flavivirus immunization. In: 2013 IHII/McLaughlin Colloquium. UTMB, April 12, 2013.

5. **WINKELMANN, E.R.**; WIDMAN, D.G.; VAN ROOIJEN, N.; BOURNE, N.; MASON, P.W.; MILLIGAN, G.N. Role of macrophages on the development of WNV-specific T cell response. In: American Society for Virology, 31st Annual Meeting. July 21-25, 2012. Abstracts... Madison, WI: University of Wisconsin-Madison, 2012.

6. XIA, J.; **WINKELMANN, E.R**.; GORDER, S.R.; MA, Y.; MILLIGAN, G.N. The role of PPR signaling in the development of antiviral adaptive responses. In: National Foundation for Infectious Diseases, 17th Annual Conference on Vaccine Research. May 7-9, 2012. Abstracts... Baltimore, MD, 2012.

7. **WINKELMANN, E.R.**; WIDMAN, D.G.; VAN ROOIJEN, N.; BOURNE, N.; MASON, P.W.; MILLIGAN, G.N. Role of macrophages in the development of WNV-specific T cell response. In: Department of Pathology, 18th Annual Research Day. Galveston, TX, May 08, 2012.

8. **WINKELMANN, E.R.**; WIDMAN, D.G.; VAN ROOIJEN, N.; BOURNE, N.; MASON, P.W.; MILLIGAN, G.N. Role of macrophages in the development of WNV-specific T cell response. In: 2012 IHII/McLaughlin Colloquium. UTMB, April 13, 2012.

9. XIA, J.; **WINKELMANN, E.R**.; GORDER, S.R.; MA, Y.; MILLIGAN, G.N. Deficiency of TLR3 and MyD88-dependent signaling impairs T and B cell responses to a live attenuated single cycle vaccine. In: 2012 IHII/McLaughlin Colloquium. UTMB, April 13, 2012.

10. **WINKELMANN, E.R**.; WIDMAN, D.G.; XIA, J.; ISHIKAWA, T.; MILLER-KITTRELL, M,; NELSON, M.H.; BOURNE, N.; SCHOLLE, F.; MASON, P.W.; MILLIGAN, G.N. Intrinsic adjuvanting of a novel single-cycle flavivirus vaccine candidate in the absense of type I interferon receptor signaling. In: The Challenging Landscape of Vaccine Development, 2012. Galveston, TX. February 7-9, 2012.

11. XIA, J.; **WINKELMANN, E.R.**; GORDER, S.R.; MA, Y.; MILLIGAN, G.N. Deficiency of TLR3 and MyD88-dependent signaling impairs T and B cell responses to a live attenuated single cycle vaccine. In: The Challenging Landscape of Vaccine Development, 2012. Galveston, TX. February 7-9, 2012.

12. **WINKELMANN, E.R.**; WIDMAN, D.G.; SUZUKI, R.: BOURNE, N.; MASON, PW.; MILLIGAN, GN. Mutations selected by passaging of a chimeric flavivirus vaccine candidate alter infectivity and reveal interactions between the structural proteins and nonstructural glycoprotein NS1. In: Department of Pathology, 17th Annual Research Day. Galveston, TX, April 26, 2011.

13. **WINKELMANN, E.R.**; WIDMAN, D.G.; SUZUKI, R.: BOURNE, N.; MASON, PW.; MILLIGAN, GN. Mutations selected by passaging of a chimeric flavivirus vaccine candidate alter infectivity and reveal interactions between the structural proteins and nonstructural glycoprotein NS1. In: IHII/McLaughlin Colloquium. UTMB. Galveston, TX, March 25, 2011.

14. **WINKELMANN, E.R**.; XU, F.; NELSON, MH.; BOURNE, N.; MASON, PW.; MILLIGAN, GN. Epitope-specificity and effector function analysis of T and B cell responses elicited by a novel single-cycle vaccine candidate. In: 14th International Congress of Immunology. Kobe, Japan, August 22-27, 2010.

15. **WINKELMANN, E.R.**; XU, F.; NELSON, MH.; BOURNE, N.; MASON, PW.; MILLIGAN, GN. Epitope-specificity and effector function analysis of T and B cell responses elicited by a novel single-cycle vaccine candidate. In: American Association of Immunologists, 97th Annual Meeting. Baltimore, MD, May 7-11, 2010. The Journal of Immunology (Meeting Abstract Supplement), v.184, p.52.8.

16. **WINKELMANN, E.R**.; XU, F.; NELSON, MH.; BOURNE, N.; MASON, PW.; MILLIGAN, GN. Epitope-specificity and effector function analysis of T and B cell

responses elicited by a novel single-cycle vaccine candidate. In: Department of Pathology, 16th Annual Research Day. Galveston, TX, May 4, 2010.

17. **WINKELMANN, E.R.**; SUZUKI, R.: CALDERON, V.E.; MASON, PW. Selection of single-cycle dengue varus vaccines identifies nonstructural proteins involved in genome packaging. In: American Society for Virology, 28th Annual Meeting. July 11-15, 2009. Abstracts... Vancouver, BC, Canada: University of British Columbia, 2009. p.126.

18. WIDMAN, D.G.; ISHIKAWA, I.; **WINKELMANN, E.R**.; MILLIGAN, G.N.; BOURNE, N.; MASON, P.W. Eximining the role of interferon systems play in the behavior of infected cells and the development of antibody responses following vaccination with single-cycle flavivirus vaccines. In: The Chalinging Landscape of Vaccine Development, 2009. Galveston, TX. November 10-12, 2009.

19. **WINKELMANN, E.R**.; WIDMAN, D.G.; MILLIGAN, G.N.; BOURNE, N.; MASON, P.W. Using in vivo imaging of single-cycle flavivirus infections to monitor vaccine virus targeting and evaluate the mechanisms by which adaptive immune responses control infections. In: The Chalinging Landscape of Vaccine Development, 2009. Galveston, TX. November 10-12, 2009.

20. XU, F.; **WINKELMANN, E.R**.; NELSON, MH.; BOURNE, N.; MASON, PW.; MILLIGAN, GN. Epitope-specificity and effector function analysis of T and B cell responses elicited by a novel single-cycle vaccine candidate. In: The Chalinging Landscape of Vaccine Development, 2009. Galveston, TX. November 10-12, 2009.

21. **WINKELMANN, E.R.**; SUZUKI, R.: MASON, PW. Production and characterization of single-cycle RepliVAX vaccines to prevent dengue. In: American Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene, 57th Annual Meeting. December 7-11, 2008. New Orleans, LA. Abstracts... The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene, v.79(n.6):p.33, 2008.

22. GARCÍA, M.; **WINKELMANN, E.R.**; JACKWOOD, M.; DAS, A.; SUAREZ, D. Specificity of avian influenza (AI) North America lineage neuraminidase-2 (N2) based ELISA and its application for differentiating vaccinated from infected animals (DIVA). In: International Poultry Scientific Forum. Atlanta/GA – USA. Abstracts... Tucker/GA: U.S. Poultry & Egg Association, 2006. p.33.

23. MAYER, S.V.; QUADROS, V.L.; LIMA, M.; **WINKELMANN, E.R.**; ARENHART, S.; VOGEL, F.S.F.; FLORES, E.F.; WEIBLEN, R. Latent infection by bovine herpesvirus type 1 (BHV-1) and 5 (BHV-5) in rabbits: spontaneous and dexamethasone-induced reactivation and distribution of viral DNA in the central nervous system. In: XV NATIONAL MEETING OF VIROLOGY, 2004. São Pedro, SP. VIRUS: Reviews & Research. Rio de Janeiro: Imprinta Express Ltda., 2004. v.9. n.1. p.75.

24. SPILKI, F.R.; SILVA, A.D.; BATISTA, H.B.C.R.; OLIVEIRA, A.P.;

WINKELMANN, E.R.; FRANCO, A.C.; ROEHE, P.M. Safety, immunogenicity and horizontal spread of a gE-negative BHV-1.2a differential vaccine. In: XV NATIONAL MEETING OF VIROLOGY, 2004. São Pedro, SP. VIRUS: Reviews & Research. Rio de Janeiro: Imprinta Express Ltda., 2004. v.9. n.1. p.70.

25. SILVA, A.D.; FRANCO, A.C.; SPILKI, F.R.; ESTEVES, P.A.; **WINKELMANN, E.R.**; BATISTA, H.B.C.R.; HÜBNER, S.O.; BRONZATTO, M.; ROEHE, P.M. Pathogenicity analysis of a recombinant bovine herpesvirus type 5 (BoHV-5) strain defective in the genes coding for gE, gI and US9 in rabbits. In: VII Encontro Gaúcho de Imunologia, 2003. Porto Alegre, RS. Proceedings... Porto Alegre: PUC, 2003, p.7.

26. SILVA, A.D.; SPILKI, F.R.; FRANCO, A.C.; LIMA, M.; **WINKELMANN, E.R.**; BATISTA, H.B.C.R.; ESTEVES, P.A.; DRIEMEIER, D.; WEIBLEN, R.; FLORES, E.F.; ROEHE, P.M. Previous infection with bovine herpesvirus type 5 (BoHV-5) or vaccination with bovine herpesvirus type 1 (BoHV-1) do not protect rabbits against challenge with BoHV-5. In: VII Encontro Gaúcho de Imunologia, 2003. Porto Alegre, RS. Proceedings... Porto Alegre: PUC, 2003, p.7.

27. HÜBNER, S.O.; FRANCO, A.C.; OLIVEIRA, A.P.; RODRIGUES, N.C.; **WINKELMANN, E.R.**; SILVA, A.D.; ESTEVES, P.A.; SPILKI, F.R.; ROEHE, P.M. Neuropathogenesis of a recombinant Bovine Herpesvirus 5 (BHV-5) with a triple gene deletion (gI-, gE-, US9-). 14th NACIONAL MEETING OF VIROLOGY, 2003. Florianópolis, SC. VIRUS: Reviews & Research. Florianópolis: Lagoa Editora Ltda, 2003. v.8(n.1) p.139.

28. MAZZUTTI, K.C.; FLORES, E. F.; WEIBLEN, R.; VOGEL, F.S.F.; LIMA, M.; **WINKELMANN, E.R.** Viral replication and shedding during acute infection and after dexamethasone induced reactivation of latency in calves inoculated with Bovine Herpesvirus type-1 (BHV-1) and 5 (BHV-5). In: XVIII JORNADA ACADÊMICA INTEGRADA, 2003. Santa Maria, RS. Proceedings... Santa Maria: Pró-Reitoria de Pós-Graduação e Pesquisa, 2003. CD-Rom.

29. SILVA, A.D.; SPILKI, F.R.; FRANCO, A.C.; ESTEVES, P.A.; LIMA, M.; **WINKELMANN, E.R.**; BATISTA, H.B.C.R.; DRIEMEIER, D.; WEIBLEN, R.; FLORES, E. F.; ROEHE, P.M. Vaccination with Bovine Herpesvirus 1 (BHV-1) vaccine or previous infection with Bovine Herpesvirus 5 (BHV-5) do not protect rabbits against challenge with bhv-5. In: 14th NACIONAL MEETING OF VIROLOGY, 2003. Florianópolis, SC. VIRUS: Reviews & Research. Florianópolis: Lagoa Editora Ltda, 2003. v.8. n.1. p.137.

30. SILVA, A.D.; FRANCO, A.C.; SPILKI, F.R.; ESTEVES, P.A.; **WINKELMANN, E.R.**; BATISTA, H.B.C.R.; HÜBNER, S.O.; BRONZATTO, M.; ROEHE, P.M. Neurovirulence of a recombinant gI, gE, US9-negative, Bovine Herpesvirus 5 (BHV-5). In: 14th NACIONAL MEETING OF VIROLOGY, 2003. Florianópolis, SC. VIRUS: Reviews & Research. Florianópolis: Lagoa Editora Ltda,

2003. v.8. n.1. p.137.

31. SPILKI, F.R.; SILVA, A.D.; BATISTA, H.B.C.R.; **WINKELMANN, E.R.**; FRANCO, A.C.; ROEHE, P.M. Safety and immunogenicity of a gE-deleted BHV-1 differencial vaccine for pregnant cows. In: 14th NACIONAL MEETING OF VIROLOGY, 2003. Florianópolis, SC. VIRUS: Reviews & Research. Florianópolis: Lagoa Editora Ltda, 2003. v.8. n.1. p.136.

32. VOGEL, F.S.F.; FLORES, E.F.; WEIBLEN, R.; **WINKELMANN, E.R.**; MAYER, S.V.; BASTOS, R.G. Distribution of Bovine Herpesvirus type 5 (BHV-5) DNA in the central nervous system of latently, experimentally infected calves. In: American Society for Virology, 22nd Annual Meeting. Scientific Program and Abstracts. Davis, California: AMERICAN SOCIETY FOR VIROLOGY - University of California, 2003. p.206.

33. VOGEL, F.S.F.; FLORES, E.F.; WEIBLEN, R.; **WINKELMANN, E.R.**; MORAES, M.P.; BRAGANÇA, J.F.M. Intrapreputial infection of young bulls with Bovine Herpesvirus type 1.2 (BHV-1.2): latency and detection of latent viral DNA in neural and non-neural tissues. In: 14th NACIONAL MEETING OF VIROLOGY, 2003. Florianópolis, SC. VIRUS: Reviews & Research. Florianópolis: Lagoa Editora Ltda, 2003. v.8. n.1. p.127.

34. VOGEL, F.S.F.; LIMA, M.; FLORES, E. F.; WEIBLEN, R.; **WINKELMANN**, **E.R**.; MAYER, S.V.; MAZZUTTI, K.C.; ARENHART, S. Viral replication and shedding during acute infection and after dexamethasone induced reactivation of latency in calves inoculated with Bovine Herpesvirus type-1 (BHV-1) and 5 (BHV-5). In: 14th NACIONAL MEETING OF VIROLOGY, 2003. Florianópolis, SC. VIRUS: Reviews & Research. Florianópolis: Lagoa Editora Ltda, 2003. v.8. n.1. p.127-128.

35. LIMA, M.; BRUM, M.C.S.; **WINKELMANN, E.R**.; FAGUNDES, D.G.; ARENHART, S.; FLORES, E.F.; WEIBLEN, R. In vitro and in vivo characterization of two modified-live Bovine Viral Diarrhea Virus (BVDV) canditate vaccine strains. In: XIII NATIONAL MEETING OF VIROLOGY, 2002. Águas de Lindóia, SP. VIRUS: Reviews & Research. São Paulo: Departamento de Virologia - Instituto Osvaldo Cruz/FIOCRUZ Imprinta Express Ltda., 2002. v.7. n.1. p.144.

36. VOGEL, F.S.F.; OLDONI, I.; FLORES, E.F.; WEIBLEN, R.; MAYER, S.V.; **WINKELMANN, E.R**. Investigation of neural and non-neural sites of latency by Bovine Herpesvirus type-5 in experimentally infected calves. In: XIII NATIONAL MEETING OF VIROLOGY, 2002. Águas de Lindóia, SP. VIRUS: Reviews & Research. São Paulo: Departamento de Virologia - Instituto Osvaldo Cruz/FIOCRUZ Imprinta Express Ltda., 2002. v.7. n.1. p.63-64.

37. **WINKELMANN, E.R**.; FLORES, E.F.; VOGEL, F.S.F.; WEIBLEN, R.; LIMA, M.; MAYER, S.V. Balanopostithis in young bulls inoculated with a brazilian isolated of Bovine herpesvirus type 1.2 (BHV-1.2). In: XVII JORNADA ACADÊMICA

INTEGRADA, 2002. Santa Maria, RS. Proceedings... Santa Maria: Pró-Reitoria de Pós-Graduação e Pesquisa, 2002. CD-Rom.

38. **WINKELMANN, E.R.**, FLORES, E.F., BRUM, M.C.S., SCHERER, C.F.C., WEIBLEN, R., LANGOHR, I.M. Gastroenteric and respiratory disease in calves inoculated with brazilian isolates of Bovine Viral Diarrhea virus type 2 (BVDV-2). In: XVI JORNADA ACADÊMICA INTEGRADA, 2002. Santa Maria, RS. Proceedings... Santa Maria: Pró-Reitoria de Pós-Graduação e Pesquisa, 2002. CD-Rom.

39. BRUM, M.C.S., DALLANORA, D., CARON, L., BARROS, C.S.L., LANGOHR, I.M., WEIBLEN, R., FLORES, E.F., **WINKELMANN, E.R.** Scrotum fibropappiloma in swine. In: X Congresso Brasileiro de Veterinários Especialistas em Suínos, 2001. Porto Alegre, RS. Proceedings... Canoas: La Salle, 2001. v.2, p. 337-338.

40. BRUM, M.C.S., SCHERER, C.F.C., FLORES, E.F., WEIBLEN, R., BARROS, C.S.L., LANGOHR, I.M., **WINKELMANN, E.R**. Gastroenteric and respiratory disease in calves inoculated with brazilian isolates of Bovine Viral Diarrhea virus type 2 (BVDV-2). In: 12 th Mercusul Meeting of Virology and 4th Mercosul Meeting of Virology, 2001. Caldas Novas, GO, Brazil. Virus: Reviews & Research. São Paulo: C.C.R. Empresa Jornalística Ltda, 2001. v.6, n.2, p.144-145.

41. BRUM, M.C.S.; FLORES, E. F.; WEIBLEN, R.; **WINKELMANN, E.R.**; MAYER, S.V. Immunization of ewes with two attenuated vaccine candidate Bovine Viral Diarrhea virus strains (BVDV-1 and BVDV-2) conferred fetal protection upon challenge. In: XII NATIONAL MEETING OF VIROLOGY AND 4th MERCOSUL MEETING OF VIROLOGY, 2001. Rio Quente, GO. VIRUS: Reviews & Research. São Paulo: C.C.R. Empresa Jornalística Ltda (classifix@bn.com.br), 2001. v.6. n.2. p.145.

42. CARON, L.; FLORES, E. F.; WEIBLEN, R.; QUADROS, V.L.; IRIGOYEN, L.F.; ROEHE, P.M.; MAYER, S.V.; **WINKELMANN, E.R.** Latent infection by Bovine Herpesvirus type-5 (BHV-5) in experimentally infected rabbits: spontaneous and dexamethasone-induced virus reactivation, shedding and recrudescence of neurological disease. In: 11th MEETING OF THE BRAZILIAN SOCIETY FOR VIROLOGY AND 3rd MERCOSUL VIROLOGY MEETING, 2000. São Lourenço, MG. VIRUS: Reviews & Research. São Paulo: C.C.R. Empresa Jornalística Ltda (classifix@bn.com.br), 2000. v.5. n.2. p.119.

43. QUADROS, V.L., WEIBLEN, R., FLORES, E.F., CARON, L., KUNRATH, C.F., **WINKELMANN, E.R.** Latent infection by Bovine Herpesvirus type-5 (BHV-5) in rabbits: virus reactivation, shedding and recrudescence of neurological disease. In: XV JORNADA ACADÊMICA INTEGRADA, 2000. Santa Maria, RS. Proceedings... Santa Maria : Pró-Reitoria de Pós-Graduação e Pesquisa, 2000. CD-Rom.

44. **WINKELMANN, E.R.**, FLORES, E.F., WEIBLEN, R., BRUM, M.C.S. SCHERER, C.F.C., MEDEIROS, M. Clinic-pathological findings in young calves inoculated with two brazilian Bovine Viral Diarrhea virus type 2 (BVDV-2). In: XV

JORNADA ACADÊMICA INTEGRADA, 2000. Santa Maria, RS. Proceedings... Santa Maria: Pró-Reitoria de Pós-Graduação e Pesquisa, 2000. CD-Rom.

Permanent address: Estrada RS-509, Number 7484, Apt.302. Santa Maria, RS – Brazil. CEP: 97110-620

This dissertation was typed by Evandro R. Winkelmann